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Through its data resources and analytical 
capabilities, Experian provides one of the  
building blocks for growth in consumer  
economies around the world.  

Credit management and targeted marketing  
are at the heart of what Experian does.

Its Credit Services and Decision Analytics 
businesses help organisations and  
consumers to fulfil their ambitions through  
access to affordable credit.

Its Marketing Services and Interactive 
businesses help organisations to grow 
successfully by reaching new markets and 
finding and keeping profitable customers. 

Experian’s vision is that its people, data  
and technology become a necessary part  
of every major consumer economy. 

This annual report has been produced using ISO 14001 and FSC certified environmental print 
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Chairman’s statement

These have been extraordinary times 
for the banking and financial services 
industry. Unprecedented losses, huge 
volatility, the dislocation of the inter-
bank lending market and subsequent 
recapitalisation of major banks have 
characterised the events of recent 
months.  

The extent to which the so-called 
credit crunch will impact beyond the 
financial sector remains to be seen, 
but it is clear that this next year will be 
another challenging one, particularly 
for companies with exposure to the 
US and UK markets, where the banks 
will continue to be cautious lenders.   

Within all sectors though, there 
have been companies that have 
performed well and I am pleased that 
Experian is amongst these. Despite 
the highly unusual conditions, 
Experian delivered a solid financial 
performance and continued to make 
strong strategic progress, which is a 
remarkable achievement.  

Experian’s management was quick to 
identify a range of efficiency measures 
and to restructure certain parts of the 
business so that it could better deal 
with the prevailing conditions. This 
will result in significant cost savings, 
as well as delivering operational 
efficiencies that will benefit us in the 
longer term.  

What this year has really shown is the 
strength of Experian’s portfolio and 
the many opportunities we have to 
drive growth.  

We have, for example, continued to 
extend our global reach into new and 
emerging markets. Our investment in 
Serasa, Brazil’s largest credit bureau, 
has provided us with a commanding 
position in one of the fastest growing 
credit markets in the world.  

We have developed new and 
innovative products for credit 
managers and marketers, as well as 
for consumers wanting to protect 
their credit records. And we have 
continued to expand into new market 
sectors, such as government, energy, 
telecommunications and healthcare.  
In the UK alone, we won four 
significant new contracts in the public 
sector.  

We have also made good progress 
in the management of our corporate 
responsibilities and in learning 
how to embed these within our 
everyday business processes.  
Experian was selected for inclusion 
in the FTSE4Good index of socially 
responsible companies and the Dow 
Jones Sustainability World Index.  
Our carbon emissions continued 
to fall, driven by improved energy 
efficiency and the use of renewable 
energy, and we played a leading role in 
initiatives to reduce the incidence of 
identity theft in the US and UK.  

Experian’s performance this 
year is undoubtedly testimony 
to the underlying strength 
of the business 
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Highlights

Revenue from 
continuing activities 
up 14% at constant 
exchange rates to 
US$4.1bn.  Organic 
revenue growth of 4%. 

Total EBIT growth of 
15% at actual exchange 
rates to US$945m. 

Continuing EBIT up 
13% at constant 
exchange rates.

EBIT margin of 21.8% 
from continuing 
activities, excluding 
FARES contribution, in 
line with prior year.

Profit before tax of 
US$549m.

Experian’s performance this year 
is undoubtedly testimony to the 
underlying strength of the business 
and to our continued investment 
in our infrastructure, products and 
people, but it is also the mark of an 
exceptionally committed and
hard-working team. Our people had 
to dig deep this year, in the face of a 
challenging environment and some 
tough decisions, and I thank them for 
all their support.

Looking ahead, we are far from 
complacent about conditions in the 
US and UK financial markets, but the 
actions taken by the management 
team this year give me confidence  
in our ability to continue to steer 
through the current disruption.  
I believe that Experian is in good 
shape, strengthened rather than 
weakened by the events of this year, 
and that we can look to the future  
with confidence.

John Peace
Chairman
20 May 2008
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Experian at a glance

Experian is an information services 
company.

We provide organisations and 
individuals with information and 
analysis to help them make the right 
decisions.

It may be a bank needing to decide 
the most appropriate credit limit for a 
new customer. Or a retailer wanting 
to choose the best location for a new 
store. Or a vehicle manufacturer 
looking for the best potential 
customers for its latest model. Or a 
government department needing to 
verify the identity of new claimants. Or 
a consumer wanting to protect their 
family from identity fraud.  

At the heart of our business lies a vast 
store of information, around which 
we have developed a unique range of 
analytical skills and software tools. It 
enables us to provide extraordinary 
insight into everyday decision making.

From our early focus on financial 
services, we now have clients in almost 
every major industry. We have also 
continued to expand geographically 
and today support clients in over 65 
countries.

Our products and services are 
grouped under four principal 
activities: 

Credit Services
Helping lenders to make timely and 
responsible credit-granting decisions, 
while making it easier and quicker for 
their own customers to obtain finance. 

Decision Analytics
Enabling lenders to assess the 
degree of risk associated with any 
particular course of action and to 
test and fine-tune different  lending 
strategies.

Marketing Services
Helping organisations to reach new 
customers and to expand existing 
relationships, using the most 
appropriate media and message. 

Interactive
Allowing consumers to monitor 
their personal credit files securely 
over the internet and to find the best 
deals on products and services.

Experian’s operational headquarters are in  
Costa Mesa, California (above) and Nottingham, 
United Kingdom (below).

Contribution to Group revenue

Credit Services
Revenue by region

UK and Ireland 15%North America 43%

Latin America 16% EMEA/Asia Pacific 26%

Contribution to Group revenue

Decision Analytics
Revenue by region

UK and Ireland 53%North America 17%

Latin America 2% EMEA/Asia Pacific 28%

4 Experian Annual Report 2008
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Experian operates in 38 countries and sells to clients in over 65 countries

Argentina
Australia
Austria
Belgium
Brazil
Bulgaria
Canada
Chile

China
Czech Republic
Denmark
Estonia
Finland
France
Germany
Greece

Hong Kong
India
Ireland
Italy
Japan
Malaysia
Mexico
Monaco

Netherlands
New Zealand
Norway
Poland
Romania
Russia
Singapore
South Africa

South Korea 
Spain
Sweden
Turkey
United Kingdom
United States

Countries with Experian offices Countries without Experian offices where  
Experian sells to clients

Contribution to Group revenue

Marketing Services
Revenue by region

UK and Ireland 43%North America 46%

Latin America 1% EMEA/Asia Pacific 10%

Contribution to Group revenue

Interactive
Revenue by region

North America 92%

UK and Ireland 8%

Revenue by industry (market profile)1

Financial services

Direct-to-consumer

Retail / home shopping

Telecom / utility 

Media / publishing / advertising

Government / non-profit / education

Automotive

Other

1 Management estimate of percentage of revenue by vertical market

Excludes discontinuing activities and Serasa

Revenue by client (client profile)1

Top 10 clients

Top 50 clients

All other

1 Excluding discontinuing activities, Consumer Direct
and Serasa 

Of the top 50 clients at least 85% have been doing
business with Experian for five years or more

5Experian Annual Report 2008
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Chief Executive’s review

Experian performed well during a challenging year. 
We delivered organic revenue growth across all four 
of our regions and all four of our principal activities, 
there were good profit and cash performances 
and we made excellent strategic progress, which 
positions us strongly for future growth. These 
achievements are all the more significant for having 
been secured against one of the most challenging 
market environments for the financial services 
sector in the US and the UK in recent times. Our 
performance attests to the commitment of our 
people, the strength of our market position, the 
global demand for our products and the balance  
and diversity of our portfolio.

Don Robert 
Chief Executive Officer

Portfolio balance drives growth
Resilience has been due to many 

noteworthy performances, 
including: 

• Decision Analytics, which 
delivered strong growth in 
emerging markets and higher 
penetration of fraud prevention 
products.

• Our business information      
activities, which have benefited 
from our commitment to new 
product innovation. 

Consumer Direct, which continues  l
to be a major success as we build 
on our global market-leading 
position. 

Our new media marketing activities,  l
which now account for nearly 50% of 
North America Marketing Services.

New contract wins from major  l
clients, including Barclays, IBM 
Italia, Homeserve and GE Money.

Strong demand for our  l
countercyclical products, including 
collections solutions and account 
management.



Experian Annual Report 2008 7

Fin
an

cial statem
en

ts
65 – 144

G
o

vern
an

ce
38 – 64

In
tro

d
u

ctio
n

2 – 5
B

u
sin

ess review
C

h
ief E

xecu
tive’s review

Over the past year we have 
made significant progress to 
enable us to continue to drive 
profitable growth 

Managing our business in  
more challenging times
In January, we took action to ensure 
that we had the right cost structure 
in place for the prevailing business 
environment. We announced a 
programme of cost-efficiency 
measures, to deliver annualised 
savings of US$80m. In response to 
continuing challenging conditions, 
we have since identified additional 
opportunities and have raised 
our estimate for annualised cost 
savings to US$110m. We now 
expect in the region of US$50m to 
be realised in the year ending 31 
March 2009, with the full benefit 
thereafter. One-off restructuring 
costs associated with achieving 
these savings are now expected to 
be in the region of US$140m. 

These additional measures include 
further restructuring of core 
credit and marketing activities and 
infrastructure consolidation.

Evolving our strategy
At Experian, we are fortunate to have 
many opportunities to drive growth, 
underpinned by global expansion in 
demand for credit risk management 
and high RoI marketing. We have 
refined our strategic focus and have 
adopted a framework to:

Focus on data and analytics. l

Drive profitable growth. l

Optimise capital efficiency. l

We have incorporated these three 
elements in the recent execution of 
our strategy.

Focus on data and analytics
Our core expertise is ownership 
and operation of comprehensive 
databases around the world and 
enhancing the value of data through 
the application of proprietary 
analytics and software. Our 
businesses are characterised by 
their market-leading positions, 
high barriers to entry, global reach 
and potential for long-term growth, 
as well as their attractive financial 
characteristics.

We review the composition of our 
portfolio against these criteria 
on a regular basis. As previously 
announced, PriceGrabber and 
Experian’s transaction processing 
activities are under strategic review. 
We have also indicated previously 
that our acquisition strategy will 
focus on opportunities that will bring 
access to new data and analytics.

Drive profitable growth
Over the past year we have made 
significant progress to enable us to 
continue to drive profitable growth. 
We aim to achieve this through 
expansion of our global reach, a 
commitment to innovation and by 
driving operational excellence. 
Action in the year included:

The acquisition of a 70% stake in  l
Serasa, which provides access to 
the emerging credit economy in 
Brazil, with significant opportunity 
to introduce value-added products. 

Expansion of our infrastructure in  l
Asia Pacific, which has contributed 
to the success of our Decision 
Analytics activities in the region.

Further progress in new vertical  l
markets, with exciting new 
opportunities emerging in the UK 
public sector, for example.

Investment in new sources of data,  l
such as Visa transaction data, 
and the acquisition of Hitwise, 
which extends our position in new 
marketing channels.

Development of new products  l
in Consumer Direct for fraud 
prevention and identity protection.

Investment in new analytics  l
activities, for example through  
the acquisition of Tallyman,  
which extends our presence in 
collections software.

Investment in low cost development  l
and delivery centres in Chile, India 
and Bulgaria.

In the year ending 31 March 2009, 
we plan to invest through the 
income statement at a rate similar 
to the prior year in new products, 
geographies and our people.
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Optimise capital efficiency
We remain committed to 
maintaining an efficient balance 
sheet, consistent with a strong 
investment grade credit rating.  
We will be flexible where warranted, 
for example, following the debt-
financed acquisition of Serasa 
in June 2007 our credit ratios 
rose above our target levels. We 
considered this acceptable as a 
temporary position following a 
strategically important acquisition. 
Since then, net debt has reduced 
from US$3.0bn to US$2.7bn as a 
result of strong cash conversion. 

We will continue to reinvest to 
retain competitive advantage and to 
make targeted acquisitions that fit 
our strategy and meet our financial 
hurdles. We will review additional 
opportunities for returning surplus 
cash to shareholders, as credit ratios 
return to levels consistent with a 
strong investment grade credit rating.

Dividend 
For the year ended 31 March 2008, 
we have announced a second 
dividend of 12.0 US cents per share 
to give a full year dividend of 18.5 
US cents per share, in line with our 
objective to have cover (based on 
Benchmark EPS) of at least three 
times on an annual basis. The second 
interim dividend will be paid on  
25 July 2008 to shareholders on the 
register at the close of business on 
27 June 2008.

Strengthening our  
management team
Our achievements are directly 
related to the quality and 
commitment of our people, and the 
strength of our senior leadership 
team. We have created two new 
senior leadership roles to ensure 
that we operate our business more 
globally, in every respect, to meet 
the growing needs of our clients. 

  Revenue Profit 
  2008 2007 2008 2007
 12 months to 31 March US$m US$m US$m US$m

 North America1  2,061 1,985 608 573
 Latin America1,2  324 5 75 (4)
 UK and Ireland 965 843 226 212
 EMEA/Asia Pacific 710 574 87 73

 Sub total 4,059 3,407 995 855 
 Central activities – – (57) (47)

 Continuing activities 4,059 3,407 938 808 
 Discontinuing activities3 71 85 7 18

 Total 4,130 3,492 945 825
 
 Net interest   (126) (111)

 Benchmark PBT   819 714

 Exceptional items   (63) (162)
 Amortisation of acquisition intangibles  (121) (76)
 Goodwill expense   (2) (14)
 Charges for demerger-related equity incentive plans (49) (24)
 Financing fair value remeasurements   (29) (35)
 Tax expense of associate   (6) (9)

 Profit before taxation   549 394
 Taxation   (97) (68)

 Profit after taxation for continuing operations  452 326

 Benchmark EPS (US cents)    60.3 59.7 
 Basic EPS for continuing operations (US cents)  43.3 35.1 
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (million) 1,009 927

1   The segmental information presented in respect of the Americas for the year ended 31 March 2007 is now further 
analysed to show North and Latin America as separate segments

2   Profit includes US$11m Serasa integration charge for the year ended 31 March 2008
3   Discontinuing activities include MetaReward, UK account processing and Loyalty Solutions 

Experian is a strong  
business performing well  
in difficult markets 

Chief Executive’s review continued
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Chris Callero, who has successfully 
led and expanded our North 
America and Latin America 
businesses, has been promoted 
to the role of President and Chief 
Operating Officer, Experian Group. 
Victor Nichols, who joined Experian 
a year ago from Wells Fargo, has 
become CEO for the combined 
UK and EMEA region.  Victor also 
retains accountability for Marketing 
Services and Interactive globally. 

Financial performance
Despite the market challenges, 
we delivered a good financial 
performance during the year:

We delivered organic revenue  l
growth of 4%.

We delivered continuing EBIT margin  l
in line with the prior year at 21.8%.

EBIT conversion into operating  l
cash flow was 95%. 

We continued to invest in the 
business through the income 
statement, capital expenditure and 
acquisitions. Capital expenditure 
was US$344m, in line with previous 
guidance. Acquisition expenditure 
was US$1.7bn, including the 70% 
stake in Serasa, Hitwise, Tallyman, 
N4 Solutions and a number of 
smaller infills. Acquisitions in the 
year are currently trading at least 
to plan, and Serasa is on plan for 
revenue and exceeds EBIT buy plan. 

Summary
This has been a challenging year in 
many ways. The major disruption 
that took place in the financial 
services sector was unprecedented, 
impeding our revenue growth 
trajectory, but we delivered good 
profit and cash performances. 
Experian is a strong business 
performing well in difficult markets, 

and while it is still too early to call a 
turn in the US and the UK financial 
services markets, we have taken 
the necessary steps to reduce 
costs and protect margins. We also 
expect strong performances in 
the current year in other Experian 
regions and in key business lines. 
In the meantime, we will keep a tight 
rein on costs, while continuing 
to invest in the long-term growth 
of the business. Experian is a 
business with excellent future 
growth opportunities and we are 
highly confident about our future 
prospects.

Expanding Experian’s data assets with online 
competitive intelligence

In June 2007, Experian acquired Hitwise, a leading online 
competitive intelligence service, operating in the US, 
UK, Australia, New Zealand, Singapore and Hong Kong.  
Hitwise enables over 1,400 clients to benchmark their online 
performance against competitors and, most importantly, to 
uncover new business opportunities by understanding how 
people interact daily with over one million websites across 160 
industries. 

Over the next 18 months, Hitwise will be expanding its global 
footprint into new markets and launching a range of new 
online competitive intelligence tools to continue to help clients 
maximise their online marketing spend.



10 Experian Annual Report 2008

North America

North America performed well despite challenging 
market conditions caused by the major disruption 
of the US mortgage market and subsequent global 
credit liquidity issues. While revenue growth slowed, 
there was excellent margin performance as all 
businesses benefited from proactive cost control 
measures taken over the past 18 months.

Credit Services
Includes consumer credit, business 
information and automotive services

Revenue in Credit Services was 
flat year-on-year, reflecting an 
exceptionally challenging market 
for US financial services clients. In 
consumer information, disruption 
of the mortgage market reduced 
demand for credit reports used in 
loan origination. Credit liquidity and 
capital constraints caused major card 
issuers to reduce spend in areas like 
credit marketing (pre-screen) as the 
year progressed. These factors were 
largely balanced by strong demand for 
countercyclical products in portfolio 
management and collections, which 
saw increased volumes and new 
business wins. Business information 
showed good growth, benefiting from 
investment in a new database platform, 
and reflected in new contract wins for 
business credit reports and portfolio 
scoring services. There was also 
continued strong growth in automotive 
information, driven by market share gains 
in the sale of vehicle history reports.

There was good strategic progress 
during the year, with a focus on new 
product development, enhanced data 
quality and increased sales force 
productivity. The previously announced 
partnership with Visa to create more 
predictive bankruptcy scores is in 
testing and validation with key card 
issuers, while VantageScore continues 
to gain traction. Such activities enable 
Experian to realise opportunities even 
during times of uncertainty, as now, 
as well as positioning the business for 
eventual market recovery. 

Decision Analytics
Includes credit analytics, decision 
support software and fraud solutions

Decision Analytics delivered revenue 
growth of 7%, which represented a 
good performance against a strong 
prior year comparable (2007: 29%). 
There was good growth in software 
products used to support account 
management as institutions seek new 
ways to improve risk assessment, 
as well as good progress in vertical 
markets outside financial services, 
particularly in the telecommunications 
and energy sectors. Fraud prevention 
activities also performed well, due to 
greater traction from new products 
and penetration of new channels. This 
offset softness in software products 
used in origination of new credit, as 
financial services institutions deferred 
some spending decisions. 

•  Revenue from continuing 
activities up 4% at 
constant exchange rates; 
3% organic

•  EBIT from continuing 
activities up 8% excluding 
FARES; up 6% including 
FARES

•  Proactive cost control 
measures resulted 
in strong margin 
performance - EBIT 
margin excluding FARES 
up 110 basis points

•  Resilient performance 
from Credit Services  
and Decision Analytics 
against unprecedented 
market conditions

•  New media approaches 
50% of Marketing Services 
revenue

•  Strong performances  
at Consumer Direct and 
PriceGrabber

2008 Revenue by activity1

Decision Analytics

Credit Services

Marketing Services

Interactive

1 Excludes discontinuing activities



11Experian Annual Report 2008

In
tro

du
ctio

n
2 – 5

G
overn

an
ce

38 – 64
Fin

an
cial statem

en
ts

65 – 144
B

u
sin

ess review
N

o
rth A

m
ericaMarketing Services

Includes data integrity and data 
management, digital services, 
research services, internet marketing 
intelligence and business strategies

Total revenues at Marketing Services 
grew 8%. Organic revenue growth 
was 2%, benefiting from the mix 
shift towards new media activities 
(data integrity and digital services) 
from traditional direct mail and list 
processing activities. At the end 
of the year, new media activities 
accounted for just under 50% of 
revenues, including the contribution 
from Hitwise, acquired earlier in 
the period. There were excellent 
performances in the year from digital 
services (email), which delivered high 
volumes and new client wins, and data 
integrity services (QAS), which further 
increased its market penetration. 
Hitwise also performed strongly, driven 
by significant new business wins and 
improved retention rates. There was 
some moderation in the rate of decline 
at traditional direct mail activities, with 
good momentum on new business wins.

 

Protecting families from identity theft

Identity theft is the fastest growing crime in 
the US, with criminals using stolen personal 
information to assume another person’s 
identity to commit fraud or theft. More than 
one in ten US adults fell victim to this in 2006; 
but children’s personal information is also 
increasingly being targeted, where crimes may 
go undetected for many years.  

Experian’s new Family Secure protects 
families against identity theft through 
constant monitoring of both their Experian 
credit report and the personal information of 
their children, alerting them to any suspicious 
activity. Fraud Resolution Representatives 
provide expert support in resolving any issues 
and a US$2 million Family Secure guarantee 
provides peace of mind that losses resulting 
from identity theft will be reimbursed.      
    

Organic revenue growth

3%

8%

15%

10%

7%

Organic growth is defined as year-on-year revenue growth 
at constant exchange rates, excluding acquisitions except 
affiliates, until the date of their anniversary

2006, 2007 and 2008 exclude MetaReward

08

07

06

05

04

26.9%

25.8%

23.3%

EBIT (US$m) and margin

EBIT excludes discontinuing activities

EBIT margin is for continuing direct business only and 
excludes FARES

21.3%

21.9%

08 608

07 573

06 473

05 356

04 313

EBIT

Total revenue growth

18%

40%

Organic growth Acquired growth

Total growth is defined as year-on-year revenue growth at 
constant exchange rates

2006, 2007 and 2008 exclude MetaReward

15%

9%

4%08

07

06

05

04
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Interactive
Includes Consumer Direct (online credit 
reports, scores and monitoring services 
sold direct to consumers) and lead 
generation businesses (LowerMyBills, 
online education and PriceGrabber)

Revenue at Interactive grew by 5%  
in the year.

Consumer Direct continued to 
build strongly on its market-leading 
position, delivering growth in excess 
of 20%. This was driven by further 
growth in subscription revenue and 
good progress in development of the 
affinity channel, for example from the 
partnership with American Express. 
Experian also continues to invest in 
new products with broad market appeal 
and which focus on new demographic 
opportunities, for example in the 
area of fraud prevention and identity 
protection.

In lead generation, PriceGrabber 
performed well with growth fuelled by 
higher referral revenue, good growth in 
co-brand partnerships and increased 
media revenue. LowerMyBills was 
impacted by the severe downturn in 
sub-prime mortgage lending, which 
led to a significant decline in revenue, 
as previously disclosed. Strategically, 
the emphasis has been on leveraging 
the LowerMyBills platform, integrating 
it with the education vertical and 
diversifying into new verticals such 
as credit card and insurance. The new 
platform is now referred to as Experian 
Interactive Media and positions 
Experian to expand across multiple 
vertical markets quickly and efficiently.  

Financial review
Revenue from continuing activities 
was US$2,061m, up 4%, with organic 
revenue growth of 3%. The acquisition 
of Hitwise contributed 1% to revenue 
growth.

EBIT from direct businesses was 
US$554m (2007: US$512m), an 
increase of 8% in the year, giving an 
EBIT margin of 26.9% (2007: 25.8%). 
Margins improved in all four areas, 
notwithstanding the difficult market 
environment and while funding 
investment in the Canadian credit 
bureau build.

EBIT from FARES, the 20%-owned 
real estate information associate, 
was US$54m (2007: US$61m). This 
reflected continued cost action, 
which helped offset the very weak 
environment for mortgage origination. 

North America continued

     Organic
  2008 2007 Growth growth
 12 months to 31 March US$m US$m % %

 Revenue
 – Credit Services 807 804 – –
 – Decision Analytics 82 77 7 7
 – Marketing Services 380 353 8 2
 – Interactive 791 751 5 5

 Total – continuing activities 2,061 1,985 4 3 
 Discontinuing activities1 - 4 n/a

 Total North America 2,061 1,989 4

 EBIT    
 – Direct business 554 512 8 
 – FARES 54 61 (11)

 Total – continuing activities 608 573 6 
 Discontinuing activities1 – (7) n/a 

 Total North America 608 566 8

 EBIT margin2 26.9% 25.8%

1   Discontinuing activities include MetaReward
2  EBIT margin is for continuing direct business only and excludes FARES

Volume of consumer credit reports 
(indexed)

115

109

101

100

08

07

06

05

04

117

Volume of emails delivered (indexed)

637

359

212

100

08

07

06

05

04

1,12708

07

06

05

04
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Business review
North America

Improving credit decision making 
through a strategic alliance with Visa

Experian formed a ground-breaking, strategic 
alliance with Visa during the year to develop a 
series of new and innovative products that will 
provide financial institutions with enhanced 
intelligence across the credit decision-making 
lifecycle. 

The first product from the alliance is 
BankruptcyPredict, which can better identify 
consumers in financial distress and predict 
bankruptcies up to 24 months in advance.  
BankruptcyPredict combines information from 
Experian’s credit files with transaction data 
from Visa to deliver a bankruptcy risk score.  
By taking a more comprehensive view of a 
consumer’s credit activity, BankruptcyPredict 
and the other products expected to result from 
the alliance will enable financial institutions 
to make more accurate credit management 
decisions.      
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Latin America

Serasa performed strongly in the first nine months 
since acquisition, delivering revenue on plan and 
EBIT ahead of buy plan. Serasa continues to benefit 
from the expansion of the credit market in Brazil and 
will provide a bridgehead for further expansion in 
Latin America.

Credit Services
Includes consumer credit and 
business information

In the year, Credit Services delivered 
revenue of US$305m, relating entirely 
to Serasa. Serasa benefited from 
positive macro-economic trends 
in Brazil and expansion in demand 
for credit, which has fuelled growth 
in loan products such as credit 
cards. Serasa delivered strong 
performances in both consumer 
and business information, driven by 
increased penetration of existing 
clients, as well as new client wins.

There was good progress in the 
year against the Serasa acquisition 
buy plan. The integration was 
successfully completed in March 
and there was progress on transfer 
of best practice in sales execution. 
Experian value-added products 
suitable to the Brazilian market 
have been identified, with launches 
planned in the year ending 31 March 
2009. In addition, there was continued 
investment in new product innovation 
at Serasa, with a strong product 
pipeline for both consumer and 
business information services.

Decision Analytics
Includes credit analytics and decision 
support software

Decision Analytics performed well 
in Latin America from a modest 
base, with revenue growth of 43%, 
reflecting new business wins in the 
telecommunications and financial 
services sectors. 

Marketing Services
Includes marketing data and analytics

Revenue in Marketing Services was 
US$10m in the year, resulting from 
the acquisition of Informarketing. 
The acquisition has performed 
exceptionally well, reflecting strong 
growth and a number of new client 
wins, for example data and data 
enhancement services for several 
major Brazilian banks.

• Revenue of US$324m

• EBIT of US$75m

• EBIT margin of 23.1%

• Acquisition of 70% stake 
in Serasa transforms 
Experian’s presence in 
Latin America

• Serasa revenue on plan, 
EBIT exceeds buy plan

2008 Revenue by activity

Decision Analytics

Credit Services

Marketing Services

Organic revenue growth

38%

Organic growth is defined as year-on-year revenue growth 
at constant exchange rates

08

07

43%

EBIT (US$m) and margin

EBIT excludes discontinuing activities

EBIT margin is for continuing activities only

23.1%

07(4)

08 75

EBIT
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Financial review
Revenue was US$324m for Latin 
America, reflecting the first time 
contributions from Serasa and 
Informarketing. Organic revenue 
growth was 43%, attributable to 
Decision Analytics only.

EBIT in the year was US$75m, 
delivering an EBIT margin of 23.1%. 
EBIT includes a favourable IFRS 
adjustment of US$9m, principally in 
relation to the differential treatment 
of capitalisation of data assets 
by Serasa under Brazilian GAAP. 
Integration charges in relation to the 
Serasa acquisition of US$11m were 
incurred in the period. 

Establishing a major presence for 
Experian in Brazil

In June 2007, Experian acquired a controlling 
interest in Serasa, the largest credit bureau 
in Brazil and the fourth largest in the world.
Serasa plays an active role in almost 
every consumer and commercial credit 
decision in Brazil. Its clients include many 
of Brazil’s leading companies, as well as 
major multinational organisations, and over 
100,000 small businesses and shopkeepers.  

The acquisition of Serasa has consolidated 
Experian’s global leadership in credit 
services, while providing a commanding 
position in one of the world’s fastest 
growing markets for credit. It has also 
created exciting opportunities for Experian 
to introduce Serasa’s clients to a wide range 
of powerful analytical products.  

      Organic
  2008 2007 Growth1  growth1

 12 months to 31 March US$m US$m %  %

 Revenue
 – Credit Services  305 – n/a n/a
 – Decision Analytics 8 5 43 43
 – Marketing Services   10 – n/a n/a

 Total Latin America 324 5 >1002 43

 EBIT 
 – Latin America 86 (4) 
 – Serasa integration charge (11) –   

 Total Latin America 75 (4) 

 EBIT margin 23.1% n/a

1   Growth at constant exchange rates 
2     Latin America total growth at constant exchange rates for the 12 months to 31 March 2008 was 5,232%
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UK and Ireland

UK and Ireland performed well despite a difficult 
market environment for the financial services sector. 
This reflected the balance and diversity of the 
Experian portfolio. There was significant investment 
in new products, both organically and via acquisition, 
and a focus on enhancing operational efficiency. 

Credit Services
Includes consumer credit and 
business information bureaux and 
automotive and insurance services 

Total revenue for Credit Services 
increased by 4% at constant exchange 
rates, with organic revenue growth 
of 1%. Acquisitions contributed 3% 
to revenue growth, primarily The pH 
Group. There was good progress in 
business information over the year, 
which offset weakness in consumer 
information. This weakness was 
attributable to the unprecedented 
market conditions that affected the 
financial services sector and which 
led to lower transaction volumes 
on consumer credit information 
products. Elsewhere, there were 
good performances in new vertical 
markets; in telecommunications 
Experian continues to gain share, and 
there has been significant progress 
in the UK public sector with four 
substantial multi-year contract wins. 
There was also good progress with 
large financial services customers, 
including a significant multi-year 
renewal with HBOS at increased 
contract value.

Strategically, Experian maintains its 
focus on product innovation and a 
strong new product pipeline has been 
built which will support both business 
and consumer information activities, 
including new services in the trade 
credit sector, as well as in account 
management and collections. During 
the year, there was also further focus 
on enhancing operational efficiency 
with new investment in low-cost 
delivery centres.

Decision Analytics
Includes credit analytics, decision 
support software and fraud solutions

Total revenue at Decision Analytics 
increased by 8% at constant 
exchange rates, flat on an organic 
basis. Acquisitions contributed 
the growth, namely Tallyman and 
N4 Solutions. Performance was 
affected by the challenging market 
environment for financial services. 
Lower credit origination volumes 
impacted revenue from application 
processing, while capital expenditure 
cutbacks by lenders gave rise to 
delays in pipeline conversion. These 
factors were counterbalanced by 
good growth in fraud prevention 
software where new client wins were 
secured for Experian’s Hunter and 
Probe solutions. 

During the year, Experian 
acquired the Tallyman collections 
management software business and 
N4 Solutions, a mortgage sector and 
financial services software provider. 
Both acquisitions have performed 
very well, benefiting from their 
integration into Experian. Tallyman 
has generated multiple new business 
wins in the financial services, 
telecommunications and utilities 
sectors, while N4 Solutions secured 
new contracts with Norwich Union 
and Nationwide. There was also 
significant organic investment in new 
products to help lenders with default 
and insolvency consultancy, public 
sector scoring, plus further initiatives 
in fraud solutions.
 

• Revenue from continuing 
activities up 8% at constant 
exchange rates; 3% organic

• EBIT flat year-on-year at 
constant exchange rates

• Portfolio balance offset 
challenging market 
environment for financial 
services sector activities

• Considerable progress in 
new vertical markets

• Significant new product 
investment, both organically 
and via acquisition

• Interactive performed 
strongly, nearly doubling 
revenue year-on-year at 
constant exchange rates
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Includes data integrity and data 
management, database management 
and analytics, digital services, 
internet marketing intelligence and 
business strategies

Total revenue in Marketing Services 
increased by 2% at constant exchange 
rates. Organic revenue declined by 
3%, with acquisitions, primarily Eiger 
Systems and Hitwise, accounting 
for the difference. There was good 
progress in data integrity, digital 
services and business strategies, 
while data and database activities were 
significantly impacted by the weak 
environment for financial services, as 
clients reduced marketing spend and 
capital expenditure. Strategically there 
was good progress for the database 
product Fusion, which secured a 
number of significant wins across 
various market sectors. There was 
also a multi-channel marketing 
services and database contract win 
with Homeserve. During the year, 
there was continued focus on cost 
efficiency in response to the weak 
market conditions.

2008 Revenue by activity1

Decision Analytics

Credit Services

Marketing Services

Interactive

1 Excludes discontinuing activities

Helping companies to undertake highly targeted 
marketing  campaigns

Experian Fusion is the UK’s first pay-as-you-go, 
integrated marketing database tool, enabling 
companies to execute highly targeted marketing 
campaigns to acquire new customers and maximise 
the value of existing customers. The system combines 
the software technology of ClarityBlue, which Experian 
acquired in 2006, with Experian’s extensive information 
assets.  

Experian Fusion has been designed for companies 
wanting to keep in regular contact with consumers 
through multiple communications channels. It also 
provides access to sophisticated analytical tools for 
gaining greater insight into those individuals’ needs 
and aspirations. Major companies that have invested in 
this system during the year include Abbey, part of the 
Santander Group, Coors Brewers and Zurich, the home 
and car insurance company.
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Organic growth Acquired growth EBIT

Interactive
Comprises CreditExpert (online 
credit reports, scores and monitoring 
services sold direct to consumers) 
and PriceGrabber (comparison 
shopping)

Interactive delivered an excellent 
performance, with revenue up 95% 
over the year at constant exchange 
rates. CreditExpert continues to build 
on its strong market-leading position 
with further growth in membership 
and delivery of higher volumes of 
credit reports. There was also good 
progress in the provision of credit 
monitoring and identity protection 
services for third parties, similar to 
the strategy established in the North 
America market. PriceGrabber UK 
has been a successful start-up for 
Experian, although still small. 

Financial review
Revenue from continuing activities 
was US$965m, up 8% at constant 
exchange rates. Organic revenue 
growth was 3%. The contribution to 
revenue growth from acquisitions 
during the period was 5%.

EBIT from continuing activities was 
US$226m, flat at constant exchange 
rates. The EBIT margin was 23.4% 
(2007: 25.1%). The lower margin 
reflects the negative organic revenue 
trend in Marketing Services and 
adverse acquisition mix. 

     Organic1

  2008 2007 Growth1 growth
 12 months to 31 March US$m US$m % %

 Revenue
 – Credit Services 293 266 4 1
 – Decision Analytics 247 215 8 –
  – Marketing Services 356 329 2 (3)
 – Interactive 68 33 95 95

 Total – continuing activities 965 843 8 3 
 Discontinuing activities2 59 64 n/a 

 Total UK and Ireland 1,024 907 6

 EBIT – continuing activities 226 212 –
 Discontinuing activities2 7 24 n/a  

 Total UK and Ireland 232 236 (7)

 EBIT margin3 23.4% 25.1%

Organic revenue growth

8%

11%

7%

7%

3%08

07

06

05

04

Organic growth is defined as year-on-year revenue growth 
at constant exchange rates, excluding acquisitions until the 
date of their anniversary

2006, 2007 and 2008 exclude UK account processing  
     

Total revenue growth

22%

Total growth is defined as year-on-year revenue growth at 
constant exchange rates

2006, 2007 and 2008 exclude UK account processing

Organic growth Acquired growth

17%

16%

14%

8%08

07

06

05

04

EBIT (US$m) and margin

23.4%

25.1%

26.4%

27.3%

26.5%

EBIT excludes discontinuing activities 

EBIT margin is for continuing activities only 

08 226

07 212

06 179

05 180

04 130

UK and Ireland continued

1   Growth at constant exchange rates 
2  Discontinuing activities include UK account processing
3  EBIT margin is for continuing activities only
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Business review
UK and Ireland

05 

04 

Expanding our product portfolio with market-
leading collections software

Experian acquired the Tallyman debt management 
system in May 2007. This market-leading collections 
software is used by consumer credit providers 
around the world to manage successfully the debts 
of more than 20 million customers. Tallyman enables 
lenders to employ the most appropriate collections 
strategies for different customers in order to 
maximise the amount of debt collected, while 
reducing write-offs and helping retain customers for 
future business.

In today’s financial environment, where the efficient 
collection of debt is a high priority for lenders, the 
acquisition of Tallyman enhances Experian’s range 
of software solutions to cover all points of the 
customer lifecycle.

Applications for credit (indexed)

11308

07

06

114

117

105

100
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Organic growth Acquired growth EBIT

EMEA/Asia Pacific

EMEA/Asia Pacific performed well, reflecting 
excellent progress in Experian’s credit bureaux 
activities, significant expansion within Decision 
Analytics and an increasingly material presence in 
Marketing Services. Experian continues to invest in 
the region to drive future growth.

Credit Services
Includes consumer credit bureaux in 
ten countries, business information 
bureaux in five countries and 
transaction processing in France

Total revenue for Credit Services 
grew 4% at constant exchange rates, 
with organic revenue growth of 3%. 
The acquisition contribution of 1% 
reflected The pH Group. During the 
year, Experian disposed of Loyalty 
Solutions in Germany.

There were strong credit bureaux 
performances across both 
consumer and business information, 
particularly in Southern and Eastern 
Europe and South Africa. New 
business wins in the year included 
GE Money in Norway. At transaction 
processing in France, business 
process outsourcing performed well 
and secured new business wins, as 
did debit card processing. Cheque 
processing performance was weak  
as usage of cheques declines 
in favour of debit card and other 
payment options.

Decision Analytics
Includes credit analytics, decision 
support software and fraud solutions

Decision Analytics performed very 
strongly, with excellent organic 
progress in the year, reflecting 
Experian’s commitment to global 
expansion. Total revenue growth at 
constant exchange rates was 28%, 
with organic revenue growth of 20%. 
The acquisition contribution relates 
to Tallyman.

There was strong demand for credit 
decision products across many 
markets, including in Western, 
Southern and Eastern Europe, Japan, 
Korea, China and Australia. There 
was also good progress for fraud 
solution services, such as Hunter, 
particularly in the emerging markets 
of Russia and Turkey which are 
growing well off a small base. There 
were new business wins in France, 
Spain, South Africa, Japan and 
Australia for both credit decision  
and fraud prevention scores  
and software.

• Revenue from continuing 
activities up 13% at 
constant exchange rates; 
7% organic 

• EBIT from continuing 
activities of US$87m, up 
7% at constant exchange 
rates

• EBIT margin of 12.3% after 
investment in infrastructure 
in Asia Pacific

• Excellent performances 
from core credit activities, 
reflecting strong credit 
bureaux and Decision 
Analytics momentum

• Increased scale in 
Marketing Services

EBIT (US$m) and marginTotal revenue growth Organic revenue growth

7%08

07

06

05

04

7%

8%

8%

1%

Organic growth is defined as year-on-year revenue growth 
at constant exchange rates, excluding acquisitions until the 
date of their anniversary    
   

11%

Organic growth Acquired growth

8%

18%

31%

13%

Total growth is defined as year-on-year revenue growth at 
constant exchange rates

08

07

06

05

04

12.3%

12.7%

12.3%

12.2%

12.1%

EBIT excludes discontinuing activities

EBIT margin is for continuing activities only 

08 87

07 73

06 64

05 59

04 47
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Marketing Services
Includes data integrity, digital 
services, internet marketing 
intelligence and business strategies

Total Marketing Services revenue 
increased by 67% over the year 
at constant exchange rates, with 
organic revenue growth of 11%. 
The acquisition contribution is due 
primarily to Hitwise and Emailing 
Solution, the latter of which extends 
Experian’s digital services in 
Continental Europe. Organically 
there were good performances within 
data integrity (QAS), with a large 
telecommunications win in Australia. 
There were also good performances 
for business strategies activities. 

Financial review 
Revenue from continuing activities 
was US$710m, up 13% at constant 
exchange rates compared to the same 
period last year. Organic revenue 
growth was 7%. 

EBIT from continuing activities 
was US$87m, up 7% at constant 
exchange rates, with an EBIT margin 
of 12.3% (2007: 12.7%). Margin 
dilution principally reflects increased 
investment in Asia, including 
India, partially offset by favourable 
acquisition contribution. 

1  Growth at constant exchange rates 
2  Discontinuing activities include Loyalty Solutions
3  EBIT margin is for continuing activities only

     Organic
  2008 2007 Growth1 growth1

 12 months to 31 March US$m US$m % %

 Revenue
 – Credit Services  495 433 4 3
 – Decision Analytics 132 95 28 20
 – Marketing Services 83 46 67 11

 Total – continuing activities 710 574 13 7 
 Discontinuing activities2 12 17 n/a

 Total EMEA/Asia Pacific 721 591 11

 EBIT – continuing activities 87 73 7
 Discontinuing activities2 – 1 n/a 

 Total EMEA/Asia Pacific 87 74 7

 EBIT margin3 12.3% 12.7%

Strengthening Experian’s presence in China

Experian significantly strengthened its presence in China 
during the year through a strategic investment in Sinotrust. 
Sinotrust is the market leader in China for business 
information and consulting services and one of the largest 
market research suppliers. More than 80% of the Fortune 
500 companies operating in China use Sinotrust products 
and services. The company employs over 800 people and 
has offices in Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou.

2008 Revenue by activity1

Decision Analytics

Credit Services

Marketing Services

1  Excludes discontinuing activities
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Revenue
Group revenue from continuing 
operations grew by 18.6% from 
US$3,481m to US$4,130m. 

Benchmark profit before tax 
(‘Benchmark PBT’)
Benchmark PBT for continuing 
operations rose by US$105m to 
US$819m, principally as a result of  
the increase in revenue from 
continuing operations including the 
benefit of acquisitions.

Taxation 
The Group’s effective rate of tax for 
the year based on Benchmark PBT 
was 23.2% (2007: 22.4%). The Group’s 
cash tax rate (based on tax paid in the 
year and Benchmark PBT) was 11.1% 
(2007: 16.9%).

Earnings and dividends  
per share
Basic earnings per share were 43.3 US 
cents in the year ended 31 March 2008.

Bringing new confidence to the buying 
of used cars

Experian’s vehicle history information is a 
vital component in the used car buying and 
selling process. It reveals if a vehicle has 
been stolen or previously salvaged, whether 
it has been water damaged or involved in an 
accident, whether the mileage is correct and 
other valuable insights.  

Interpreting all this information can be time 
consuming though, particularly for people 
wanting to compare different vehicles 
quickly and easily. That’s why Experian has 
developed the AutoCheck Score in the US, 
a world first for the vehicle industry. The 
AutoCheck Score distills all the history 
information Experian holds on a vehicle into 
a single, numeric score and then compares 
it to vehicles of similar age and type. The 
AutoCheck Score is a valuable tool for 
used car buyers and sellers, and has been 
proven to increase confidence in the vehicle 
purchase decision.  

Financial review 

The Group made sound financial progress in the year 
with good revenue, profit and cash performance.
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The basic earnings per share for 
the prior year of 49.9 US cents 
included 14.8 US cents in respect of 
discontinued operations. Benchmark 
earnings per share increased to 60.3 
US cents from 59.7 US cents last year. 

The board has announced a dividend 
of 12.0 US cents per ordinary share, 
giving a dividend per share of 18.5 US 
cents for the full year which is covered 
3.5 times by benchmark earnings.

Share price and total equity
The share price of Experian ranged 
from a low of 358p to a high of 633.5p 
during the year. On 31 March 2008, the 
mid market price was 367p, giving a 
market capitalisation of US$7.4bn at 
that date.

Total equity at 31 March 2008 
amounted to US$2,117m, equivalent 
to US$2.09 per share, an increase of 
US$10m in the year.

Cash flow and net debt
As indicated in the table opposite, 
the Group’s free cash flow in the year 
ended 31 March 2008 was US$679m 
compared with US$577m in 2007.

Capital expenditure in 2008 was 
US$344m, US$69m higher than last 
year as a result of capital expenditure 
in newly acquired businesses. Such 
expenditure was equivalent to 118% of 
the depreciation charge in 2008. 

Free cash flow, together with existing 
cash resources and draw downs from 
borrowing facilities, was used to 
fund acquisitions of US$1,720m and 
dividends of US$193m. Cash outflow 
from exceptional items amounted to 
US$45m. The net cash outflow for the 
year was US$1,282m. 

Net debt at 31 March 2008 increased 
by US$1,291m to US$2,699m, up from 
US$1,408m at 31 March 2007.

Acquisitions
Acquisition expenditure amounted to 
US$1,720m (2007: US$118m), including 
deferred and contingent consideration 
on prior year acquisitions. During the 
year ended 31 March 2008, acquisition 
expenditure was principally in 
connection with the purchase of 
Hitwise and the majority stake in Serasa.

Liquidity and funding
The Group seeks to ensure that 
sufficient liquidity is available to meet 
foreseeable needs and to invest its 
cash assets safely and profitably.

The maturity, currency and interest 
rate profiles of the Group’s borrowings 
are shown in note 30 to the financial 

statements. The maturity profile is 
spread over the next six years, to avoid 
excessive concentration of refinancing 
needs.  At 31 March 2008 undrawn 
committed borrowing facilities totalled 
US$1,121m.

During the year, the Group redeemed 
the whole of the outstanding balance 
of the 4.125% Euronotes 2007 at their 
par value of €548m.

Group cash flow   2008 2007
12 months to 31 March   US$m US$m

EBIT from continuing operations   945 825 
Depreciation and amortisation   291 237 
Capital expenditure   (344) (275)
Change in working capital   5 5 
Retained in associate   (17) (22)
Charge in respect of equity incentive plans 
within Benchmark PBT   22 34 

Operating cash flow1   902 804 
Net interest paid   (132) (106)
Tax paid   (91) (121)

Free cash flow   679 577 
Net cash outflow from exceptional items   (45) (98)
Acquisitions   (1,720) (118)
Purchase of available for sale financial assets and  
investments in associates   (9) (42)
Disposal of subsidiaries   6 258 
Dividends paid   (193) (401)

Net cash flow   (1,282) 176 
Foreign exchange movements   19 166 
Other financing related cash flows   776 121 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents (continuing) (487) 463 
Movement in cash and cash equivalents 
– discontinued operations   – 32 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents  (487) 495

1   Operating cash flow of US$902m (2007: US$804m) is derived from cash generated from operations in the Group cash flow 
statement of US$1,165m (2007: US$942m) after adjusting for the outflow for capital expenditure of US$344m (2007: US$275m) 
and adding US$36m (2007: US$39m) in respect of dividends from associates and US$45m (2007: US$98m) in respect of the  
cash outflow from exceptional items 
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Financial risk management
The Group seeks to reduce its 
exposures to foreign exchange, 
interest rate and other financial risks. 
Full disclosures in respect of financial 
risks, as required by IFRS 7 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures’ which 
became effective from 1 April 2007, 
are included within the notes to the 
financial statements.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s reported profit can be 
significantly affected by currency 
movements. In the year ended 31 
March 2008 approximately 36% of 
the Group’s EBIT from continuing 
operations was earned in currencies 
other than the US Dollar.

The Group operates internationally 
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk 
from future commercial transactions, 
recognised assets and liabilities and 
investments in, and loans between, 
entities with different functional 
currencies. The Group manages such 
risk, primarily within entities whose 
functional currencies are Sterling, 
by borrowing in the relevant foreign 
currencies and using forward foreign 
exchange contracts. The principal 
transaction exposures are to the US 
Dollar and the Euro.

The Group has investments in entities 
with other functional currencies, 
whose net assets are exposed to 
foreign exchange translation risk.  In 
order to reduce the impact of currency 
fluctuations on the value of such 
entities, the Group has a policy of 
borrowing in US Dollars and Euros, as 
well as in Sterling and of entering into 
forward foreign exchange contracts in 
the relevant currencies.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate exposure 
is managed by the use of fixed and 
floating rate borrowings and by the 
use of interest rate swaps to adjust 
the balance of fixed and floating rate 
liabilities. The Group also mixes 
the duration of its borrowings to 
smooth the impact of interest rate 
fluctuations.

Credit risk
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is 
managed by dealing only with banks 
and financial institutions with strong 
credit ratings, within limits set for 
each organisation. Dealing activity is 
closely controlled and counterparty 
positions are monitored regularly.

1 Growth at constant exchange rates

2 Discontinuing activities include MetaReward, UK account processing and Loyalty Solutions

3 EBIT margin is for continuing direct business only, excluding FARES

Reconciliation of revenue and EBIT by principal activity

     Organic
  2008 2007 Growth1 growth1

12 months to 31 March US$m US$m  % %

Revenue    
Credit Services 1,901 1,503 19 1
Decision Analytics 469 392 13 7
Marketing Services 830 728 10 1
Interactive 859 784 9 9

Total – continuing activities 4,059 3,407 14 4
Discontinuing activities2 71 85 n/a 

Total  4,130 3,492 14

 EBIT    
Credit Services – direct business 531 419 21 
Serasa integration charge (11) – n/a

Total Credit Services – direct business 520 419 19 
FARES 54 61 (11) 

Total Credit Services 574 481 15

Decision Analytics 154 136 7 
Marketing Services 78 65 18 
Interactive 189 173 9 
Central activities (57) (47) (15) 

Total – continuing activities 938 808 13 
Discontinuing activities2 7 18 n/a

Total  945 825 11

EBIT margin    
Credit Services – direct business 27.4% 27.9%  
Decision Analytics 32.8% 34.7%  
Marketing Services 9.4% 8.9%  
 Interactive 22.0% 22.1%

Total EBIT margin3 21.8% 21.9%  

Financial review continued
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Net financing costs
At US$127m, net financing costs 
excluding financing fair value 
remeasurements were US$16m higher 
than last year. The net interest expense 
for the year ended 31 March 2008 reflects 
the funding cost of the significant 
acquisitions in the year.  

That factor together with the changes 
in capital structure resulting from the 
settling of intra-group lending prior to 
the demerger, the demerger itself and the 
IPO mean that the prior year’s interest  
expense is not directly comparable with 
that for the current year. The reported net 
interest expense benefits from a credit to 
interest of US$23m relating to the excess 
of the expected return on pension assets 
over the interest on pension liabilities 
(2007: US$16m).

Exceptional items
In January 2008, the Group 
announced that it was launching 
a programme of significant cost-
efficiency measures. Identified 
efficiencies include offshoring of 
development activity, restructuring of 
core credit and marketing activities 
and infrastructure consolidation. 
Following the identification of 
additional opportunities this 
programme is expected to deliver 
annualised cost savings in the region 
of US$110m, of which approximately 
US$50m is expected to be realised in 
the year ending 31 March 2009. One-off 
restructuring costs associated with 
achieving these cost savings will be in 
the region of US$140m, the majority 
of which will be cash costs. Costs 
of US$60m have been recognised 
in the year in connection with this 
programme with a related cash 

outflow of US$18m. Of this charge, 
US$36m related to redundancy 
costs, US$12m related to asset 
write-offs, and US$12m related to 
other restructuring and infrastructure 
consolidation costs. 

Costs relating to the demerger of 
Experian and Home Retail Group 
comprise legal and professional fees in 
respect of the transaction, together with 
costs in connection with the cessation 
of the corporate functions of GUS plc 
and, in the year ended 31 March 2007, a 
charge of US$23m on the early vesting 
and modification of share awards.

Other exceptional items are those 
arising from the profit or loss on 
disposal of businesses or closure of 
material business units.

Other non-GAAP measures
IFRS requires that, on acquisition, specific 
intangible assets are identified and 
recognised separately from goodwill and 
then amortised over their useful economic 
lives. These include items such as brand 
names and customer lists, to which value 
is first attributed at the time of acquisition. 
The Group has excluded amortisation 
of these acquisition intangibles from its 
definition of Benchmark PBT because 
such a charge is based on uncertain 
judgements about their value and 
economic life.

A goodwill adjustment of US$2m 
arose in accordance with IFRS 3 
‘Business Combinations’ following 
the recognition of a benefit in respect 
of previously unrecognised tax losses 
relating to prior year acquisitions. The 
corresponding tax benefit reduced the 
tax charge in the year by US$2m. The 
equivalent adjustment in the prior year 
was US$14m.

Charges in respect of demerger-
related equity incentive plans relate 
to one-off grants made to senior 
management and all other staff 
levels at the time of demerger under 
a number of equity incentive plans. 
The cost of these one-off grants is 
being charged to the Group income 
statement over the five years following 
the demerger, but excluded from the 
definition of Benchmark PBT. The cost 
of all other grants is being charged 
to the Group income statement 
and included in the definition of 
Benchmark PBT.

Exceptional and other non-GAAP measures  2008 2007
    US$m US$m

Exceptional items   
Restructuring costs   60 – 
Demerger related costs   6 149
Closure of UK account processing    (2) 26
Net gain on disposal of businesses   (1) (13)

Total exceptional items   63 162

Other non-GAAP measures   
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles   121 76
Goodwill adjustment   2 14
Charges in respect of the demerger-related equity incentive plans 49 24
Financing fair value remeasurements   29 35

Total other non-GAAP measures   201 149
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An element of the Group’s derivatives 
is ineligible for hedge accounting 
under IFRS. Gains or losses on 
these derivatives arising from market 
movements are charged or credited 
to the Group income statement. In 
the year ended 31 March 2008 this 
amounted to a charge of US$29m 
(2007: US$35m).

Pensions
At 31 March 2008 the Group has a 
retirement benefit surplus for the 
Experian defined benefit funded 
schemes on an IAS 19 basis of 
US$182m (2007: US$141m) and 
separately reported pension 
obligations of US$50m (2007:US$56m) 
in respect of other schemes. Note 27 
to the financial statements shows the 
assumptions used together with the 
other disclosures required by IAS 19.

Accounting policies and 
standards
The principal accounting policies 
used by the Group are shown in note 2 
to the financial statements.

Use of non-GAAP measures
Experian has identified certain 
measures that it believes provide 
additional useful information on the 
performance of the Group. As the 
measures are not defined under IFRS 
they may not be directly comparable 
with other companies’ adjusted 
measures. The non-GAAP measures 
are not intended to be a substitute 
for, or superior to, any IFRS measures 
of performance. Certain non-GAAP 
measures identified by the Group 
are shown in note 2 to the financial 
statements. Further non-GAAP 
measures and reconciliations of those 
measures are set out below.

Discontinuing activities:  
Experian defines discontinuing 
activities as businesses sold, closed 
or identified for closure during a 
financial year.  These are treated 
as discontinuing activities for 
both revenue and EBIT purposes. 
Comparative information is 
restated to exclude the results 
of discontinuing activities. This 
financial measure differs from the 
definition of discontinued operations 
set out in IFRS 5 ‘Non-current assets 
held for sale and discontinued 
operations’.  

Under IFRS 5, a discontinued 
operation is defined as: (i) a 
separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations; 
(ii) part of a single plan to dispose 
of a major line of business or 
geographical area of operations; or 
(iii) a subsidiary acquired exclusively 
with a view to resale.

Reconciliation of revenue and EBIT by geography
12 months to 31 March  2008 2007
  Continuing Discontinuing  Continuing Discontinuing
  activities activities Total activities activities Total
  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Revenue      
North America 2,061 – 2,061 1,985 4 1,989
Latin America 324 – 324 5 – 5
UK and Ireland 965 59 1,024 843 64 907
EMEA/Asia Pacific 710 12 721 574 17 591

Total revenue 4,059 71 4,130 3,407 85 3,492

EBIT      
North America –  
direct business 554 – 554 512 (7) 505
FARES 54 – 54 61 – 61

Total North America 608 – 608 573 (7) 566

Latin America 86 – 86 (4) – (4)
Serasa integration 
charge (11) – (11) – – –

Total Latin America 75 – 75 (4) – (4)

UK and Ireland 226 7 232 212 24 236
EMEA/Asia Pacific 87 – 87 73 1 74
Central activities (57) – (57) (47) – (47)

Total EBIT 938 7 945 808 18 825

Net interest    (126)   (111)

Benchmark PBT   819   714
Exceptional items   (63)   (162)
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (121)   (76)
Goodwill adjustment   (2)   (14)
Charges for demerger-related equity 
incentive plans   (49)   (24)
Financing fair value remeasurements  (29)   (35)
Tax expense of associates  (6)   (9)

Profit before tax   549   394

Financial review continued
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Continuing activities: Businesses 
trading at 31 March 2008 that have 
not been disclosed as discontinuing 
activities are reported as continuing 
activities.

Organic growth: This is the year-
on-year change in the revenue of 
continuing activities, at constant 
exchange rates, excluding acquisitions 
(other than affiliate credit bureaux) 
until the first anniversary date of 
consolidation.

Direct business: Direct business 
refers to Experian’s business exclusive 
of the financial results of FARES.

Constant currency: In order to 
illustrate its organic performance, 
Experian discusses its results in terms 
of constant exchange rates, unless 
otherwise stated. This represents 
growth calculated as if the exchange 
rates used to determine the results 
had remained unchanged from those 
used in the previous year.

Roundings
Certain financial data have been 
rounded within this report. As a result 
of this rounding, the totals of data 
presented may vary slightly from the 
actual arithmetic totals of such data.

Establishing Experian’s first office  
in South Korea

South Korea is a country that has 
experienced robust economic growth in 
recent years, fuelling demand for consumer 
credit. In September 2007, Experian 
established a new company in South Korea 
with its long-term partner, Mirae Credit 
Information Services (MCI).

Experian Decision Analytics Korea will 
be accelerating the availability of highly 
customised and advanced credit management 
services for the financial services sector 
in South Korea, as well as extending these 
solutions to new market segments, such as 
telecommunications and insurance. Experian 
and MCI already provide support to six of 
South Korea’s top seven retail banks.  
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Experian already delivers many 
benefits to society. On a macro scale 
it helps fuel the world’s economies, 
including those in emerging markets, 
and at an individual level, it provides 
consumers with information to 
enable them to make better financial 
decisions. 

Experian is a business with skilled 
people at its core and with many 
different external stakeholders that 
make success possible, from clients to 
the general public, regulatory bodies 
to NGOs. Aware of its wider social 
responsibilities and taking these 
stakeholders’ views into account, 
Experian plays its part in helping to 
provide solutions to some of society’s 
problems and not only because of 
a sense of altruism. Many of these 
problems, when looked at with the 
insight Experian can provide, create 
new opportunities as well as mitigating 
risks.

Seeing things from a social, 
environmental and ethical stance, with 
many different stakeholders’ interests 
in mind, has enabled the Group to 
successfully revise its approach to 
CR in its first year of independent 
trading. Experian has updated its 
reporting, added depth to the role of 
its CR management team and created 
a forward-looking CR strategy. This 
strategy is helping the company 
embed CR principles in the way it does 
business and is creating innovative 
opportunities to address social needs.

Updated reporting
At the beginning of the year Experian had 
established six strong responsibilities.  

Use and protect data properly,  l
respecting all the relevant laws, 
helping evolve industry guidelines 
and new legislation, and ensuring 
a culture of compliance with the 
highest standards of integrity.

Create social and economic benefit  l
through our products, services and 
capabilities, balancing commercial 
benefit with consumers’ rights and 
needs.

Inform and empower consumers,  l
and ensure that those who interact 
directly with our company receive 
fair and honest treatment.

Be a good employer to all,  l
establishing a set of expected 
behaviours and values, ensuring 
that everyone working for us is 
treated fairly, given the maximum 
opportunity to fulfil their potential 
and that all our workplaces are safe 
and healthy.

Minimise as far as possible the  l
environmental impacts associated 
with our business and enable 
employee participation, with a 
particular concentration on the 
reduction of energy use and its 
effect on global warming.

Play an active part in social and  l
economic regeneration in our 
communities, be they local, national 
or global.

Experian sees these as the main 
indicators that society should use to 
hold the company to account. Three 
relate to what it does in the marketplace 
and three cover its approach to 
environment, community and the 
workplace. 

The Group reported openly on these six 
elements in its first year and has again, 
for consistency and comparability, 
reported on the same elements this 
year, but with greater transparency and 
clarity. The full online report provides 
both an overview of the Group’s CR 
performance and a fully substantiated 
and verified data section. For the first 
time Experian has also created an 
eight-page summary report aimed at 
key stakeholders which, we hope, will 
encourage engagement and initiate 
discussion about the Group’s approach 
to CR.

The role of the management team
The governance structure created in 
March 2007 remains in place; a cross-
regional CR Management Group has 
been strengthened with the addition 
of Victor Nichols, responsible for 
the global Interactive and Marketing 
Services business lines and now 
CEO of UK and EMEA, and Tomas 
Carmona, an experienced CR manager 
from Serasa in Brazil.

Report on corporate 
responsibilities
Corporate responsibility (CR) is increasingly seen as 
a way to define how organisations operate with due 
regard for the future of both their business and the 
society and environment they operate in. In its first full 
year of trading as an independent company, Experian 
has made some significant advances in its approach to 
CR and the sustainability of its operations. 
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Improving the quality of customer 
information in healthcare

Successful organisations depend on 
accurate information and there are few 
more fundamental pieces of information 
than a customer’s address. A misspelt 
street name or transposed house number 
can have major implications for future 
communications and for the success of 
the relationship.  

QAS, part of Experian, specialises in 
software that ensures customer data 
accuracy at the point of capture. It has more 
than 10,000 clients in sectors as diverse 
as retailing, education and healthcare. St 
Clare’s Healthcare System, which operates 
four hospitals in New Jersey, chose QAS 
for verifying and standardising address 
information during patient admissions.  
Within just 90 days, the reduction in 
returned clinical correspondence and billing 
documents had paid for the QAS software.

The role this group plays has also 
evolved through the year and now 
engages team members in:

Participating in reviews of key  l
risks and opportunities – looking 
particularly at social, environmental 
and ethical issues.

Championing the embedding of CR  l
in ‘business as usual’ practice.

Advising on the split and allocation  l
of Group central funding for regional 
CR and community projects.

The team has been instrumental in the 
evolution of the CR strategy.

A forward-looking strategy 
to assess risk and identify 
opportunities
The CR strategy has three strands:

i)     Embedding CR in everyday business 
practice, considering social and 
environmental risks and benefits in 
normal decision-making processes.  

ii)    Focusing the community programme 
to concentrate on social issues 
where Experian already has 
some expertise – encouraging 
entrepreneurs and supporting 
better financial management skills, 
especially in deprived sectors of 
society.

iii)  Creating some ‘big ideas’ using a 
social and environmental focus as 
a catalyst for innovation and cross-
disciplinary coordination to create 
ideas that can have a major social 
impact.
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Looking forward
One of the new roles for the CR 
Management Group is to hold regular 
‘horizon scanning’ meetings looking at 
the risks and opportunities presented 
by a longer-term view around each of 
Experian’s key responsibilities. These 
discussions are the precursor to ‘big 
ideas’ highlighting social issues and 
providing the stimulus for innovative 
thought. Already two ideas have 
presented themselves as a result of 
the four meetings to date; the next 
step will be to hold these discussions 
across the regions through Experian’s 
CR coordinators’ networks.

Link to business strategy
The six responsibilities are also 
intrinsically linked with the Group’s 
business strategy.  Experian’s 
business vision is that its people, data 
and technology become a necessary 
part of every major consumer 
economy around the world. People 
and data are two key resources and 
the associated risks, from a social 
and ethical standpoint, are in part 
addressed by the discussions held in 
the CR Management Group. 

Board involvement
The CR strategy was presented to the 
board and has their input and approval 
and will be used in the year ahead to 
drive progress. The board is given a 
report on CR progress at each meeting 
and directors are fully aware of their 
duties and responsibilities. 

Performance this year
The full report of our performance  
this year is available online at  
www.experiancrreport.com. This gives 
a complete picture of how Experian 
has met its objectives and complied 
with policies. It has been reviewed to 
provide assurance on the quality and 
accuracy of its contents. Headlines 
include:

A fall in carbon emissions from  l
buildings, driven by improved energy 
efficiency and increased purchase of 
renewable energy.

The adoption of a new global  l
environmental policy. 

Findings from Experian’s first global  l
employee survey, based on the 
responses from nearly 10,000 (73%) 
colleagues’ worldwide.

Inclusion in the FTSE4Good and Dow  l
Jones Global Sustainability Indices, 
the latter ranking Experian among the 
top 10% of companies assessed for 
sustainability.

Extended information on the Group’s  l
stance on human rights, and in 
particular the steps being taken 
to ensure they are respected in 
Experian’s supply chain.

Leadership of joint financial services  l
initiatives that have led to a reduction 
in the incidence of identity theft in 
the US.

Awards won in the UK for the best use  l
of data in the public sector.

The development of a report in Latin  l
America that will help assess the 
environmental and social impact of 
organisations alongside financial 
stability.

Community giving, which has  l
increased despite tough trading 
conditions. Even without the effect of 
the Serasa acquisition, community 
giving as a percentage of profit went up 
from 0.30% in 2007 to 0.34% in 2008. 

Plans for next year
In the coming year the Group 
intends to: 

Focus on stakeholder engagement  l
using the feedback prompted 
by distribution of the hard copy 
summary report.

Engage the regional management  l
teams in further embedding social 
and environmental concerns in their 
everyday decision making.

Improve CR communications with  l
employees and look at how they can 
be more involved.

Work with Serasa, Experian’s  l
recently acquired company in Brazil, 
to improve the Group’s CR reporting 
and to integrate the Serasa report 
with Experian’s by 2009.

Community giving 20081 2007 

12 months to 31 March US$’000 US$’000

Financial donations from Experian subsidiaries 1,202 730

Employee time volunteered 174 157

Gifts in kind 169 332

Management costs 212 222

Funds from Experian Group Limited 737 -

Total from Experian 2,494 1,441

Total as a percentage of Benchmark PBT 0.30% 0.20%

Total from Experian 2,494 1,441

Employee fundraising 417 212

Donations from the GUS Charitable Trust 141 518

Total value of all giving 3,052 2,171

Total value of all giving as a percentage 
of Benchmark PBT 0.37% 0.30%

1 Includes a full year’s contribution of US$303,000 from Serasa, acquired in June 2007

Report on corporate responsibilities continued
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Helping Government to improve the 
payment of child maintenance 

The Child Support Agency (CSA) is a Government 
organisation in the UK whose role is to help 
ensure that parents who live apart from their 
children contribute financially to their upkeep. 
Child maintenance payments can be vital to the 
wellbeing of single-parent families, but frequently 
go unpaid and the CSA currently has £3.7bn of 
debt that remains uncollected.  

As part of a major three-year Operational 
Improvement Plan, the CSA is now working with 
Experian to use the information and analysis 
techniques that have become so familiar within 
the credit industry to improve the payment of child 
maintenance and to ‘get more money flowing 
to more children’. In particular, Experian will be 
helping the CSA to trace absent parents and to 
develop risk and affordability profiles that will 
enable the CSA to develop a more tailored and 
effective approach to individual cases. 
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Organic growth Acquired growth

Key performance indicators

Experian’s strategy is to develop a framework to focus on 
its core data and analytics, drive profitable growth and 
optimise capital efficiency. In accordance with this strategy, 
Experian’s financial objectives are to drive organic growth, 
 to maintain or improve margins and to convert at least 85% 
of EBIT into operating cash flow. The following indicators 
are the key ones used by the board and management team 
to assess Experian’s success in achieving its objectives.

EBIT (US$m) and margin
In the year ended 31 March 2008, 
Experian increased its total EBIT 
by 15% to US$945m. Continuing 
EBIT increased by 13% at constant 
exchange rates. EBIT margin of 
21.8% from continuing activities is 
in line with the prior year during a 
period of increased investment.

Total revenue growth
In the year ended 31 March 2008, 
Experian increased its revenue 
from continuing activities by 
14% at constant exchange rates. 
Acquisitions accounted for 10% 
of the revenue growth, largely 
reflecting the contributions from 
Serasa and Hitwise.

30%

18%

Organic growth Acquired growth

08

07

06

05

04

14%

13%

14%

Total growth is defined as year-on-year continuing 
revenue growth at constant exchange rates

21.8%08 945

07 825

06 727

05 567

04 457

21.9%

21.0%

20.0%

19.6%

EBIT includes discontinuing activities

EBIT margin is for continuing direct business only 
and excludes FARES

Organic revenue growth
Organic growth increased by 4% in 
the year ended 31 March 2008, with 
good revenue growth across all 
four regions, reflecting the benefits 
of Experian’s diverse portfolio of 
activities around the world.

4%08

07

06

05

04

8%

12%

9%

7%

Organic growth is defined as year-on-year 
continuing revenue growth at constant exchange 
rates, excluding acquisitions except affiliates,  
until the date of their anniversary

Cash flow (US$m) and  
cash flow conversion
Experian aims to convert at least 
85% of its EBIT into operating cash 
flow each year, even after significant 
investment in growth opportunities.  
In the year ended 31 March 2008, 
Experian converted 95% of EBIT to 
operating cash flow.

95%08 902

07 804

06 717

05 535

04 495

97%

99%

94%

108%

Operating cash flow is defined as EBIT less 
changes in working capital, add depreciation/
amortisation, less capital expenditure, less profit 
retained in associates

Cash flow conversion is operating cash flow as 
a percentage of EBIT including discontinuing 
activities
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Buildings  Transport

2008  2007

Countries with offices 
Experian supports local and 
multinational clients in over 65 
countries through a network 
of offices. Additional offices 
were opened during the year in 
Malaysia and South Korea to 
support Experian’s growth in those 
countries. This brought the total 
number of countries where Experian 
has offices to 38.

3808

07

06

05

04

36

32

28

28

Carbon footprint  
(000’s tonnes)
Experian’s environmental impact is 
largely the result of energy use in 
buildings and travel by road, air and 
train. The Group is taking steps to 
steadily reduce its carbon footprint.

Data given above reflects the Group’s major 
employment units in the USA, UK, France and 
Brazil which constitute over 80% of the Group
 
Data in respect of air travel has been included 
above in 2007 and 2008 only

Full details of the methods and assumptions  
used to calculate these figures can be found  
in the Group’s online CR Report at  
www.experiancrreport.com 

1808 43

07 49

06 45

05 45

17

6

5

Buildings  Transport

Number of consumer  
credit bureaux
Experian’s consumer credit bureaux 
provide the foundation for its Credit 
Services and Decision Analytics 
businesses. During the year, Experian 
acquired a controlling interest in 
Serasa in Brazil, the fourth largest 
credit bureau in the world. Serasa 
provides Experian with a commanding 
position in one of the fastest growing 
credit markets and increases the 
number of consumer credit bureaux 
owned by Experian to 15.   
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04

14

12

9

9

15

Revenue per employee 
(US$000’s)
In the year ended 31 March 2008, 
revenue per full time equivalent (FTE) 
employee decreased by 5%. This was 
largely the result of the acquisition of 
Serasa, which significantly increased 
the average number of FTE employees.

Revenue excludes discontinuing activities

Revenue per employee is revenue divided by the 
average number of employees 
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06
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04

270

247

217

150

258

Employee engagement
Experian’s people are a key resource 
and an employee survey helps 
measure their engagement with the 
business. A fully engaged employee 
is regarded as one with a belief in the 
company and its goals, a pride in the 
way it operates and a willingness to 
go the extra mile.

2008  2007

Americas

UK & Ireland

EMEA

Asia Pacific

71%

53%

62%

51%

53%

56%

62%

57%

Percentage score calculated by the degree of 
positive response to a specified range of questions

Score for 2007 is an amalgamation of regional 
surveys conducted over a two-year period 
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Risks and uncertainties 

Legislation or government regulations 
may alter what data Experian can 
collect and how it is collected 

To the best of Experian’s knowledge, 
the Group is in compliance with 
data protection requirements 
in the jurisdictions in which 
it operates. Experian actively 
monitors its collection and use of 
personal data, while the Group’s 
legal, regulatory and government 
affairs departments work closely 
with senior management to adopt 
strategies to educate lawmakers and 
influence the public policy debate, 
where appropriate.  

Technology
There could be security breaches of 
Experian’s systems and processes or 
its systems could fail 

Experian’s data centres are protected 
against damage from fire, power 
loss, telecommunications failure, 
natural disaster, hardware or software 
malfunction, computer viruses or 
other purposeful attacks, such as 
physical break-ins or hacking. To 
mitigate the risk from insecure or 
unreliable IT systems, Experian 
maintains off-site copies of all 
information contained in databases 
and runs back-up data centres. 
The Group also has established 
support arrangements with third 
party vendors and strict standards, 
procedures and training schemes 
for technology services, physical 
security, information security and 
business continuity.

People 
Experian is dependent upon highly 
skilled personnel, especially its 
senior management and other 
experienced staff 

Loss of these people could have an 
adverse effect on the company’s 
ability to deliver its corporate 
objectives. Experian aims to provide 
compensation and benefits that 
are competitive with other leading 
companies, as well as fulfilling 
future career opportunities.

Other risks
There may be an economic downturn 
in one or more of Experian’s major 
markets, which impacts the demand 
for consumer credit in particular 

Experian is not immune from 
economic risks in any of its markets.  
However, the breadth of Experian’s 
portfolio by product, by geography, by 
sector and by client partly mitigates 
the impact of this risk.

Experian could face increased 
competition, especially in the credit 
reporting industry 

Experian mitigates this risk through 
continued research and investment 
in people, technology and products 
as prioritised by its strategic plan.

Risks to Experian are anticipated 
and regularly assessed and its 
internal controls are enhanced 
where necessary to ensure that such 
risks are appropriately mitigated.

Experian has identified the following 
major potential risks.

Data
The data that Experian holds  
may be inappropriately used 

Experian has established rigorous 
information security policies, 
standards, procedures, and 
recruitment and training schemes, 
which are embedded throughout its 
business operations. Experian also 
screens new third party partners 
carefully and conducts targeted 
audits on their operations. The 
loss and/or potential misuse of 
consumer data is addressed through 
continued investment in IT security 
infrastructure, including the significant 
use of data and communications 
encryption technology.

Experian’s vision is that its people, data and 
 technology become a necessary part of every 
major consumer economy around the world. The 
main potential risks to achieving this are either 
specific to Experian’s business model, such as 
information security, or more general, such as the 
impact of competition.
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Expanding Experian’s email marketing business into 
important new markets

Experian acquired Emailing Solution, a leading French 
permission-based email marketing company, in May 2007.   
The acquisition extended the geographical reach of Experian’s 
existing CheetahMail business into one of the largest and 
fastest growing email markets in Europe.

Emailing Solution was founded in 2001 and provides email 
marketing services in France and Spain to over 500 brands, 
including AXA, Orange and Hewlett Packard. Now part of 
Experian CheetahMail, clients have access to a wider range of 
services and a broader distribution network. 

There may be consolidation among 
Experian’s clients, which may cause 
price compression and a reduction in 
its revenue and profits

No single client accounts for more 
than 2% of Experian’s revenue, 
which reduces the probability of this 
potential risk having a significant 
impact on the business.

Acquisitions may not meet 
expectations 

Experian assesses all acquisitions 
rigorously, using both in-house 
experts and professional advisers. 
In addition, the Group conducts 
extensive post-acquisition reviews 
to ensure performance remains 
consistent with the buy plan.

The outcome of litigation could be 
unfavourable to Experian

Experian carries insurance cover 
against such risks and employs 
expert legal personnel in-house, 
as well as retaining the services of 
several leading legal practices, to 
assist in the effective management 
and disposal of legal proceedings.  

Experian could fail to protect 
adequately its valuable intellectual 
property rights or face claims 
for intellectual property right 
infringement
 
Experian seeks patent protection and 
appropriate agreements regarding 
its intellectual property rights, 
where appropriate and feasible, and 
continues to monitor this situation. 

Experian could fail to protect 
adequately against its exposure to 
financial risks

As described in note 3 to the Group 
financial statements on page 81, 
Experian’s financial risk management 
focuses on the unpredictability 
of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on 
the Group’s financial performance. 
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Top 10 clients

Top 50 clients

All other

Business and market overview

Revenue by client (client profile)1

1 Excluding discontinuing activities, Consumer Direct
and Serasa 

Of the top 50 clients at least 85% have been doing
business with Experian for five years or more

Revenue by activity 1

Decision Analytics

Credit Services

Marketing Services

Interactive

1 Excludes discontinuing 
activities

Revenue by geography 1

Latin America

North America

UK and Ireland

EMEA/Asia Pacific

Experian is a global leader in providing 
information, analytical and marketing services 
to organisations and consumers to help manage 
the risk and reward of commercial and financial 
decisions. 

1 Excludes discontinuing 
activities

Markets in which Experian 
operates
Experian has a broad and balanced 
portfolio - by product type, country 
and vertical market.

In the year ended 31 March 2008,  l
47% of sales came from Credit 
Services, 12% from Decision 
Analytics, 20% from Marketing 
Services and 21% from Interactive.

In the year ended 31 March 2008,  l
51% of sales came from North 
America, 8% from Latin America, 
24% from UK and Ireland and 17% 
from EMEA/Asia Pacific.

Financial services clients account  l
for 52% of sales, followed by 17% 
from direct-to-consumer, 10% from 
retail and home shopping, 7% from 
telecommunications, utilities and 
insurance and the balance from 
government, publishing/media and 
automotive.

Experian has over 100,000 clients,   l
of which the top ten account for 
14% of sales and the top 50 clients 
33% of sales.

Following the acquisition of  l
Serasa, Experian employs 
approximately 15,500 people and  
has offices in 38 countries. 

Experian owns and operates  l
consumer credit bureaux in 15 
countries and business credit 
bureaux in nine countries. 

Experian classifies one billion  l
consumers by socio-demographic 
type in over 25 countries around the 
world.

As a result of this diversity, Experian 
is not overly dependent on any 
one geography, client, channel or 
economy. While Experian as a whole 
is clearly dependent on the economic 
environments in which it operates, 
its broad portfolio of products and 
markets served provides some 
resilience when its major markets 
weaken. New products also affect 
Experian’s performance, as does its 
success in gaining share in its chosen 
markets.  

Competitive position
Experian has competitors in each of 
its principal activities, but no single 
competitor offers the same breadth 
of capabilities to domestic and 
multinational clients around the world 
or on such a scale.

There is limited public information 
available on the market share of 
Experian’s competitors and it is 
frequently competing against niche, 
local providers of services in its 
different markets.  

However, there are a number of 
companies that Experian views as 
key competitors, which are identified 
below:

Credit Services
There are two other national 
consumer credit bureaux in the US 
(Equifax and TransUnion). In the UK, 
Experian is the clear market leader in 
consumer credit services with mainly 
local competition elsewhere. 

In Brazil, Serasa is the market leader 
in both consumer and commercial 
credit services, also competing 
against mainly local competition.  
Dun & Bradstreet is the only global 
business credit services competitor.

Decision Analytics 
The market leader in the US is Fair 
Isaac. Experian is the market leader 
elsewhere and faces competition 
from Fair Isaac and other fragmented 
local players.

Marketing Services 
There are some large marketing 
competitors in the US, such as 
Acxiom and Harte-Hanks, but 
competition elsewhere is local, 
fragmented and often specialist.

Interactive 
Consumer Direct is the clear market 
leader in the US and UK, selling 
credit reports and services direct 
to consumers in competition with 
Equifax, TransUnion, Fair Isaac and 
other specialist providers. Experian’s 
sales are more than twice that of any 
of its competitors.  
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North America International

The online lead generation market is 
fragmented and, despite the recent 
economic downturn in the US and 
UK, Experian has strong market 
positions in its chosen areas of 
operation. 

Growth drivers
Experian is well positioned to benefit 
from a number of key drivers of long-
term growth. 
      
Credit-related activities 
Experian’s credit reporting is a 
fundamental building block for 
stimulating growth in consumer 
economies through the application 
of effective credit management, 
giving rise to safety and soundness in 
banking systems.

Growth in Experian’s credit-related 
activities is underpinned by:

Global growth in the availability of  l
consumer and business credit.

Global expansion of its financial  l
services clients.

Rapidly expanding demand for  l
sophisticated analytics and software 
that help institutions to predict and 
manage risk.

Marketing-related activities 
Emerging channels are fuelling 
growth in Experian’s marketing-
related activities.

Interactive channels like email and 
the internet are information rich and 
operate on a global scale. These new 
channels are stimulating demand 
for more targeted, faster, more 
effective and measurable marketing 
campaigns.

Experian can apply its core data and 
analytics expertise to find and keep 
profitable customers for its clients by:

Targeting relevant audiences  l
through segmentation.

Creating campaign strategies  l
across all channels.

Providing analytics to measure  l
success.

Key resources
Experian has three key resources 
that are viewed as fundamental to 
the successful implementation of its 
strategy. 

People  
Experian employs approximately 15,500 
people, who are central to the delivery 
of its strategy and client experience.  
The Group prides itself on attracting, 
developing and retaining talented, 
ambitious people throughout its 
operations.  

Succession planning is used to ensure 
that appropriate leadership resources 
are in place to grow the business and 
these plans are regularly reviewed by 
the Board.

The management of talent is one of 
Experian’s top priorities and the Group 
invests heavily in ensuring  employees 
have the right environment and skills 
to do their best work. Employees are 
involved in the planning and direction 
of their work, drawing on a wide range 
of communication methods. Employee 
surveys provide valuable insights into 
employees’ views, while opportunities 
to further enhance employee 
engagement are integral to business 
planning.

Data 
At the core of Experian are 
comprehensive databases of credit and 
marketing information on consumers 
and businesses. Experian offers more 
information than any single competitor, 
which helps make it the partner of 
choice for many organisations.

Each year, Experian invests heavily 
in maintaining complete, accurate 
and up-to-date information, while 
continuing to add new data sources 
that further support clients. Experian 
also has a leadership position as the 
trusted steward of much sensitive 
information, which it has an obligation 
to protect - both to clients who are 
the source of much of this data and 
to consumers who are the subjects of 
the data. Experian therefore operates 
very rigorous security and control 
procedures. 

Technology 
Experian’s information technology 
systems are fundamental to its 
success. They are used for the storage, 
processing and delivery of the data 
that is the foundation of its business, 
as well as for the development and 
delivery of the value-added solutions 
provided to clients. 

Much of the technology used by 
Experian and provided to clients 
is developed, maintained and 
supported by in-house teams across 
its various locations. Experian 
operates continual maintenance 
and management of its information 
technology systems, as well 
as continuing to integrate the 
technologies of existing and acquired 
businesses. 

Competitive position
Global revenue US$m

Source: Latest full year revenue, company 10k

Financial services

Direct-to-consumer

Retail / home shopping

Telecom / utility / insurance

Media / publishing / advertising

Government / non-profit / education

Automotive

Other

1 Management estimate of percentage of revenue by vertical market

Excludes discontinuing activities and Serasa

Revenue by industry (market profile)1

Experian 4,130

Equifax 1,843

D&B 1,660

Acxiom 1,384

Fair Isaac 822

Harte-Hanks 1,163
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Paul Brooks (54)
Chief Financial Officer

Paul Brooks graduated from Cambridge 
University with an economics degree 
and went on to qualify as a Chartered 
Accountant with KPMG. He then joined 
ICI where he worked for the Plastics 
Division in Brussels and the Corporate 
Reporting Group in London. After five 
years with GKN’s Industrial Services 
Division, mostly spent as Divisional 
Chief Financial Officer in the US, Paul 
joined Inchcape as Marketing Services 
Finance Director, based in Singapore. He 
joined Experian in April 1999 as Finance 
Director of Experian International and was 
appointed Global Chief Financial Officer 
in October 2001.

Board of directors

Roger Davis (51)
Non-Executive Director

Roger Davis spent some eight years at 
Barclays, latterly as the Chief Executive 
Officer of the 45,000 strong UK Banking 
operation and as a member of the Board 
of Barclays plc. Prior to that, he spent 
some ten years in investment banking 
in London and in various positions in 
Asia for Flemings and BZW. Roger is 
Chairman of Life Trust Holdings plc and 
Gem Diamonds Limited, a Non-Executive 
Director of Aero Inventory plc, and is 
Chairman of Experian’s Remuneration 
Committee. 

Laurence Danon (52)
Non-Executive Director

Laurence Danon is a member of the 
Executive Board of Edmond de Rothschild 
Corporate Finance and was the President 
and Chief Executive Officer of Printemps 
S.A., the French department store 
chain, until January 2007. In 2006, she 
led the buyout of Printemps from PPR, 
Europe’s largest non-food retailer. Prior 
to Printemps, Laurence held various 
senior roles at Total Fina Elf. Laurence 
began her career working for the French 
Government. She is a Non-Executive 
Director of Diageo plc, Plastic Omnium 
S.A., Lafuma S.A. and Rhodia S.A.

Fabiola Arredondo (41)
Non-Executive Director

Fabiola Arredondo is the Managing 
Partner of Siempre Holdings, a private 
investment firm based in the US. Prior to 
this, she held senior operating positions 
at Yahoo!, the BBC and Bertelsmann 
AG. Fabiola is currently a Non-Executive 
Director of Bankinter, S.A., Rodale, Inc., 
the World Wildlife Fund and Sesame 
Workshop, and was formerly a Non-
Executive Director of BOC Group plc and 
Intelsat Corporation. Fabiola has a BA 
degree from Stanford University, and an 
MBA from the Harvard Business School.

Don Robert (49)
Chief Executive Officer

Don Robert graduated from Oregon State 
University with a degree in Business 
Administration. He began his career with 
U.S. Bancorp, a multi-state bank holding 
company, where he held positions of 
increasing responsibility over 15 years. From 
there he joined Credco, Inc., the largest 
specialist credit reporting company in 
the US, as President. In 1995, Credco was 
acquired by First American Corporation and 
over the next six years Don held positions 
as Executive Vice President of Mortgage 
Origination Services and President of First 
American’s Consumer Information and 
Services Group. In 2001, Don joined Experian 
from First American, becoming Chief 
Executive Officer of Experian North America 
in December 2002. In February 2005, he took 
responsibility for Experian globally as Chief 
Executive Officer of the Experian Group. 
Don joined the Board of the former GUS 
plc in April 2005. He is a Director of First 
Advantage Corporation, a Member of the 
Chapman University Board of Counsellors 
and a past Chairman of the Consumer Data 
Industry Association. 

John Peace (59)
Chairman

John Peace is Chairman of Burberry 
Group plc and Deputy Chairman and 
Senior Independent Director of Standard 
Chartered PLC. He is also Chairman of 
the Board of Governors of Nottingham 
Trent University, Deputy Lieutenant for 
the County of Nottinghamshire, a Fellow 
of the Royal Society of Arts and Chairman 
of The Work Foundation. Previously he 
was Group Chief Executive of the former 
GUS plc from 2000 until 2006, having been 
a director of GUS since 1997. 
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Alan Jebson (58)
Non-Executive Director

Alan Jebson retired in May 2006 as Group 
Chief Operating Officer of HSBC Holdings 
plc, a position that included responsibility 
for IT and Global Resourcing. During a 
long career with HSBC, Alan held various 
positions in IT, including the position 
of Group Chief Information Officer. His 
roles included responsibility for HSBC’s 
international systems, including the 
consolidation of HSBC and Midland 
systems following HSBC’s acquisition 
of Midland Bank in 1993. He is a Non-
Executive Director of Vodafone Group plc 
and MacDonald Dettwiler in Canada. Alan 
is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales and is 
Chairman of Experian’s Audit Committee.

Sean FitzPatrick (59)
Non-Executive Director

Sean FitzPatrick is the Chairman of 
Anglo Irish Bank Corporation plc, 
having previously been Chief Executive 
Officer until January 2005. He is also 
the Chairman of Smurfit Kappa plc, 
and a Non-Executive Director of Aer 
Lingus Group plc, Greencore Group 
plc and Gartmore Irish Growth Fund 
plc. He is a past President of the Irish 
Bankers Federation. Sean is a Chartered 
Accountant.

David Tyler (55)
Non-Executive Director

David Tyler is Chairman of Logica plc 
and 3i Quoted Private Equity Limited.  
He is also a Non-Executive Director of 
Reckitt Benckiser plc and Burberry Group 
plc (where he chairs the Remuneration 
Committee). He spent his executive career 
in financial and general management 
beginning with Unilever in 1974 and 
continuing with County NatWest from 
1986, Christie’s from 1989 and finally the 
former GUS plc from 1997. David was 
Group Finance Director of GUS plc until 
it was demerged into two separate listed 
companies (Experian Group Limited and 
Home Retail Group plc) at the end of 2006, 
since when he has developed a portfolio 
career. David has a degree in Economics 
from Cambridge University, is a Fellow of 
the Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants and a Member of the 
Association of Corporate Treasurers.

Sir Alan Rudge (70)
Senior Independent Director

Sir Alan Rudge is Chairman of The ERA 
Foundation Limited and Chairman of 
the Board of Management of the Royal 
Commission for the Exhibition of 1851. He 
is a past Chairman of ERA Technology 
Limited and was Deputy Chief Executive 
of BT until November 1997 and Chairman 
of WS Atkins until March 2001. He 
joined the Board of the former GUS plc 
in 1997 and was President of CELTEL 
International B.V., a Non-Executive 
Director of S.E.S.A. AG and Special 
Advisor to General Atlantic Partners. He 
was Pro Chancellor of Surrey University 
until December 2007. Sir Alan has a PhD 
in Electrical Engineering and is a Fellow of 
the Royal Society and the Royal Academy 
of Engineering, a past Chairman of the 
Engineering and Physical Sciences 
Research Council and a past President of 
the Institution of Electrical Engineers. 

Company Secretary
Charles Brown FCIS

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Registered office
22 Grenville Street
St Helier
Jersey
JE4 8PX
Registered No. 93905

Registrars
Equiniti (Jersey) Limited
PO Box 63
11-12 Esplanade
St Helier
Jersey
JE4 8PH

Audit committee
Alan Jebson (Chairman)
Fabiola Arredondo
Laurence Danon
Roger Davis
Sean FitzPatrick
Sir Alan Rudge 
David Tyler

Remuneration committee
Roger Davis (Chairman)
Fabiola Arredondo
Laurence Danon
Sean FitzPatrick
Alan Jebson
Sir Alan Rudge 
David Tyler

Nomination committee
John Peace (Chairman)
Fabiola Arredondo
Laurence Danon
Roger Davis
Sean FitzPatrick
Alan Jebson
Don Robert
Sir Alan Rudge 
David Tyler
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Directors’ report

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008.

Principal activities and business review
Experian is a global leader in providing information, analytical and marketing services to organisations and consumers 
to help manage the risk and reward of commercial and financial decisions.  Combining its unique information tools and 
deep understanding of individuals, markets and economies, Experian partners with organisations around the world 
to establish and strengthen customer relationships and provide their businesses with competitive advantage.  For 
consumers, Experian delivers critical information that enables them to make financial and purchasing decisions with 
greater control and confidence.  A review of the results for the year and an indication of future developments appear 
on pages 6 to 37.  Research and development investment continues to be a high priority for Experian in driving growth, 
particularly in relation to product development.  Research expenditure totalled US$6m during the year ended 31 March 
2008 and the amount charged to the Group income statement in the year was US$6m (2007: US$5m). 

Profit and dividends
The Group income statement on page 66 shows a profit for the financial year ended 31 March 2008 of US$452m.  The 
directors have announced the payment of a second interim dividend in lieu of a final dividend of 12 US cents per 
ordinary share to be paid on 25 July 2008 to shareholders on the register of members on 27 June 2008.  An interim 
dividend of 6.5 US cents per ordinary share was paid on 1 February 2008 giving a total dividend for the year of 18.5 US 
cents per ordinary share.

Directors
The names and biographical details of the directors are shown on pages 38 and 39. Sean FitzPatrick was appointed as 
a director of the Company with effect from 1 April 2007. Particulars of directors’ remuneration, service contracts and 
their interests in the ordinary shares of the Company are shown in the report on directors’ remuneration on pages 
51 to 63.  There were no changes in the directors’ interests in the Company’s ordinary shares between the end of the 
financial year and 20 May 2008.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, each director is required to retire at the annual general 
meeting held in the third calendar year following the year in which he or she was elected or last re-elected by the 
Company.  In order to ensure an orderly re-election process Fabiola Arredondo, Paul Brooks and Roger Davis will 
retire at the annual general meeting in July 2008 and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.  The board 
carried out a formal evaluation of its performance and the performance of its committees and individual directors 
during the year ended 31 March 2008 and is satisfied that each of the three directors retiring at the annual general 
meeting contributes effectively and demonstrates commitment to the role.  Further details regarding the evaluation are 
contained in the corporate governance statement on pages 44 to 50.

During the year, the Company maintained liability insurance and third party indemnification provisions for its 
directors.

Acquisitions and disposal
The Group made a number of acquisitions in the year under review, details of which are included in note 34 to the 
financial statements on page 120.

On 28 June 2007, the Group completed the acquisition of an initial 65% stake in Serasa, the market leading credit bureau 
in Brazil and operator of the fourth largest credit bureau in the world for US$1.2 billion. A further 5% of Serasa has been 
acquired since the date of the acquisition, taking Experian’s total holding in Serasa to 70%. On 8 June 2007, the Group 
acquired the whole of the issued share capital of Hitwise, a leading internet market intelligence company. The Company 
announced the acquisitions of The pH Group, the UK market leader in business-to-business marketing analytics, and 
N4 Solutions, a UK-based mortgage sector and financial services software provider, on 20 July 2007 and 25 July 2007 
respectively.  During the year under review, the Company also completed the acquisition of remaining interests in 
Footfall companies in Spain and Italy.  

The Company announced the sale of Loyalty Solutions, a German provider of back office services to loyalty card 
programmes, to easycash, a leading German point-of-sale network provider, on 26 September 2007.  
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Substantial shareholdings 
Substantial shareholders are required to notify their interests in accordance with the Company’s articles of 
association, which obliges shareholders to comply with the notification obligations to the Company contained in the 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules.  As at 20 May 2008, the Company had been notified of the following interests in 
its issued ordinary share capital or voting rights:

Save for the above, no person has notified any interest of 3% or more or any non-material interest equal to or more 
than 10% of the issued ordinary share capital or in the voting rights of the Company.

Share capital
Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company and changes to the Company’s share capital in the 
year ended 31 March 2008 are set out in note K to the Company’s financial statements on page 138.

Takeover Directive information
The Group’s banking facilities contain provisions which, in the event of a change of control of the Company, could result 
in a renegotiation or withdrawal of such facilities.

The £350m 6.375% Eurobonds due 2009 and the £334m 5.625% Euronotes due 2013, issued by the Group, provide that 
holders may require repayment of the respective bonds or notes in the event that a rating agency re-rates the bonds or 
notes to below investment grade following a change of control of the Company.

The Group is party to a joint venture (FARES) with The First American Corporation, pursuant to which the Group holds 
a 20% interest in FARES.  The joint venture agreement provides The First American Corporation with a call right to 
purchase the Group’s interest in FARES in the event of a change of control of the Company.

Details of provisions relating to a change of control in directors’ service contracts are described in the report 
on directors’ remuneration. 

The Group is party to a limited number of operational arrangements which can be terminated or altered upon a change 
of control of the Company, but these are not considered to be individually significant to the business of the Group as a 
whole or, in certain cases, it is considered that their disclosure would be seriously prejudicial to the Company.

Details of each person with a significant direct or indirect holding of securities in the Company and the size and 
nature of the holding are contained in the substantial shareholdings table above.

Both the Company by ordinary resolution and the directors may elect any person to be a director, but the number 
of directors shall not exceed the maximum number (if any) fixed by the articles of association of the Company.  Any 
person appointed shall only hold office until the next annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for election.  
The office of a director shall be vacated on the occurrence of any of the events listed in article 92 of the articles of 
association of the Company.  The Company may, in accordance with the provisions of the Companies (Jersey) Law 
1991, remove any director from office and elect another person in place of a director so removed.  The articles of 
association of the Company may be amended by the passing of a special resolution.

Some of Experian’s employee share plans include restrictions on transfer of shares while the shares are subject to 
the plan.  As described in the report on directors’ remuneration, non-executive directors receive a proportion of fees 
in shares which may not normally be transferred during a director’s period of office.

All of Experian’s share plans contain provisions relating to a change of control. Outstanding awards and options would normally 
vest and become exercisable on a change of control, subject to the satisfaction of any performance conditions at that time.

Date of  Shareholder Direct/ Number of Percentage 
notification  indirect  ordinary of issued 
  interest shares/ share capital/
   voting rights voting rights

20 February  2008 Harris  
 Associates LLP Direct 50,668,157 4.95%

18 April  2008 Viking Global  
 Investors LP Direct 51,227,000 5.00%
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Where, under an employee share plan operated by Experian, participants are the beneficial owners of the shares 
but not the registered owner, the voting rights are normally exercised by the registered owner at the direction of the 
participant.

Financial risk management, objectives and policies
Descriptions of the use of financial instruments and Experian’s treasury and risk management objectives and policies 
are set out in the financial review on pages 23 and 24, and also in note 3 to the Group financial statements.

Own shares
The existing authority for the Company to purchase its own shares, which expires at the end of this year’s annual general 
meeting, was given at the annual general meeting held on 18 July 2007 and permitted the Company to purchase, in the 
market, up to 102,000,000 of its own shares.  The Company did not utilise the authority to make any purchases of its own 
shares during the period under review.

Details of the new authority being requested are contained in the circular to shareholders, which accompanies this 
annual report or is available on the Company’s website at www.experiangroup.com.  The Companies (Jersey) Law 
1991 (as amended) now permits the Company to hold any shares bought back as treasury shares as an alternative to 
immediately cancelling them and the directors intend to decide whether to cancel shares pursuant to this authority or 
hold them as treasury shares based on the interests of the Company and shareholders as a whole at the relevant time.  

Details of the shares in the Company purchased by and held under the Experian Group Limited Employee Share Trust, 
the Experian UK Approved All-Employee Plan and the GUS plc ESOP Trust are set out in note L to the Company’s 
financial statements on page 139.

Donations
During the year the Group donated US$1.94m (including a full year’s donation of US$0.2m from Serasa, acquired in 
June 2007) to charitable causes. Funds from the GUS Charitable Trust disbursed through Experian during the year 
totalled US$0.14m.

In addition to cash contributions, the Group’s employees are encouraged to give their time and skills for the benefit of a 
variety of charitable causes. 

During the year the Group made no political donations.

Employment of people with disabilities
People with disabilities, whether registered or not, have equal opportunities when applying for vacancies, with due 
regard to their aptitudes and abilities.  In addition to complying with legislative requirements, procedures are in place 
to ensure that disabled employees are fairly treated and that their training and career development needs are carefully 
managed.  For those employees becoming disabled during the course of their employment, the Group is supportive, 
whether through re-training or re-deployment, so as to provide an opportunity for them to remain with the Group.

Employee involvement
The Group is intent on motivating and keeping staff informed on matters that concern them in the context of their 
employment and involves them through local consultative procedures.  Where there are recognition agreements with 
trade unions, the consultation process is established through national and local trade union representatives and through 
joint consultation committees.  Information on matters of concern to employees and about the financial and economic 
factors affecting the Group’s performance is also disseminated through management channels, conferences, meetings, 
publications and internet sites. 

Employees are actively encouraged to become shareholders in Experian through the provision of save as you earn 
and other all-employee share plan arrangements which are intended to align the interests of employees with those of 
shareholders.

Directors’ report continued
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Creditor payment
For all trade creditors, it is Group policy to:

Agree and confirm the terms of payment at the commencement of business with that supplier; l

Pay in accordance with any contract agreed with the supplier or as required by law; and l

Review continually the payment procedures and liaise with suppliers as a means of eliminating difficulties and  l
maintaining a good working relationship. 

 
Trade creditors of the Group at 31 March 2008 were 39 days based on the ratio of Group trade creditors at the end of 
the year to the amounts invoiced during the year by trade creditors.  The Company has no trade creditors.

Going concern
After making enquiries, the directors have formed a judgment at the time of approving the financial statements 
that there is a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements.

Relevant audit information
As at 20 May 2008, so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information, being information needed by 
the auditors in connection with preparing their report, of which the auditors are unaware and each director has taken 
all steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

Annual general meeting
The second annual general meeting of the Company will be held at the Four Seasons Hotel, Simmonscourt Road, 
Dublin 4, Ireland at 9.30am on Wednesday 16 July 2008.  Shareholders who are unable to attend in person may 
submit questions beforehand via email to agmquestions@experiangroup.com or on the prepaid card sent to 
shareholders with the notice of meeting. The questions will be addressed at the meeting, via the Company’s website 
at www.experiangroup.com or individually as appropriate. The notice of meeting is included in a separate circular 
to shareholders which accompanies this annual report.  It is also available on the Company’s website at www.
experiangroup.com.

Auditors 
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution that 
they be re-appointed as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the annual general meeting.

By order of the board
Charles Brown
Company Secretary 
20 May 2008 

Corporate headquarters: 
Newenham House
Northern Cross
Malahide Road
Dublin 17
Ireland

Registered office:
22 Grenville Street
St Helier
Jersey JE4 8PX
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Corporate governance statement

Combined Code
The board of Experian is responsible for the Group’s system of corporate governance. The board is committed to 
good governance and to maintaining the highest standards of integrity in all the Group’s activities.  This statement 
describes how the Company has applied the main and supporting principles set out in Section 1 of the Combined 
Code on Corporate Governance published by the UK Financial Reporting Council in June 2006 (the ‘Code’).  

Experian complied with the Code’s provisions throughout the year from 1 April 2007 until 31 March 2008, except that 
the board committees did not for the whole period fully comply with the requirements in respect of the number of 
independent non-executive directors. These matters are explained later in this statement. 

The way in which the principles set out in the Code are applied is described below. 

The board
At the date of this annual report, the board consists of a Chairman, a Chief Executive Officer, a Chief Financial Officer 
and seven non-executive directors. The names and biographical details of the directors are shown on pages 38 and 39 of 
this annual report.  

The non-executive directors are considered by the board to be independent in character and judgment with no 
relationships or circumstances which could affect, or appear to affect, their judgment.  However, David Tyler was the group 
finance director of GUS plc and so did not fully meet the independence criteria on his appointment.  The non-executive 
directors are appointed for three-year renewable terms.  Sir Alan Rudge is the senior independent director.  

The board plans to have six scheduled meetings each year and may meet more frequently as required.  Six scheduled 
meetings and one ad-hoc meeting took place during the year ended 31 March 2008 (this includes one meeting that was held 
immediately after the year-end which was originally scheduled to take place during March 2008 but was rescheduled to 
early April 2008 due to the timing of Easter). The latter meeting took place in Washington DC, USA; otherwise the meetings 
were held in Dublin, Ireland.  It is inevitable that there will be occasions when circumstances arise to prevent directors 
from attending meetings.  In such circumstances, the usual practice is for the absent director to review the board papers 
and convey any views on specific issues to the Chairman. The time commitment expected of non-executive directors is 
not restricted to board and committee meetings.  They are available for consultation on specific issues falling within their 
particular fields of expertise and additional time is spent visiting the Group’s businesses and meeting informally with the 
Chairman and executive directors.  The non-executive directors are experienced and influential individuals from a range 
of industries and countries.  Together they bring an objective viewpoint and range of experience to the Company which 
ensures that no individual or group of individuals is able to dominate the board’s decision-making.

There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the board for decision.  The board establishes overall 
Group strategy, approves the Group’s operating budget and monitors performance through the receipt of monthly 
reports and management accounts. The approval of significant acquisitions and divestments is a matter reserved for 
the board although it delegates to the boards of the Company’s principal operating subsidiaries the responsibility for 
approving smaller acquisitions and disposals.  The monetary limits of such delegations are formally documented and 
the exercise of such delegated authorities is reported to the board at each of its meetings.  There are also authority 
levels covering capital expenditure which can be exercised by the boards of the Company’s principal operating 
subsidiaries.  Beyond these levels of authority, projects are referred to the board for approval.  Other matters reserved 
for the board include:

Approval of half-yearly financial reports and annual financial statements. l

Treasury policies. l

 Internal controls and risk management. l

Succession planning. l

Corporate responsibility. l

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is clearly established, set out in 
writing and agreed by the board.  The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for day to day management and performance 
of the Group’s businesses.  The Chairman’s role is to ensure good corporate governance which includes leading the 
board, ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its role and setting its agenda.  For scheduled board meetings, the 
agenda includes reports from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer.  The January meeting focuses 
on strategy, the March meeting deals with the approval of operating budgets for the coming financial year, while the 
May and November meetings cover the approval of the annual financial statements and the half-yearly financial report 
respectively.   



45Experian Annual Report 2008

In
tro

du
ctio

n
2 – 5

B
u

sin
ess review

6 – 37
F

in
an

cial statem
en

ts
65 – 144

G
o

vern
an

ce
C

o
rp

o
rate g

o
vern

an
ce statem

en
t

Members of senior management below board level are often invited to make presentations to the board and participate 
in certain aspects of the strategy and budget reviews.

The Chairman, with assistance from the Company Secretary, ensures that the board is supplied in a timely manner 
with information in a form and of a quality to enable it to discharge its duties.  The practice is to have the agenda and 
supporting papers circulated to the board one week before each meeting. Additional information is also provided 
to directors including monthly management accounts irrespective of whether or not a board meeting is scheduled 
for that month. Arrangements are made for non-executive directors to visit the Group’s businesses to see their 
operations at first hand and have the opportunity to discuss them with local management.  During the year under 
review, the non-executive directors visited Group business locations in Dublin, London and Nottingham to update 
and develop their knowledge.  Additionally, at board meetings, the directors receive specific business presentations 
from senior management.

All directors received an induction programme on joining the board which took into account their particular 
experience and background. The process included receipt of information on the Group, its activities and operating 
procedures, meetings with senior management and site visits and was continued during the year under review.  

During the year under review, the Chairman and the non-executive directors met as a group without the executive 
directors present.  At the conclusion of that meeting, the Chairman withdrew so that, under the leadership of the senior 
independent director, the non-executive directors had the opportunity to discuss any appropriate issues and appraise 
the Chairman’s performance, taking account of the views expressed by the executive directors. The Chairman and the 
non-executive directors plan to hold these meetings at least annually.    
 
There is in place a procedure under which the directors, in furtherance of their duties, are able to take independent 
professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense. The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring 
that board procedures are followed and all directors have access to his advice and services.  The Company Secretary 
is also responsible for advising and supporting the Chairman and the board on all corporate governance matters, 
a responsibility he discharges in part through his membership of the corporate governance committee.  The 
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter reserved for the board as a whole. 

A formal evaluation of the performance of the board and its committees was conducted during the year ended 31 
March 2008.  The evaluation process involved interviews by independent consultants with all members of the board, 
as well as those senior executives who regularly attend board and committee meetings. The interviews focused on 
the following seven areas: board process and functioning; induction and training; board performance; governance 
and independence of non-executive directors; committee functioning, performance and composition; and the 
Chairman’s role and board composition, including succession planning. The independent consultants presented 
their findings to the board which concluded that appropriate actions had been identified to address areas that could 
be improved and that overall, the board and its committees continued to operate effectively. The Chairman conducted 
an individual evaluation of each director and the senior independent director conducted an individual evaluation 
of the Chairman. The board is satisfied that each director continues to contribute effectively and demonstrates 
commitment to the role.   

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, all the directors retired at the first annual general meeting 
of the Company held in Dublin, Ireland in July 2007.  All of the directors, being eligible and recommended by the board, 
were elected. In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, each director is required to retire at the annual 
general meeting held in the third calendar year following the year in which he or she was elected or last re-elected by 
the Company.  In order to ensure an orderly re-election process Fabiola Arredondo, Paul Brooks and Roger Davis will 
retire at the annual general meeting in July 2008 and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. 

The letters of appointment of the non-executive directors, including the Chairman, are available for inspection by any 
person at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours and at the annual general meeting (for 15 minutes 
prior to the meeting and during the meeting).

Board committees
The board has appointed a number of committees including the following principal committees: nomination committee, 
remuneration committee and audit committee.  The terms of reference of each of the principal board committees 
are available on request from the Company Secretary and can also be viewed on the Company’s website at www.
experiangroup.com.  Further details of these committees, including their membership and remits, are set out below.  In 
order to ensure that undue reliance is not placed on particular individuals and so that their understanding of the Group’s 
businesses continues to develop, all of the non-executive directors currently continue to be members of each of the 
principal board committees.
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  Board* Board Nomination Remuneration Audit 
  (Scheduled) (Ad hoc) committee* committee* committee*

John Peace 6/6 1/1 2/2 n/a n/a
Don Robert  6/6 1/1 1/2 n/a n/a
Paul Brooks 6/6 1/1 n/a n/a n/a
Fabiola Arredondo  5/6 1/1 2/2 5/5 4/4
Laurence Danon 6/6 1/1 1/2 5/5 3/4
Roger Davis 6/6 1/1 2/2 5/5 4/4
Sean FitzPatrick 5/6 1/1 2/2 5/5 4/4
Alan Jebson 6/6 1/1 2/2 4/5 4/4
Sir Alan Rudge 6/6 1/1 2/2 5/5 4/4
David Tyler 5/6 1/1 1/2 5/5 3/4

*  References throughout this corporate governance statement (including the above table) to board and board committee meetings held during the year under 
review include meetings held immediately after the year-end, which were rescheduled from March 2008 to early April 2008 due to the timing of Easter.

The attendance of directors at meetings of the board and the principal board committees of which they are members 
was as follows for the year ended 31 March 2008:

Nomination committee 
The nomination committee leads the process for board appointments and makes recommendations to the board. The 
members of the nomination committee are the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and the seven non-executive 
directors.  The committee is chaired by John Peace except in respect of any matter concerning succession to the 
chairmanship of the Company when the senior independent director takes the chair.  The Company Secretary is the 
secretary to the committee and the Group HR Director and Global Talent Director usually attend meetings.     

The nomination committee has written terms of reference covering the authority delegated to it by the board.  Its 
duties include reviewing regularly the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience 
required) of the board and making recommendations to the board with regard to any changes, giving full consideration to 
succession planning for directors and other senior executives taking into account the challenges and opportunities facing 
the Company and identifying and nominating, for the approval of the board, candidates to fill board vacancies as and when 
they arise.  

The process used to appoint new directors of the Company begins with the nomination committee agreeing 
the scope of the role and engaging a specialist search company to identify potential directors.  The committee 
reviews the short list submitted by the search company and interviews prospective candidates, who are, if thought 
suitable, recommended to the board, which makes the appointment.  At the first annual general meeting following the 
appointment, the director appointed must retire in accordance with the articles of association and offer himself or 
herself for election, providing the shareholders with an opportunity to approve the appointment.  

The committee met twice during the year under review (including one meeting that was held immediately after 
the year-end which was originally scheduled to take place during March 2008 but was rescheduled to early April 
2008 due to the timing of Easter) and reviewed the membership of the principal board committees, the process for 
evaluating the performance of the board, committees and individual directors and reviewed the Group Global Talent 
Management process and succession plans. In addition, it reviewed the results of the Global Employee Survey and made 
recommendations to the board following the formal evaluation of the board. No changes to the membership of the board 
or its principal committees were recommended to the board as a result of the work of the committee during the year. 

Remuneration committee
The remuneration committee comprises the seven non-executive directors including David Tyler who did not fully 
meet the independence criteria on his appointment.  Roger Davis is the chairman of the committee.  The Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer are invited to attend committee meetings and both attended all of the committee meetings 
in the year under review.  In the year under review, the committee met five times (including one meeting that was held 
immediately after the year-end which was originally scheduled to take place during March 2008 but was rescheduled 
to early April 2008 due to the timing of Easter).  The Company Secretary is the secretary to the committee and the 
Group HR Director and Global Head of Reward usually attend.  The application of corporate governance principles in 
relation to directors’ remuneration is described in the report on directors’ remuneration on pages 51 to 63.
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Audit committee
The audit committee comprises the seven non-executive directors including David Tyler who did not fully meet the 
independence criteria on his appointment.  Alan Jebson is the chairman of the committee.  Following a review of 
principal board committee membership during the year, it remains the opinion of the nomination committee and the 
board that David Tyler’s membership of the committee remains in the best interests of shareholders and provides 
significant recent and relevant financial experience and an in-depth knowledge of Experian’s business, with him 
having been the group finance director of GUS plc from February 1997 until the demerger in October 2006.  No questions 
or concerns regarding the independence of audit committee members were raised during the performance evaluation 
process performed during the year under review and the board considers David to be independent in character and 
judgement.  The other members of the committee bring a wide range of international business experience from positions at 
the highest level worldwide (the directors’ biographical details appear on pages 38 and 39).  The Chairman, Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer are normally invited to attend committee meetings.  The external auditors, the Executive 
Vice President, Risk Management and the Head of Global Internal Audit generally also attend committee meetings. 
In addition, the committee meets the external auditors and the Head of Global Internal Audit separately without 
management present.  The Company Secretary is the secretary to the committee.

The main role and responsibilities of the committee are set out in written terms of reference which are reviewed 
annually.  The committee’s principal oversight responsibilities include financial reporting, internal controls and risk 
management systems, whistleblowing and fraud, internal audit and external audit (including auditor independence).

The committee will meet not less than three times a year.  During the year under review, it met four times (including one 
meeting that was held immediately after the year-end which was originally scheduled to take place during March 2008 
but was rescheduled to early April 2008 due to the timing of Easter).  

The audit committee has a structured programme linked to the Group’s financial calendar.  During the year under 
review, the committee undertook the following activities: 

Reviewed the preliminary results announcement and the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2007 and considered  l
reports from the external auditors identifying any significant financial reporting issues or judgemental issues requiring its 
attention;

Monitored and reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and its terms of reference;  l

Monitored and reviewed the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process  l
covering all aspects of the audit service provided;

Reviewed the Group treasury policy; l

Reviewed the annual financial statements of the Group pension scheme;  l

Reviewed its own performance, constitution, training needs and terms of reference to ensure it is operating at maximum  l
effectiveness; 

Reviewed the half-yearly financial report for the six months ended 30 September 2007 and considered reports from the  l
external auditors identifying any significant financial reporting or judgmental issues requiring its attention;

Reviewed and approved audit plans for the external and internal auditors; l

Considered risk management and assurance reports and internal audit reports on the results of internal audit reviews,  l
significant findings, management action plans and timeliness of resolution;

Reviewed reports on the Group’s risk management process and major potential risks and controls; l

Reviewed, at each scheduled meeting, a report on any material litigation involving Group companies; and l

Reviewed arrangements by which Group employees may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in  l
financial reporting or other matters.



48 Experian Annual Report 2008

Corporate governance statement continued

One of the primary responsibilities of the audit committee is to make recommendations to the board in relation to the 
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors. A number of factors were taken into account by 
the committee in assessing whether to recommend the external auditors for re-appointment. These included:

The quality of reports provided to the audit committee and the board and the quality of advice given; l

The level of understanding demonstrated of the Group’s businesses and its sectors; and l

The objectivity of the external auditors’ views on the controls around the Group and their ability to co-ordinate a global  l
audit working to tight deadlines.

As part of this review, the committee reviewed a report on the external auditors’ own quality control procedures.

The committee recognises that auditor independence is an essential part of the audit framework and the assurance 
it provides and the committee has established control processes to safeguard the objectivity and independence of 
the external auditors and to ensure that the independence of the audit work undertaken by the external auditors is not 
compromised.

The committee has established a policy covering the type of non-audit work that can be assigned to the external 
auditors. The auditors may only carry out such services provided that such advice does not conflict with their statutory 
responsibilities and ethical guidance. These services are:

 Further assurance services – where the external auditors’ deep knowledge of the Group’s affairs means that they may be  l
best placed to carry out such work. This may include, but is not restricted to, shareholder and other circulars, regulatory 
reports and work in connection with acquisitions and divestments.

Taxation services – where the external auditors’ knowledge of the Group’s affairs may provide significant advantages which  l
other parties would not have. Where this is not the case, the work is put out to tender.

General – in other circumstances, the external auditors may provide services, provided that proposed assignments are put out  l
to tender and decisions to award work are taken on the basis of demonstrable competence and cost effectiveness. However, 
certain areas of work are specifically prohibited including work related to accounting records and financial statements that will 
ultimately be subject to external audit; management of, or significant involvement in, internal audit services; any work that could 
compromise the independence of the external auditors; and any other work that is prohibited by UK ethical guidance.

The audit committee chairman’s pre-approval is required before the Group uses non-audit services that exceed 
financial limits set out in the policy.

The committee receives half-yearly reports providing details of assignments and related fees carried out by the 
external auditors in addition to their normal work. Fees in respect of such assignments carried out in the year under 
review are set out in note 7 to the financial statements on page 90.

Corporate governance committee 
In addition to the principal board committees, the board has established a number of other committees including a 
corporate governance committee with written terms of reference to assist in its monitoring of corporate governance 
issues.  The committee’s responsibilities include keeping under review all legislative, regulatory and corporate 
governance developments that might affect the Company’s operations and making recommendations to the board 
in relation to them. The members of the corporate governance committee are the Chairman, the Chief Executive 
Officer, the senior independent director and the Company Secretary.  The committee met during the year and 
made recommendations to the board on a number of matters resulting from the changing regulatory and legislative 
environment. 

Accountability and audit 
The board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its 
effectiveness. Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives and can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. The board 
reviews annually the effectiveness of the key procedures which have been established to provide internal control.
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The board confirms that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks 
faced by the Group, including those risks relating to social, environmental and ethical matters. This process was in 
place throughout the year under review and up to the date of approval of the annual report and meets the requirements 
of the Code. For certain joint arrangements, the board places reliance upon the systems of internal control operating 
within the partners’ infrastructure and the obligations upon partners’ boards relating to the effectiveness of their own 
systems. In the board’s view, the information it received was sufficient to enable it to review the effectiveness of the 
Group’s system of internal control in accordance with the ‘Internal Control Revised Guidance for Directors’ contained 
in the Code. The audit committee has kept under review the effectiveness of this system of internal control and has 
reported regularly to the board.

The key procedures, which operated throughout the year, were as follows:

Risk assessment:

The Group set out its objectives clearly as part of its planning process and organisation design. These objectives  l
were then incorporated as part of the planning cycle and supported by the use of both financial and non-financial key 
performance indicators.

Risks were methodically anticipated, identified, assessed and appropriately mitigated as part of an enterprise-wide risk  l
management process operating throughout the Group on an ongoing basis and headed by an Executive Risk Management 
Committee.

Senior management made presentations on risk to the audit committee, which reported regularly to the board on the risks  l
facing the Group’s business.

The audit committee has delegated responsibility from the board for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s  l
internal controls and received its annual report on the controls over these risks. This included risks arising from social, 
environmental and ethical matters.

Control environment and control activities:

The Group has established procedures for delegated authority which ensure that decisions that are significant, either  l
because of their value or the inherent degree of risk, are taken at an appropriate level.

The Group has implemented appropriate strategies to deal with each significant risk that has been identified. These  l
strategies include internal controls, insurance and specialised treasury instruments.

The Group sets out principles, policies and standards to be adhered to throughout its business. These include risk  l
identification, management and reporting standards, ethical principles and practice, accounting policies, treasury policy, 
information security policy and policy on fraud and whistleblowing. 

Information and communication:

The Group has a comprehensive system of budgetary control, including monthly performance reviews for each major  l
business. These reviews are at a detailed level within each region and global business line and at a high level for the board.

On a monthly basis, the achievement of business objectives, both financial and non-financial, was assessed using a range  l
of performance indicators. These indicators were regularly reviewed to ensure that they remain relevant and reliable.

The Group had whistleblowing procedures in place for employees to report suspected improprieties. l

Monitoring:

A range of procedures were used to monitor the effective application of internal control in the Group, including  l
management assurance, through the ongoing risk management process, and independent assurance, through internal 
audit reviews and reviews by specialist third parties.

The internal audit department’s responsibilities include reporting to the audit committee on the effectiveness of internal control  l
systems, focusing on those areas considered to be of greatest risk to the Group.

Follow-up processes were used to ensure there was an appropriate response to changes and developments in risks and  l
the control environment.
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Relations with shareholders
The Company gives high priority to communicating with its shareholders and does this through its annual and half-
yearly reports, at the annual general meeting and through the processes described below.

Although most shareholder contact is with the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, supported 
by management specialising in investor relations, it is the responsibility of the board as a whole to ensure that a 
satisfactory dialogue with shareholders takes place.

The Chairman’s statement on page 2 and the business review on pages 6 to 37 include a detailed review of the business 
and future developments in relation to the business. A full annual report is sent to all shareholders who so elect.  For those 
shareholders who do not elect to receive a full annual report, notification is sent of the availability of the annual report 
on the Company’s website at www.experiangroup.com.  The Company’s website also contains up to date information on 
Group activities, published financial results, information on dividends and a financial calendar.

At each of its scheduled board meetings, the board reviews a report of important or relevant issues raised by 
shareholders during the course of meetings and discussions with them. Additionally, the board (and in particular, 
the non-executive directors) obtains an independent insight into the views of major shareholders through research 
commissioned with a third party adviser across a balanced sample of Experian’s shareholders. The latter typically 
control some 20 to 30% of the Company’s issued share capital. The findings of the research are presented to the 
board by the third party adviser.

There is a direct line of communication to the Chairman available to shareholders, particularly if there are issues of 
concern, whether about performance, strategy or governance.  Sir Alan Rudge, the senior independent director, is also 
available should shareholders have concerns which contact through the normal channels of the Chairman, the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer fails to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.  Shareholders are 
also offered the opportunity to meet the Company’s non-executive directors.

Shareholders who do not support a particular annual general meeting resolution do not always seek engagement 
with companies to explain their actions or request further information. Where appropriate, the Company is keen to 
understand the reasons for any lack of support and to have a dialogue with shareholders on these issues. Its policy, 
therefore, insofar as is practicable, is to seek engagement with shareholders on such issues.

All directors, including the chairmen of the audit, remuneration and nomination committees, attend the annual general 
meeting and are available to answer shareholders’ questions.  Shareholders have the opportunity to send in questions prior 
to the annual general meeting and Experian responds to those shareholders who do.  

Voting at the annual general meeting takes place by way of poll.  The results of voting at the annual general meeting 
are announced and details of the votes are also added to the Company’s website, www.experiangroup.com, as soon 
as possible after the meeting.
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Report on directors’ remuneration

Role of the remuneration committee
The remuneration committee has responsibility for the governance of Experian’s remuneration strategy, in particular: 

recommending Experian’s senior management remuneration policy and that of the Chairman of the board; l

determining individual remuneration packages for executive directors and those of certain senior managers; l

communicating to shareholders on remuneration policy and the committee’s work on behalf of the board;  l

reviewing and recommending the design of the Group’s share schemes; and  l

overseeing the Group’s executive pension arrangements. l

The remuneration of non-executive directors is a matter reserved for the board as a whole.  No director is involved in any 
discussions as to his or her own remuneration.

The remuneration committee has written terms of reference which are available on request from the Company Secretary and are 
also published on the Company’s website www.experiangroup.com.

Committee membership and meetings
The remuneration committee comprises the following non-executive directors: 

Roger Davis (Chairman)
Fabiola Arredondo 
Laurence Danon 
Sean FitzPatrick
Alan Jebson 
Sir Alan Rudge 
David Tyler

All members of the committee are provided with an induction in the role of the committee and the operation of its 
terms of reference on first appointment.  

In the year under review the committee has met five times (including one meeting which was held immediately after the 
year-end which was originally scheduled to take place during March 2008 but was rescheduled to early April 2008 due 
to the timing of Easter).  Attendance at these meetings is set out in the corporate governance statement on page 46.  
 
Advisers
In making its decisions, the committee consults with the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the Group 
HR Director and the Global Head of Reward who are invited to attend meetings of the committee as and when 
appropriate.  They are not permitted to participate in discussions or decisions relating to their own remuneration.

The committee has access to independent consultants to ensure that it receives independent advice. During the 
year under review Deloitte and Touche LLP (‘Deloitte’) were appointed as advisers to the committee.  Deloitte also 
provided unrelated advisory and tax services to the Company during the year.  Kepler Associates (‘Kepler’) were 
re-appointed to provide valuation data for Experian’s long-term incentive plans and to provide independent advice 
on target calibration for the Annual Bonus Plan.  Linklaters LLP were re-appointed to provide legal and general 
remuneration advice.  
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Remuneration policy 
Experian’s policy is to use reward to drive business performance. The remuneration committee has determined that 
the policy set out in last year’s remuneration report remains appropriate for the coming year.  The remuneration 
policy will be regularly reviewed by the committee.

The remuneration committee aims to have in place a remuneration policy for Experian which is consistent with its 
business objectives, and which can:

pay market-competitive base salary levels but no higher than this; l

provide competitive performance-related compensation which influences performance, and helps attract and retain  l
executives by providing the opportunity to earn substantial rewards for outstanding performance leading to long-term 
shareholder value creation;

apply demanding performance conditions to deliver sustained profitable growth in all our businesses, thereby aligning  l
incentives with shareholders’ interests;

provide a balanced portfolio of incentives - bonus, options and shares which align both short term (one year) and longer  l
term (three years plus) performance such that sustainable growth and value are delivered for our shareholders;

drive accountability and transparency and align remuneration to the interests of shareholders; and l

deliver competitive benefits to underpin the other components of the remuneration package. l

Consistent with the policy, the committee reviews the elements of the remuneration package relative to other 
comparable organisations and other companies of similar size and scope to Experian.  Performance-related 
incentives are calibrated at upper quartile levels for outstanding performance to produce a highly leveraged package 
if the Group’s growth objectives are attained.  Experian is committed to performance-related pay at all levels within 
the organisation.  All employees are encouraged to become shareholders in the Company.

Service contracts
Each executive director has a rolling service contract which can be terminated by the Group giving twelve months’ 
notice.  In the event of termination of the director’s contract, any compensation payment is calculated in accordance 
with normal legal principles, including the application of mitigation to the extent appropriate in the circumstances of 
the case.  Further details can be found on page 62.

Remuneration of executive directors
Each element of reward is important and has a specific role in achieving the aims of the remuneration policy.  The 
combined potential remuneration from annual bonus and share awards outweighs the other elements and is subject 
to performance conditions, thereby placing the majority of the package at risk.

The remuneration package is weighted towards the performance-related elements of the package.  In fair value terms, 
the proportion of total remuneration (excluding pension and benefits) which is shown as variable is approximately 
71% as illustrated.

Report on directors’ remuneration

Fair value of executive director remuneration

Variable 71%

Fixed 29%
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The remuneration committee selects performance measures that align with the Group’s strategic goals and that are 
transparent to both directors and shareholders.  Each element in the remuneration package is designed to support the
achievement of different corporate objectives as outlined below.  

Element     Purpose     Delivery     Policy

  Base salary –  Reflects the competitive 
market salary level for the 
individual and their role

–  Takes account of 
personal contribution, 
skills and performance

–  In cash

–  Pensionable

–  Individual contribution

–  Reviewed annually

  Annual bonus/  
Co-investment Plan

–  Rewards the achievement  
of annual financial 
targets

–  Participants are eligible 
to invest bonus in 
Experian shares with 
the opportunity to earn 
matching shares  

–  Aligns with shareholder 
interests through 
delivery  
in shares

–  Cash/deferred shares

–  Annual

–  Non-pensionable

–  Profit before tax is the  
key measure

  Experian Performance 
Share Plan

–  Aligns with shareholder 
interests through 
delivery  
in shares 

–  Rewards sustained 
growth in shareholder 
value and out-
performance relative 
to peers

–  Acts as a retention tool 
(demerger awards are 
released five years after 
date of grant)

–  Shares,  subject to 
performance conditions

–  Profit before tax over a 
three-year period

–  Relative total shareholder 
return against a tailored 
comparator group 
measured over a three- 
year period, subject 
to satisfactory overall 
financial performance

  Experian Share  
Option Plan 

–  Direct link to value 
creation through share 
price growth as major 
objective

–  Aligns with shareholder 
interests through 
delivery  
in shares

–  Acts as a retention tool

–  Shares under option,  
subject to performance 
conditions

–  EPS growth measured 
over a three-year period

  Sharesave –  Opportunity for 
employees to invest in 
Experian shares over 3 or 
5 year savings period

–  Shares under option 
bought with accumulated 
savings at the end of the 
savings period.

–  Employees must be in 
employment on qualifying 
date in order to participate

  Pension –  To provide market 
competitive post-
retirement benefits

–  Monthly contributions –  Defined benefit scheme

–  Defined contribution 
including US 401k 
arrangements
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Fixed remuneration
Base salary and benefits
To ascertain a job’s market value, external remuneration consultants annually review and provide data on market salary 
levels and advise the remuneration committee.  Executive directors’ salaries are benchmarked against a mid-market level 
of main board executive directors from the comparator companies in the FTSE 100 Index and other global comparators 
which reflects the market in which Experian recruits talent.  Before making a final decision on individual salary awards, 
the committee assesses each director’s contribution to the business, to reflect individual performance and experience.  
When setting base salary levels for executive directors, the committee considers pay levels and increases throughout the 
organisation.

In addition to base salary, executive directors receive certain benefits in kind including a car or car allowance, private 
health cover and life assurance.

Pensions
The retirement age for directors is 60 under arrangements which broadly provide a pension of two thirds of final 
salary, life assurance and ill health and dependants’ pensions.  Incentive payments (such as annual bonuses) are not 
pensionable.

The Company has had arrangements in place for a number of years which were designed to ensure that UK directors 
who were affected by the 1989 HM Revenue and Customs earnings cap were placed in broadly the same position as those 
who were not.  With the agreement of the trustees of the scheme, the Company decided to retain a notional earnings cap 
for its existing and future employees, with the exception of new senior executives who are pensioned on full base salary 
up to the Lifetime Allowance.

The Company has put security in place for the unfunded pension entitlements of UK executives affected by the earnings 
cap, by establishing Secured Unfunded Retirement Benefits Schemes (‘SURBS’).  Further details are provided under 
the disclosure of the arrangements for each director.

Variable remuneration
Annual Bonus Plan and Co-investment Plan
Annual bonuses are awarded for achieving profit growth targets. The committee believes that linking incentives to profit 
growth helps to reinforce Experian’s growth objectives. Targets are calibrated by Kepler using benchmarks that reflect 
stretching internal and external expectations.  Benchmarks include: broker earnings estimates; earnings estimates for 
competitors; straight-line profit growth consistent with median/upper quartile shareholder returns over the next three to 
five years; latest projections for the current year; budget; strategic plan; and long-term financial goals

2007/08 bonus
As disclosed at the time of the GUS demerger, it was agreed that for annual bonuses paid in respect of the year 
ending 31 March 2008 and subsequently, the maximum bonus opportunity for executive directors would be 200% of 
base salary.  This level of annual bonus would only be paid if Experian’s financial performance surpassed stretching 
financial targets and hence would only be payable if exceptional results were delivered to shareholders.  The 
enhancement to the bonus opportunity for the executive directors was intended to recognise the global market 
in which Experian operates and accompanied the reduction of the matching opportunity under the Experian Co-
investment Plan to 1:1 (previously 2:1 under the GUS Co-investment Plan).  Executive directors will not participate 
in the Experian Co-investment Plan in respect of the 2007/08 fiscal year and bonus payments will be made in cash. 
Experian performed strongly in 2007/08 in a particularly difficult trading environment and the bonuses payable to 
executive directors in respect of this financial year disclosed on page 58 are representative of this strong performance 
in uncertain market conditions in which global targets were met and annual bonuses were paid at target levels.

Report on directors’ remuneration continued



55Experian Annual Report 2008

In
tro

du
ctio

n
2 – 5

B
u

sin
ess review

6 – 37
F

in
an

cial statem
en

ts
65 – 144

G
o

vern
an

ce
R

ep
o

rt o
n

 d
irecto

rs’ rem
u

n
eratio

n

2008/09 bonus
For annual bonus earned in respect of the 2008/09 fiscal year, which may be up to 200% of base salary, executive directors 
will be offered their first opportunity since the GUS demerger to defer receipt of their bonus and invest it in Experian 
Group Limited shares (‘invested shares’) under the Experian Co-investment Plan. The release of the invested shares will 
be deferred for three years.  The number of invested shares acquired on behalf of the executive will be matched with an 
additional award of shares (‘matching shares’) on a 1:1 basis.  The release of these matching shares to participants will 
be subject to the achievement of a performance condition, details of which will be disclosed in next year’s remuneration 
report.  The release of these shares will be deferred for three years including the original bonus deferral.  If an executive 
resigns during the three-year period he/she will forfeit the right to the matching shares and the associated dividends.  The 
executive would be entitled to retain any invested shares. 

With respect to Responsible Investment Disclosure, the committee has ensured that environmental, social and 
governance risks are not raised by the incentive structure for senior management inadvertently motivating irresponsible 
behaviour.

Experian Performance Share Plan
The Experian Performance Share Plan was approved by GUS shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting 
(‘EGM’) on 29 August 2006.  An initial award was made to participants, including the executive directors, on 11 October 
2006.  There will be no further awards to executive directors under this plan until June 2009.  Performance shares are 
‘free’ Experian shares for which no exercise price is payable.  Shares are allocated subject to a performance condition 
which is measured over a three-year performance period with a five-year vesting period for demerger awards and a 
three-year vesting period for subsequent awards.  Dividend equivalents will accrue on these awards.

For the demerger awards granted in October 2006, the performance condition is in two separate parts; 50% of the 
award will be subject to achievement against a sliding scale of growth in profit before tax (‘PBT’) which the Company 
considers to be an appropriate measure as this represents one of the key strategic drivers of the business.  The 
threshold for vesting will be growth in PBT of 7% per year at which 25% of this part of the award will vest rising, on a 
straight-line basis, to 100% of this part of the award vesting if PBT grows at a rate of 14% per year.

The remaining 50% of the award will vest according to the performance of Experian’s Total Shareholder Return 
(‘TSR’) (defined as share price movement plus reinvested dividends) relative to the following group of peer 
companies:  

Acxiom Fair Isaac Harte-Hanks

Alliance Data Systems Fidelity National Financial IAC/Interactive Corp

Bisys Group Fimalac  Moodys

Capita Group First American Reuters Group

Choicepoint First Data Thomson

Dun & Bradstreet Fiserv  Total System Services

Equifax Global Payments

.
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This bespoke comparator group consists of Experian’s main competitors in the business areas and countries in which the 
Group operates.  This part of the award will not vest if Experian’s TSR is below the median return for the comparator group.  
Once Experian achieves median performance, 25% of this portion of the award may vest rising on a straight-line basis to 100% 
of this part of the award vesting for upper quartile performance or better.  This can be summarised as follows:

 

Performance conditions for future awards under the Experian Performance Share Plan will be decided in advance of grant.

Experian Share Option Plan
The Experian Share Option Plan was approved by GUS shareholders at the EGM on 29 August 2006.  It is intended to 
align shareholder and participant interests through share price growth.  Options will vest subject to the satisfaction 
of a stretching target which will be set prior to options being granted.  No options will be granted to executive 
directors under the plan until June 2009. 

For each of the long term incentive plans, external consultants will be used to calculate whether, and the extent to 
which, the performance conditions have been met.

Experian Sharesave
All executive directors and employees of Experian and any participating subsidiaries are eligible to participate in 
Sharesave if they have been employed by Experian for a qualifying period.  Sharesave provides an opportunity for 
employees to save a regular monthly amount which at the end of the savings period may be used to purchase Experian 
Group Limited shares under option at a discount of up to 20% on the market value.    

Report on directors’ remuneration continued

Total Shareholder Return Performance Scale
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Performance graph
The committee has chosen to illustrate TSR  for GUS plc until demerger and Experian Group Limited against the 
FTSE 100 Index for the period since listing on 11 October 2006 to 31 March 2008.  The FTSE 100 Index is the most 
appropriate index against which TSR should be measured, as it is a widely used and understood index of leading UK 
companies.  

The above graphs show that, at 31 March 2008, a hypothetical £100 invested in GUS and subsequently, Experian would 
have generated a total return of £198 compared with a return of £120 if invested in the FTSE 100 Index on 31 March 
2000 and a total return of £153 compared with a return of £192 if invested in the FTSE 100 Index on 31 March 2003.
 
Shareholding guideline
The committee believes that it is important that executives build a significant shareholding to align their interests 
with those of shareholders.  Therefore the committee has established guidelines under which the Chief Executive 
Officer should hold the equivalent of two times his base salary in Experian Group Limited shares and other executive 
directors, one times their base salary, including shares held under the Co-investment and Reinvestment plans.  Each 
of the executive directors meets these guidelines.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration policy
The board’s policy on non-executive directors’ remuneration is that:

Fees should reflect individual responsibilities and membership of board committees. l

Remuneration should be in line with recognised best practice and sufficient to attract, motivate and retain high calibre non- l
executives.

Remuneration should be a combination of cash fees (paid quarterly) and Experian Group Limited shares (bought annually in  l
the first quarter of the financial year).

Non-executive directors are obliged to comply with a shareholding requirement explained below.  Any tax liability connected  l
to these arrangements is the responsibility of the individual director.

The use of Experian Group Limited shares in the package helps align the interests of non-executive directors with those of shareholders. l

Non-executive directors do not receive any benefits in kind.  The Chairman has the use of a company car and private  l
healthcare.

The fees of non-executive directors were reviewed in 2008 and will next be reviewed in 2009.  Fees are reviewed in the light 
of market practice in FTSE 100 companies and anticipated number of days worked, tasks and responsibilities.   

Base fee €106,154
Senior independent director €19,437
Chair of audit committee  €31,398
Chair of remuneration committee  €23,922

Experian requires its non-executive directors to build up a holding in the Company’s shares equal to one times their annual 
fee.  One quarter of their annual fee is used to purchase shares in the Company each year until they reach this holding.  
Such shares are included in the table of directors’ interests on page 63.  Non-executive directors do not participate in 
executive share schemes or other employee share scheme arrangements.  Non-executives do not have service contracts 
but each has a letter of appointment.  No non-executive director’s letter of appointment provides for any termination 
payment.  Each appointment is for a renewable three-year term but may be terminated by either party on one month’s 
written notice.

Performance as GUS (to 6 October 2006)
 
Performance as Experian (from 6 October 2006)
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The information set out in the tables below has been subject to audit. 

Annual remuneration 
The following table shows an analysis of the emoluments of the individual directors for the full year ended 31 March 2008.  All 
amounts shown are in the currency received by directors.  Annual bonuses are shown in the year they were earned.

 Salary and  Annual

 fees(1) bonus Benefits(2)  Total 2008 Total 2007

 ‘000s ‘000s ‘000s ‘000s ’000s

Chairman
John Peace (3) £450 – £27 £477 £1,784

Executive directors 
Don Robert (4)(5) $1,400 $1,400 $941 $3,741 $2,341
Paul Brooks (4)(6) £440 £440 £75 £955 £724

Non-executive directors     
Fabiola Arredondo (7) €136 – – €136 €28
Laurence Danon (7) €107 – – €107 €33
Roger Davis (7) €131 – – €131 €39
Sean FitzPatrick (7) €107 – – €107 –
Alan Jebson (7) €162 – – €162 €41
Sir Alan Rudge (7)                                    €126 – – €126 €89
David Tyler (7) €908 – €27 €935 €1,638

The following shares were purchased for the non-executive directors on 29 June 2007 in line with the shareholding guidelines 
for non-executive directors described above.  The non-executive directors not described below already meet the shareholding 
guidelines.   The value reported below is included within the remuneration reported in the above table.

 No. of Value

 shares £

Fabiola Arredondo  1,299 8,184
Laurence Danon  1,665 10,490
Alan Jebson  2,157 13,590
Sir Alan Rudge 409 2,577

Notes:  

1.  Non-executive directors receive an additional fee of €5,981 per trip to attend board meetings where such attendance involves inter-continental travel from their 
home location.  This results in disparities between their fee levels relative to those fees listed on page 57.

2.  Benefits to executive directors include life insurance, private health care, company car and fuel allowance where applicable. Don Robert relocated to the UK in 
the period under review.  The figures for him include a one-off disturbance allowance of £100,000.  In addition, he will receive an annual expatriate allowance of 
£550,000 for the duration of his assignment; a pro-rata payment in respect of the financial year under review is included above. Benefits to Paul Brooks include a 
one-off payment in respect of his relocation back to the UK.

3.  John Peace is not eligible for a performance bonus, pension contributions or further long term incentive awards but will continue to receive a company car 
benefit and coverage under the Company’s private healthcare arrangements.

4.  Don Robert and Paul Brooks were appointed to the board of Experian Group Limited on 6 July 2006.  Experian Group Limited pays directors’ fees to Don Robert 
and Paul Brooks of €106,154 per annum in respect of their services as directors of Experian Group Limited.  Such fees form part of, and are not additional to, the 
remuneration set out in the table.  

5. During the year under review, Don Robert served as a non-executive director of First Advantage Corporation for which he received a fee of US$53,000 
 (2007: $51,000).  

6.  Figures for the prior period for Paul Brooks have been restated in sterling to allow a like for like comparison.

7.  Fees for the non-executive directors represent their fees for the period under review. For the prior period, and as is permissible under Jersey law, the Company 
met the cost of the tax payment on their taxable travel expenses where applicable. Experian has since gained agreement from the Irish tax authorities that these 
expenses are non-taxable and thus for the period under review these expenses are not reported.  Fees in respect of the previous period for the non-executive 
directors were for the period since appointment which for some individuals was three months or less.  Fees in respect of 2007 for Sir Alan Rudge and David Tyler 
were paid by Experian Finance plc (formerly GUS plc).  David Tyler was previously an executive director of GUS plc and Sir Alan Rudge was a non-executive 
director.  With effect from 1 April 2007, David Tyler ceased to be a director of Experian Finance plc by reason of redundancy; his contract provided for a notice 
period of 12 months or contractual pay in lieu of notice for 12 months.  Contractual pay on redundancy includes base salary (£545,000), car and fuel allowance 
(£18,200) and is included above.  These payments were made in April 2007 and are in addition to the non-executive director’s fee of €106,154. Figures for the prior 
period for David Tyler have been restated in euros to allow a like for like comparison.

Report on directors’ remuneration continued
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Share options
Details of options granted to directors, under the GUS executive share option schemes, are set out in the table below:

       Market  Total Date from
  Number of     price at  number of which
 Date of options at  Exercise   day of  options at exercisable/
 Grant 1 April 2007  price Granted Exercised exercise Lapsed 31 March 2008 expiry date

Chairman
John Peace(1) 11.06.01 348,032 344.8p – 348,032 506.5p –  11.06.04 - 29.09.07
 06.06.02 176,882 367.5p – – – –  06.06.05 - see note 1
 19.06.03 176,251 380.1p – – – –  19.06.06 - see note 1
 19.06.03 7,600 394.7p – 7,600 506.5p –  19.06.06 - 29.09.07
 01.06.04 166,894 455.4p – – – –  01.06.07 - see note 1
 31.05.05 166,625 483.1p – – – –  31.05.05 - see note 1
 02.06.06 167,912 521.1p – – – –  02.06.06 - see note 1
        854,564

Executive directors         
Don Robert(2) 01.06.04 239,699 455.4p – – – –  11.10.06 - 30.05.11
 31.05.05 132,091 483.1p – – – –  31.05.08 - 30.05.15
 02.06.06 133,184 521.1p – – – –  02.06.09 - 01.06.16
        504,974 
Paul Brooks 02.12.03 49,852 426.0p – 49,852 632.0p –  02.12.06 - 01.12.09
      02.12.03 7,851 426.0p – 7,851 632.0p –  02.12.06 - 01.12.13
 01.06.04 50,671 455.4p – 50,671 632.0p –  01.06.07 - 31.05.14
 01.06.04 6,344 472.9p – 6,344 632.0p –  01.06.07 - 31.05.14
 31.05.05 59,368 483.1p – – – –  31.05.08 - 30.05.15
 02.06.06 54,883 521.1p – – – –  02.06.09 - 01.06.16  
        114,251 

Non-executive directors       
David Tyler(3) 06.06.02 103,407 367.5p – – – –  06.06.05 - 05.06.12
 19.06.03 102,595 380.1p – – – –  19.06.06 - 18.06.13
 19.06.03 7,600 394.7p – 7,600 532.0p –  19.06.06 - 18.06.13
 01.06.04 103,212 455.4p – – – –  01.06.07 - 31.05.14
 31.05.05 103,494 483.1p – – – –  31.05.08 - 30.05.15
 02.06.06 104,585 521.1p – – – –  02.06.09 - 01.06.16
        517,293 

Notes:

1.  John Peace ceased to be an employee of the Group on 31 March 2007.  Under the GUS Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme rules, he has six months from 
this date to exercise his options, excluding any periods during which he is restricted from dealing in the Company’s shares.  Disclosures will be made in respect of 
the exercise of these options at the appropriate time.

2.  Options granted to Don Robert prior to his date of appointment to the board of GUS plc in April 2005 were granted under the GUS North America Stock Option Plan. 
The 2005 and 2006 grants were made under the GUS Executive Share Option Scheme.

3.  Options were granted to David Tyler in respect of his role as an executive director of GUS plc.  On the demerger of GUS plc, he was eligible to exchange his options 
for equivalent options over Experian shares on the same basis as other participants in the relevant GUS plans except that he was not eligible to participate in the 
Experian Reinvestment Plan.  To the extent that his options were rolled over, the new options did not vest or lapse in connection with his termination of employment.  
In respect of such options, David Tyler is treated as a good leaver for the purposes of the relevant plan rules if he ceases to be a non-executive director of the 
Company except as a result of voluntary resignation or actions which would constitute gross misconduct.  The relevant performance conditions apply.

4.  No options were granted to executive directors on the GUS demerger.

All options in the above table were originally granted under the GUS Executive Share Option Schemes.  Options which were 
granted before 2005 were exchanged for equivalent options over Experian shares on demerger of GUS plc.  Unvested options 
granted in 2005 and 2006 (other than options granted under the GUS 1998 Approved Executive Share Option Scheme) were 
automatically exchanged for equivalent options over Experian shares.  The performance condition for options granted in 
2005 and 2006 is based on the growth of Experian’s Earnings per Share in excess of the UK Retail Price Index from the date of 
demerger. 

The market price of Experian Group Limited shares at the end of the financial year was 367.0p; the highest and lowest prices 
during the financial year were 633.5p and 358.0p respectively.
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Sharesave options
Details of Sharesave options granted to directors under the SAYE share option scheme are set out below:

       Market  Total Date from
  Number of     price at  number of which
  options at  Exercise   day of  options at exercisable/
  1 April 2007  price Granted Exercised exercise Lapsed 31 March 2008 expiry date

Executive directors         

Paul Brooks  2,488 378.6p – 2,488 520.0p – – 01.09.07-29.02.08
 

Performance Share Plans  
In May 2005 and June 2006, executive directors received a share award under the GUS Performance Share Plan with a 
face value of one times salary.  On the GUS demerger, these awards were automatically rolled over into Experian shares.  
As approved by GUS shareholders at the EGM on 29 August 2006, awards equivalent to two times salary were made to 
executive directors on demerger in October 2006 under the Experian Performance Share Plan.  Both awards are outlined 
below.  For awards granted under the rolled over GUS Performance Share Plan, the performance condition is based on 
Total Shareholder Return against the comparator group adopted by Experian (see page 55) since the demerger. Rolled 
over awards will not vest if Experian’s Total Shareholder Return (defined as share price movement plus reinvested 
dividends) is below the median return for the comparator group.  For these rolled over awards only, once Experian 
achieves median performance, 40% of the award may vest rising on a straight-line basis to 100% of the award vesting for 
upper quartile performance or better.

  Plan Plan Plan Plan Total
  shares  shares shares shares plan
  held at  awarded vested lapsed shares at Normal
  1 April  during the during the during the 31 March vesting
  2007(1) period period period 2008 date

Chairman
John Peace (2)

 31.05.05 166,625 – – –  31 May 2008
 02.06.06 167,912 – – –  2 June 2009
      334,537
Executive directors    
Don Robert 
 31.05.05 132,091 – – –  31 May 2008
 02.06.06 133,184 – – –  2 June 2009
 11.10.06 246,698 – – –  11 October 2011
      511,973 
Paul Brooks
 31.05.05 29,683 – – –  31 May 2008
 02.06.06 27,440 – – –  2 June 2009
 11.10.06 132,837 – – –  11 October 2011 
      189,960 
Non-executive directors    
David Tyler(3)

 31.05.05 103,494 – – –  31 May 2008
 02.06.06 104,585 – – –  2 June 2009 
      208,079 

Notes:

1.  On demerger, GUS Performance Share Plan awards made in 2005 and 2006 were replaced with equivalent awards over Experian shares.    

2.  As John Peace’s employment with Experian Finance plc (formerly GUS plc) ended on 31 March 2007, under the rules of the GUS Performance Share Plan, 
all outstanding awards will vest subject to the performance condition on the vesting date specified in the table, and will be time pro-rated to 31 March 2007.  
Disclosures will be made in respect of vesting at the appropriate time.

3.  David Tyler’s awards were rolled over on the basis described in footnote 3 to the Share Options table on page 59.

Report on directors’ remuneration continued
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GUS Co-investment Plans and Experian Reinvestment Plans
Awards to directors under the 2004 and 2005 cycles of the GUS Co-investment Plan and North America 
Co-investment  Plan were reinvested in awards under the Experian Reinvestment Plan and North America Reinvestment 
Plan at demerger.  Awards under the 2006 cycle were automatically rolled over into equivalent awards over Experian 
shares under the rules of the GUS Co-investment Plan.  Release of matching shares under the Experian Reinvestment 
Plan is subject to the achievement of performance conditions (see note 3 to the table below), the retention of reinvested 
awards and continued employment.  No further awards will be made under the Reinvestment Plan.  Matching shares 
awarded under the GUS Co-investment Plans will be released subject to continued employment.

      Co-
     Co- investment 
   Reinvestment Special investment Plan Invested  Experian Total
 Invested  Matching Matching Reinvestment Plan Matching and Share share plan
 shares at  shares at Award at award at invested share matching price on price shares at
 1 April  1 April 1 April 1 April shares options shares date of on date 31 March Vesting
 2007 2007 2007 2007 awarded awarded released release of award 2008 date

Chairman
John Peace(1)(2)          
11.06.04 72,394 295,436 – 370,386 – – – – 560.0p  11 October 2009
13 06.05 75,712 308,976 – 387,361 – – – – 560.0p  11 October 2009
12.06.06 22,124 59,640 – – – – 81,764 600.0p 560.0p  12 June 2009
          1,510,265

Executive directors          
Don Robert
11.06.04 139,516 279,032 837,096 – – – – – 560.0p  11 October 2011
13.06.05 147,685 295,371 886,112 – – – – – 560.0p  11 October 2011
12.06.06 121,689 243,378 – – – – – – 560.0p  12 June 2009
29.06.07 – – – – 74,340 106,307 – – 630.0p  29 June 2010
          3,130,526 
Paul Brooks
11.06.04 51,910 103,820 311,460 – – – – – 560.0p  11 October 2011
13 06.05 53,003 106,005 318,016 – – – – – 560.0p  11 October 2011
12.06.06 55,215 110,432 – – – – – – 560.0p  12 June 2009
29.06.07 – – – – 44,544 63,999 – – 630.0p  29 June 2010
          1,218,404

Non-executive directors          
David Tyler(1) (4)

12.06.06 13,742 37,043 – – – – – – 560.0p  12 June 2009
          50,785

Notes:  

1.  Invested shares for John Peace and David Tyler were purchased with their bonus net of tax.  The matching share awards are made on a gross basis and are taxed 
at the point of vesting.  Invested shares for Don Robert and Paul Brooks were calculated by reference to the bonus gross of tax.  

2.  John Peace was not eligible to participate in the Reinvestment Plan. He was granted a special reinvestment award over Experian Group Limited shares which will 
vest after three years if he continues to be Chairman of Experian Group Limited, subject to the good leaver reasons included in the rules.  Details of this award 
were disclosed in the circular to GUS shareholders dated 26 July 2006.  Invested shares in respect of the 2006 GUS Co-investment Plan award for John Peace 
were released following the end of his employment with Experian Finance plc on 31 March 2007 in accordance with the plan rules.  The matching share option 
in respect of this award also became exercisable in full on this date.  Under the Plan rules, participants are entitled to dividend equivalents on exercise of this 
matching share option. John Peace received £9,019 in respect of dividend equivalents payable on his matching share options.

3.  The first 50% of a matching award under the Experian Reinvestment Plan will vest subject to satisfaction of a performance condition relative to a sliding scale 
of growth in Experian Group’s PBT over a three year period.  The threshold for vesting will be growth in PBT of 7% per annum at which 30% of this part of the 
matching award will vest, rising on a straight-line basis to 100% of this part of the award vesting at growth in PBT of 14% per annum.  This part of the matching 
award will vest in two equal tranches on the fourth and fifth anniversaries of grant.  The remaining 50% of the matching award will be time-based and will vest as 
to 50% of this part of the matching award on the third anniversary of grant and as to 25% on each of the fourth and fifth anniversaries of grant.

4.  David Tyler’s 2004 and 2005 GUS Co-investment Plan awards vested at the time of the GUS plc demerger, and he did not reinvest these awards. David Tyler’s 2006 
GUS Co-investment Plan awards were rolled over on the basis described in footnote 3 to the Share Options table on page 59.
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Executive directors’ annual pension  
Don Robert is provided with benefits through a Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan (‘SERP’) which is a defined 
benefit arrangement in the US. The figures below are in respect of his SERP entitlement.  He also participates in a US 
defined contribution arrangement and the employer contributions to this arrangement during the year were $3,692 (2007: 
$9,423).

Paul Brooks is a member of the registered Experian Pension Scheme.  His benefits within the Scheme are restricted by an 
earnings cap.  However, benefits in excess of this cap are provided for through the Experian Limited SURBS.  The pension 
figures below reflect both his registered and non-registered entitlement.    

The table below provides the disclosure of the above directors’ defined benefit pension entitlements in respect 
of benefits from registered schemes and non-registered arrangements.
      Additional
      pension Transfer
 Accrued  Accrued   Change earned to value
 pension at pension at Transfer Transfer in transfer 31 March 2008 of the
 31 March  31 March value at value at value (less (net of increase
 2008 2007 31 March 31 March director’s inflation) (less director’s
 per annum per annum 2008 2007 contributions) per annum contributions)
 (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7)
 $’000 pa $’000 pa $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 pa $’000

Don Robert 311 252 5,586 4,006 1,580 49 877
 
 £’000 pa £’000 pa £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 pa £’000

Paul Brooks 101 74 1,254 995 251 24 294

Six former directors of Experian Finance plc (formerly GUS plc) have been receiving unfunded pensions from the Company for 
a number of years. The pensions of two of these former directors were transferred into the registered scheme in October 2006. 
Three of the former directors are now members of the SURBS that provides security for the unfunded pensions of executives 
affected by the HMRC earnings cap.  In addition, one former director, who retired with effect from 31 March 2007, is now receiving 
an unfunded pension through the SURBS.  The total unfunded pensions paid to the former directors was £539,644  (2007: 
£445,646).

Notes:

Columns (1) and (2) represent the deferred pension to which the director would have been entitled had they left the Group at 31 March 2008 and 2007 respectively.

Column (3) is the transfer value of the pension in column (1) calculated as at 31 March 2008 based on factors supplied by the actuary of the relevant group pension 
scheme in accordance with UK actuarial guidance note GN11.  

Column (4) is the equivalent transfer value, but calculated as at 31 March 2007 on the assumption that the director left service at that date.

Column (5) is the change in transfer value of accrued pension during the year net of contributions by the director.

Column (6) is the increase in pension built up during the year, recognising (i) the accrual rate for the additional service based on the pensionable salary in force at 
the year end, and (ii) where appropriate the effect of pay changes in real (inflation adjusted) terms on the pension already earned at the start of the year.

Column (7) represents the transfer value of the pension in column (6).

The disclosures in columns (1) to (5) are equivalent to those required by the UK Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations and those in columns (6) and (7) are 
those required by the UK Listing Authority’s Listing Rules.  

Directors’ service contracts
In accordance with Don Robert’s service agreement with Experian Services Corporation (‘ESC’) dated 7 August 2006, 
if his employment is terminated by ESC without cause he is entitled to the following severance payments: continued 
payment of monthly salary for 12 months from the termination date; 12 months’ participation in welfare benefit plans in 
which he participated during his employment; and an annual bonus based on a 100% achievement of objectives payable in 
equal monthly instalments for 12 months.  The same amounts are payable by ESC if Don Robert terminates the contract: 
(i) following material breach by ESC; or (ii) for Good Reason following a change of control of ESC.  Good Reason means, 
during the six month period following a change of control, a material and substantial adverse reduction or change in Don 
Robert’s position.  

Don Robert’s service agreement also provides for the following payments to be made if the agreement terminates in the 
event of Don Robert’s death (in addition to payments due but unpaid before death): a pro rata annual bonus for the bonus 
year to the termination date based on ESC’s performance in that bonus year; and a lump sum equal to 12 months’ base salary 
to be paid no later than 90 days after the date of death.  If the employment is terminated due to Don Robert’s disability he is 
entitled to the bonus as described immediately above (in addition to payments due but unpaid before the termination).  Any 

Report on directors’ remuneration continued
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deferred compensation obligations with respect to Don Robert will be governed in accordance with the relevant plan rules.  
This is consistent with US employment practice.

In his service agreement dated 2 April 2007, upon termination of employment at the absolute discretion of Experian 
Group Limited, Paul Brooks may be paid base salary alone, pension contributions and benefits in kind (excluding bonus 
or incentive payments unless the Company in its absolute discretion determines otherwise) in lieu of six months’ notice 
(where notice is given by Paul Brooks) or 12 months’ notice (where notice is given by Experian Group Limited).

Save for the benefits described above, the service contracts of each of the executive directors do not provide for any 
benefits on the termination of employment.  

Combined Code
The constitution and operation of the remuneration committee are in accordance with the principles of good governance 
and the Combined Code on Corporate Governance published by the UK Financial Reporting Council.

Directors’ interests
The beneficial interests of the directors, together with non-beneficial interests, in the ordinary shares of the Company are 
shown below.  Share options granted to directors, awards under the Performance Share Plan and the contingent interests 
in matching shares under the Co-investment and Reinvestment Plans are shown on pages 59 to 61.  The directors have no 
interests in the debentures of the Company or in any shares or debentures of the Company’s subsidiaries.

 Shares held in 
 Experian Group Limited
 at 31 March 2008(1)

Chairman
John Peace  1,136,713

Executive directors 
Don Robert (2) 493,578
Paul Brooks (2) 220,074

Non-executive directors 
Fabiola Arredondo  99,299
Laurence Danon  1,665
Roger Davis  220,199
Sean FitzPatrick 46,700
Alan Jebson  42,157
Sir Alan Rudge   13,994
David Tyler 590,069

Notes:

 1.  For regulatory purposes, as at 20 May 2008, there had been no changes in the above interests.  

 2.  The number of Experian shares for Don Robert and Paul Brooks reflects 304,441 and 134,655 shares respectively awarded to them under the legacy GUS 
North America Co-investment Plan and the Experian North America Reinvestment Plan as shown in the table on page 61 in addition to their personal 
holding.  Don Robert and Paul Brooks have an unconditional right to receive Experian shares at the end of the relevant three-year deferral period.  Prior to 
receipt they do not have dividend or voting rights in respect of such shares.

On behalf of the board remuneration committee
Charles Brown
Company Secretary
20 May 2008
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the Group financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and for 
preparing the Company financial statements and the report on directors’ remuneration in accordance with applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

The directors are responsible for preparing financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted for use in the European Union and IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB), of the state of affairs of the Group and the profit or loss of the Group and a true and fair view, 
in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of affairs and of the profit or loss of the 
Company for that period.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements on pages 66 to 141, appropriate accounting policies 
have been consistently applied, supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates, that the Group financial 
statements comply with IFRSs as adopted for use in the European Union and that, with regard to the Company’s financial 
statements, all accounting standards which they consider applicable have been followed.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclose, with reasonable 
accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the Group and the Company and which enable them to ensure that the Group 
financial statements comply with applicable law and Article 4 of the International Accounting Standards Regulation and 
the Company financial statements and the report on directors’ remuneration comply with the Companies (Jersey) Law 
1991 as applicable.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Company has a website which contains up to date information on Group activities and published financial results.  The 
directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of statutory and audited information on the Company’s website.  
Jersey legislation and United Kingdom regulation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from requirements in other jurisdictions.

The directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss 
of the Company and the Group taken as a whole; and the management report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the Group taken as a whole, together with a description 
of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

By order of the board 
Charles Brown
Company Secretary
20 May 2008
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Experian Group Limited

We have audited the Group financial statements of Experian Group Limited for the year ended 31 March 2008 which comprise 
the Group income statement, the Group balance sheet, the Group cash flow statement, the Group statement of recognised 
income and expense and the related notes. These Group financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies 
set out therein.
 
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Experian Group Limited for the year ended 31 
March 2008 and on the information in the report on directors’ remuneration that is described as having been audited. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report and the Group financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the 
statement of directors’ responsibilities.
 
Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only 
for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Article 110 of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
 
We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group 
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with 
the Group financial statements. The information given in the directors’ report includes that specific information presented in 
the business review that is cross referred from the directors’ report.
 
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
 
We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 
Combined Code (2006) specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the United Kingdom Financial Services Authority, 
and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal controls cover all 
risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and 
control procedures.
 
We read the other information contained in the annual report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
Group financial statements. The other information comprises only the Group financial highlights, the directors’ report, 
the chairman’s statement, the business review, the board of directors, the unaudited part of the report on directors’ 
remuneration, the corporate governance statement and the other items as referred to on the contents listing. We consider 
the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group 
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the 
Group financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors 
in the preparation of the Group financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
 
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in 
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we have also evaluated 
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the Group financial statements. 

Opinion

In our opinion:

the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,   l
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2008 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and   l
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the Group financial statements. l

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London, United Kingdom

20 May 2008

Report of the auditors: 
Group financial statements
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Group income statement
 for the year ended 31 March 2008

   2008 2007
    (Restated)
    (Note 2)
  Notes US$m US$m

Revenue 5 4,130  3,481
Cost of sales   (2,016)  (1,681)

Gross profit  2,114  1,800 
Distribution costs   (394)  (301)
Administrative expenses  (1,066) (1,026)
Operating expenses   (1,460)  (1,327)

Operating profit  654  473 
Finance income  206  158 
Finance expense  (361)  (304)
Net financing costs 10 (155)  (146)
Share of post-tax profits of associates   50  67 

Profit before tax 5 549  394 
Group tax expense  11 (97)  (68)

Profit after tax for the financial year from continuing operations   452  326 
Profit for the financial year from discontinued operations  12 –  137 

Profit for the financial year   452  463 

Attributable to:    
Equity shareholders in the parent company  437  462 
Minority interests   15  1 

Profit for the financial year   452  463 

    
Earnings per share 13 US cents US cents

 – Basic  43.3 49.9
 – Diluted  42.7 49.3
    
Earnings per share from continuing operations 13 US cents US cents

 – Basic  43.3  35.1
 – Diluted  42.7 34.7
    
Non-GAAP measures  2008 2007
Reconciliation of profit before tax to Benchmark PBT  Notes US$m US$m

Profit before tax 5 549  394 
exclude: exceptional items  9 63  162 
exclude: amortisation of acquisition intangibles 9 121 76 
exclude: goodwill adjustment 9 2  14 
exclude: charges in respect of the demerger-related equity incentive plans 9 49  24 
exclude: financing fair value remeasurements 9 29  35 
exclude: tax expense on share of profit of associates  5 6  9 

Benchmark PBT – continuing operations  5 819  714 

    
Benchmark earnings per share from continuing operations 13 US cents US cents

 – Basic  60.3 59.7
 – Diluted  59.5 59.1
    
   US cents US cents

Full year dividend per share   14 18.5 17.0
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   2008 2007
    (Restated)
    (Note 2)
  Notes US$m US$m

Non-current assets   
Goodwill 15 3,605  2,219 
Other intangible assets 16 1,473  804 
Property, plant and equipment 17 604  519 
Investments in associates 18 295  286 
Deferred tax assets 31(a) 26  103 
Retirement benefit assets 27 182  141 
Trade and other receivables 21(a) 9  11 
Available for sale financial assets 28(a) 42  38 
Other financial assets  29(a) 24  36 

    6,260  4,157 

Current assets   
Inventories 19 4  4 
Trade and other receivables 21(a) 1,031  794 
Current tax assets  16  17 
Other financial assets 29(a) 6  53 
Cash and cash equivalents  22 151  907 

    1,208  1,775 

Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 23 (1,279)  (1,031)
Loans and borrowings  24(a) (39) (1,025)
Current tax liabilities  (110) (166)
Provisions 26 (84) (9)
Other financial liabilities  29(a) (50) – 

    (1,562) (2,231)

Net current liabilities   (354) (456)

Total assets less current liabilities   5,906 3,701

Non-current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 23 (57)  (52)
Loans and borrowings  24(a) (2,811) (1,348)
Deferred tax liabilities 31(a) (170)  (68)
Provisions 26 (27) (30)
Retirement benefit obligations 27 (50) (56)
Other financial liabilities  29(a) (674)  (40)

    (3,789) (1,594)

Net assets   2,117 2,107 
    
Equity    
Share capital 32 102  102 
Share premium 32 1,442  1,435 
Retained earnings 32 16,065  16,341 
Other reserves  32 (15,653) (15,773)

Total shareholders’ equity  1,956  2,105 
Minority interests in equity  32 161  2 

Total equity  32 2,117  2,107 

The financial statements on pages 66 to 130 were approved by the board on 20 May 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

John Peace
Director

Group balance sheet
 at 31 March 2008
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   2008 2007
    US$m US$m

Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity    
Cash flow hedges  –  (10)
Net investment hedge  –  84 
Reversal of net investment hedge  (7)  4 
Fair value losses on available for sale financial assets  (1) – 
Actuarial gains in respect of defined benefit pension schemes  15 65 
Currency translation differences  96 465 
Tax charge in respect of items taken directly to equity   (16)  (7)

Net income recognised directly in equity (note 32)   87 601 
Profit for the financial year   452  463 

Total income recognised for the year   539  1,064 
    
Total income recognised for the year attributable to:    
Equity shareholders in the parent company  524  1,063 
Minority interests   15  1 

Total income recognised for the year   539 1,064

Group statement of recognised income 
 and expense
 for the year ended 31 March 2008
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Group cash flow statement
 for the year ended 31 March 2008

   2008 2007
  Notes US$m US$m

Cash generated from operations 33(a) 1,165 942 
Interest paid 33(b) (169)  (133)
Interest received  37 27 
Dividends received from associates  36  39 
Tax paid   (91)  (121)

Net cash inflow from operating activities   978  754 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (105)  (114)
Purchase of other intangible assets   (239) (161)
Purchase of available for sale financial assets and investments in associates  (9)  (42)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 33(c) (1,720)  (118)
Disposal of subsidiaries  33(d) 6  258 

Net cash flows used in investing activities   (2,067)  (177)

Cash flows from financing activities    
Purchase of own shares by employee trusts  (6)  (75)
Issue of ordinary shares  7  1,525 
Receipt of share option proceeds and sale of own shares  34  59 
New borrowings 33(e) 1,438  – 
Repayment of borrowings 33(e) (746)  (1,423)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments  (5)  (4)
Net receipts from derivative financial instruments held to manage currency profile  54  39 
Dividends paid   (193)  (401)

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) financing activities   583  (280)

Exchange and other movements   19  166 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents – continuing operations  (487)  463 
Net increase in cash equivalents – discontinued operations:     
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  –  550 
Cash held by Home Retail Group at demerger  –  (518)
    –  32 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (487)  495 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents     
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April   634  139 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (487)  495 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year   33(f) 147  634 

     
Non-GAAP measures  2008 2007

Reconciliation of net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents to movement in net debt US$m US$m

Net debt at 1 April   (1,408) (3,437)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (487)  495 
(Increase)/decrease in debt  (707)  1,427 
Debt held by Home Retail Group at demerger  –  435 
Exchange and other movements (including movements in respect of debt)   (97)  (328)

Net debt at the end of the financial year (note 25)   (2,699) (1,408)
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1. Corporate information

Experian Group Limited (the ‘Company’), which is the ultimate parent company of the Experian Group, is incorporated and 
registered in Jersey under Jersey Companies Law as a public company limited by shares. The Company’s shares are listed on 
the London Stock Exchange. Experian is a business services group.  

The consolidated financial statements of Experian Group Limited and its subsidiary undertakings (‘Experian’ or ‘the Group’) 
were approved by the Board on 20 May 2008. 

2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The Group financial statements are presented in US Dollars as this is the most representative currency of the Group’s 
operations. The financial statements are rounded to the nearest million. They are prepared on the historical cost basis 
modified for the revaluation of certain financial instruments. The principal exchange rates used in preparing the Group 
financial statements are set out in note 6.

In compliance with the requirements for companies whose shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange, the financial 
statements of the Company are included within the Group annual report and they are set out on pages 132 to 141. These 
are presented in Sterling as that is the functional currency of the Company. In determining its functional currency, the 
directors have taken account of the fact that the assets and liabilities and cash flows of Experian Group Limited are primarily 
denominated in Sterling. The Company has elected to prepare its financial statements under UK accounting standards.

The Group financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted 
for use in the European Union (the ‘EU’) and as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).  These are those 
standards, subsequent amendments and related interpretations issued and adopted by the IASB that have been endorsed by the 
EU. Although the Company is incorporated and registered in Jersey, the Group financial statements include disclosures sufficient 
to comply with those parts of the UK Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

As indicated below, during the year ended 31 March 2008, there have been a number of new accounting standards, amendments 
and interpretations effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2007. None of these has had a material impact 
on the results or financial position of the Group for the year under review although, in accordance with the requirement of 
IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, gains and losses on fair value hedges are now reported on a gross basis in the 
Group income statement. Comparative figures have been restated and the effect is to increase financing income and financing 
expense for the year ended 31 March 2007 by US$55m. In addition pension assets and liabilities are now reported separately in 
the Group balance sheet where there is no right of offset and accordingly liabilities of US$50m are now reported as retirement 
benefit obligations at 31 March 2008. Comparative figures have been restated and the effect is to increase non-current assets 
and non-current liabilities at 31 March 2007 by US$56m. With these exceptions, the financial information has accordingly been 
prepared on a consistent basis with that reported for the year ended 31 March 2007 although, following the acquisition of a 
70% stake in Serasa during the year, the segmental information presented in respect of the Americas in note 5 is now further 
analysed to show North and Latin America as separate segments.

In connection with the acquisition of the 70% stake in Serasa, the Group entered into a put/call option agreement over the 
remaining shares held by the minority shareholders. In accordance with IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’ the put element is shown as a liability stated at the net present value of the expected future payments and in 
accordance with IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ this liability is shown as a non-current financial liability. The 
net present value of the put option was reassessed at 31 March 2008 and the change since the date of acquisition has been 
recognised in the Group income statement within finance income.
 
On 10 October 2006, the separation of Experian and Home Retail Group was completed by way of demerger. As part of the 
demerger, the Company became the ultimate holding company of GUS plc (now Experian Finance plc) and related subsidiaries 
and shares in GUS plc ceased to be listed on the London Stock Exchange on 6 October 2006. Trading of shares in the Company on 
the London Stock Exchange commenced on 11 October 2006. As reported last year, the demerger transaction was accounted for 
using the principles of merger accounting set out in FRS 6 ‘Acquisitions and Mergers’ and UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (‘UK GAAP’). This policy, which does not conflict with IFRS, reflected the economic substance of the transaction.  
The distribution to GUS plc shareholders of shares in Home Retail Group plc was accounted for as a dividend in specie.

Recent accounting developments
IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and the complementary amendment to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial 
Statements – Capital Disclosures’ are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007 and accordingly 
have been adopted by the Group during the year. Their effect is to revise and enhance previous disclosures required by IAS 
32 and IAS 30 ‘Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions’ but they have no material 
effect on the results and net assets of the Group. As indicated above, in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 7, gains 
and losses on fair value hedges are now reported on a gross basis in the Group income statement and comparative figures 
have been restated. Revised and enhanced disclosures have been given in these financial statements in respect of the year 
ended 31 March 2008 and comparative information has been restated as appropriate.  The qualitative analysis required to be 
given in connection with IFRS 7 is set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

Notes to the Group financial statements
 for the year ended 31 March 2008
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

The adoption of IFRIC 8 ‘Scope of IFRS 2’, IFRIC 9 ‘Re-assessment of embedded derivatives’, IFRIC 10 ‘Interim financial 
reporting and impairment’ and IFRIC 11 ‘IFRS 2 – Group and treasury share transactions’ which became effective during the 
year has had no material effect on the results and net assets of the Group. 

Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to both years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They cease to be consolidated 
from the date that the Group no longer has control. As required by IFRS 3 all business combinations are accounted for using 
the purchase method.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated on 
consolidation.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the  
asset transferred.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with the policies adopted by the Group for the purposes of the Group’s 
consolidation. The Group financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary 
undertakings for the financial year ended 31 March 2008.

A list of the principal subsidiaries is given in note Q to the parent company financial statements.

Equity minority interests  
The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with parties external to the Group. 
Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the Group that are recorded in the Group income statement. 
Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill, being the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant 
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.

Associates 
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally achieved by a shareholding 
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. The equity method is used to account for investments in associates and 
investments are initially recognised at cost.

The Group’s share of net assets of its associates and loans made to associates are included in the Group balance sheet. The 
Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition after tax profits or losses is recognised in the Group income statement, 
and its share of post-acquisition movements in equity is recognised in the Group’s equity. The cumulative post-acquisition 
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. The carrying amount of an investment in an associate 
is tested for impairment by comparing its recoverable amount to its carrying amount whenever there is an indication that the 
investment may be impaired.

Revenue recognition
Revenue represents the fair value of the sale of goods and services to external customers, net of value added tax and other 
sales taxes, rebates and discounts, including the provision and processing of data, subscriptions to services, software and 
database customisation and development and the sale of software licences, maintenance and related consulting services.

Revenue in respect of the provision and processing of data is recognised in the year in which the service is provided. 
Subscription revenues, and revenues in respect of services to be provided by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified 
period of time, are recognised on a straight line basis over those periods. Customisation, development and consulting revenues 
are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the work. Revenue from software licences is recognised upon delivery. 
Revenue from maintenance agreements is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the maintenance period.

Where a single arrangement comprises a number of individual elements which are capable of operating independently of 
one another, the total revenues are allocated amongst the individual elements based on an estimate of the fair value of each 
element. Where the elements are not capable of operating independently, or reasonable measures of fair value for each 
element are not available, total revenues are recognised on a straight line basis over the contract period.

Foreign currency translation
Presentation currency
The Group’s financial statements are presented in US Dollars. 
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued) 

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency of the relevant Group entity at the exchange rate 
prevailing on the date of the transaction. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Translation differences on monetary items 
are taken to net financing costs in the Group income statement except when deferred in equity, as qualifying net investment hedges 
or cash flow hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary available for sale financial assets are reported as part of the fair value gain or 
loss in equity.

Group undertakings
The results and financial position of Group undertakings whose functional currencies are not US Dollars are translated into 
US Dollars as follows:

Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet date; l

Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the year (unless this average is not a reasonable  l
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses 
are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity. l

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in entities whose functional 
currency is not the US Dollar, and of borrowings and other currency instruments, primarily foreign exchange contracts, 
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to equity. Tax charges and credits attributable to those exchange 
differences are taken directly to equity. When such an entity is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the Group 
income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of such 
entities are treated as assets and liabilities of the entities and are translated at the closing rate.

Share-based payments
IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ applies to equity instruments, such as share options, granted since 7 November 2002.  The 
Group elected to adopt full retrospective application of the standard on all share options and awards granted to employees 
before 7 November 2002 but not vested at the date of transition to IFRS (1 April 2004). 

The Group has a number of equity settled, share-based compensation plans. These include awards in respect of shares in the 
Company made at or after demerger together with awards previously made in respect of shares in GUS plc which were rolled 
over into awards in respect of shares in the Company at demerger. The fair value of options and shares granted is recognised 
as an expense in the Group income statement on a straight line basis over the vesting period after taking into account the 
Group’s best estimate of the number of awards expected to vest. The Group revises the vesting estimate at each balance 
sheet date. Non-market performance conditions are included in the vesting estimates. Expenses are incurred over the vesting 
period. Fair value is measured at the date of grant using whichever of the Black-Scholes model, Monte Carlo model and 
closing market price is most appropriate to the award. Market based performance conditions are included in the fair value 
measurement on grant date and are not revised for actual performance.

Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the fair value of the consideration payable for an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share 
of identifiable net assets of a subsidiary or associate acquired at the date of acquisition. Fair values are attributed to the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that existed at the date of acquisition, reflecting their condition at that 
date. Adjustments are made where necessary to bring the accounting policies of acquired businesses into alignment with those 
of the Group.

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is separately recognised in the balance sheet. Goodwill on acquisitions of 
associates is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Goodwill is stated at cost less any impairment. Goodwill 
is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment. An impairment charge is recognised for any amount by which the 
carrying value of goodwill exceeds its recoverable amount.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (‘CGUs’) and monitored for internal management purposes by geographical 
segment. The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business 
combination in which the goodwill arose. Where the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, 
including goodwill, an impairment loss is recognised in the Group income statement.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold, allocated 
where necessary on the basis of relative fair value.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a business are capitalised separately from goodwill, if those assets 
are identifiable, separable or arise from legal rights and their fair value can be measured reliably. Intangible assets acquired 
separately from the acquisition of a business are capitalised at cost. Certain costs incurred in the developmental phase of 
an internal project are capitalised as intangible assets provided that a number of criteria are satisfied. These criteria include 
the technical feasibility of completing the asset so that it is available for use or sale, the availability of adequate resources to 
complete the development and to use or sell the asset and how the asset will generate probable future economic benefit. 

The cost of other intangible assets with finite useful economic or contractual lives is amortised over those lives. The carrying 
values of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values 
may not be recoverable. If impaired the carrying values are written down to the higher of fair value less costs to sell, and value-in-
use, which is determined by reference to projected future income streams using assumptions in respect of profitability and growth.

Research expenditure is charged in the Group income statement in the year in which it is incurred.

Databases and computer software
Databases
Capitalised databases comprise the fair value of databases acquired as part of a business combination or the data purchase 
and data capture costs of internally developed databases. 

Databases are held at cost and are amortised on a straight line basis over three to seven years. 

Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring into use the 
specific software. Computer software licences are held at cost and are amortised on a straight line basis over three to five years.

Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the 
Group, and that will generate economic benefits beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Computer software 
development costs recognised as assets are amortised on a straight line basis over three to five years.

Other costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.

Acquisition intangibles
Trademarks and licences 
Trademarks and licences are carried at cost and are amortised on a straight line basis over their contractual lives, up to a 
maximum period of 20 years.

Trade names
Legally protected or otherwise separable trade names acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised at fair 
value on acquisition and amortised on a straight line basis over three to fourteen years based on management’s expectations 
to retain trade names within the business.

Customer relationships
Contractual and non-contractual customer relationships acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised at fair 
value on acquisition and amortised on a straight line basis over three to eighteen years based on management’s estimates of 
the average lives of customer relationships.

Completed technology
Completed technology acquired as part of a business combination is capitalised at fair value on acquisition and amortised 
on a straight line basis over three to eight years based on the expected life of the asset.
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is held at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

Land is not depreciated.

Equipment on hire or lease is depreciated over the lower of the useful life and period of the lease. 

Depreciation is provided on other property, plant and equipment at rates calculated to depreciate the cost, less estimated 
residual value based on prices prevailing at the balance sheet date, of each asset evenly over its expected useful life as follows:

Freehold properties are depreciated over 50 years; l

Leasehold premises with lease terms of 50 years or less are depreciated over the remaining period of the lease; and l

Plant, vehicles and equipment are depreciated over two to ten years according to the estimated life of the asset. l

Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in four categories: loans and receivables, derivatives used for hedging, assets at 
fair value through the profit and loss account and available for sale. The classification is determined at initial recognition and 
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets are acquired.

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities more than 12 months after the balance sheet date 
which are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents.

Available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or not 
classified in the other financial asset categories.

Available for sale financial assets are carried at fair value and are included in non-current assets unless management 
intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months of the balance sheet date. Purchases and disposals of such assets are 
accounted for at settlement date. Unrealised gains and losses on available for sale financial assets are recognised directly in 
equity. On disposal or impairment of such assets, the gains and losses in equity are recycled through the income statement. 
Gains and losses recognised on disposal exclude dividend and interest income. 

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence to suggest that available for sale 
financial assets are impaired. In the case of equity securities, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
security below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is impaired. If any such evidence exists, the 
cumulative loss is removed from equity and recognised in the Group income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the 
Group income statement on equity instruments are not subsequently reversed through the Group income statement.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value (original invoice amount) and subsequently measured at this value less 
any provision for impairment. Where the time value of money is material, receivables are carried at amortised cost.

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not 
be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. Such evidence is based primarily on the 
pattern of cash received compared to the terms upon which the trade receivable is contracted. The amount of the provision is 
the difference between the carrying amount and the value of estimated future cash flows. Any charge or credit in respect of 
such provisions is recognised in the Group income statement within administrative expenses. The cost of any irrecoverable 
trade receivables is recognised in the Group income statement immediately within administrative expenses. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the Group income statement within administrative expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, term and call deposits held with banks and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities on the Group balance sheet. For the purposes of the Group cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are as 
defined above, net of bank overdrafts.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

Borrowings and borrowing costs
Borrowings are measured at amortised cost except where they are hedged by an effective fair value hedge, in which case the 
carrying value is adjusted to reflect the fair value movements associated with the hedged risk.

Borrowings are classified as non-current to the extent that the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Incremental borrowing costs which are directly attributable to the issue of debt are capitalised and amortised over the expected 
life of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the year in which they 
are incurred.

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposures to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and certain obligations, including social security obligations, in respect of share-based payments. Derivative 
instruments utilised by the Group include interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps, foreign exchange contracts and equity 
swaps. These are recognised as assets or liabilities as appropriate.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at cost, being the fair value at the date a contract is entered into, and are 
subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Depending on the type of derivative financial instrument, fair value calculation 
techniques include, but are not limited to, quoted market value, present value of estimated future cash flows (of which 
the valuation of interest rate swaps is an example) and exchange rates at the balance sheet date (of which the valuation 
of foreign exchange contracts is an example). The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the 
derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group designates certain 
derivatives as:

Fair value hedges – hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment; or l

Cash flow hedges – hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly  l
probable forecast transaction; or

Net investment hedges – hedges of net investments in operations whose functional currency is not the US Dollar. l

The Group documents the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items at the hedge inception, as well 
as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents 
its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values of hedged items. This effectiveness testing is 
performed at every reporting date throughout the life of the hedge to confirm that the hedge has remained and will 
continue to remain highly effective. Movements on the hedging reserve in equity are shown in the Group statement of 
recognised income and expense.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised or no longer 
qualifies for hedge accounting.

Derivative assets and liabilities are classified as non-current unless they mature within 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Amounts payable or receivable in respect of interest rate swaps are taken to net financing costs over the period of the contract 
together with the interest differential reflected in foreign exchange contracts.

Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedging instruments are recorded 
in the Group income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are 
attributable to the hedged risk. The ineffective portion of a fair value hedge is recognised in net financing costs in the 
Group income statement.
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued) 

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately within cost of sales or 
operating expenses, as appropriate, in the Group income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the Group income statement in the period when the hedged item will impact 
the Group income statement. However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-
financial asset or liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the 
initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no 
longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity 
and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the Group income statement. When a forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is transferred immediately 
to the Group income statement. 

Net investment hedges
Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge of a net investment in an entity 
whose functional currency is not the US Dollar is recognised in equity; the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in net financing costs in the Group income statement. Gains and losses accumulated in equity are 
included in the Group income statement when the entity is disposed of.

Non-hedging derivatives
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately 
in the Group income statement. Costs in respect of derivatives entered into in connection with social security obligations on 
employee share incentive schemes are charged as an employment cost; other changes are charged within financing fair value 
remeasurements in the Group income statement.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their 
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of host contracts, and the host contracts are not carried at fair value 
with unrealised gains or losses reported in the Group income statement.

Fair value estimation
The fair value of derivative financial instruments and other financial assets and liabilities is determined by using market data 
and established estimation techniques such as discounted cash flow and option valuation models.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are not subject to amortisation are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell, and value-in-use.  
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows which are CGUs.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value. Where the time value of money is material, payables are carried at 
amortised cost.

Contingent consideration
Where part or all of the amount of purchase consideration is contingent on future events, the cost of the acquisition initially 
recorded includes a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the contingent amounts expected to be payable in the future. The 
cost of the acquisition is adjusted when revised estimates are made, with corresponding adjustments made to goodwill until 
the ultimate outcome is known.

Where part or all of the amount of disposal consideration is contingent on future events, the disposal proceeds initially 
recorded include a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the contingent amounts expected to be receivable in the future. 
The proceeds are adjusted when revised estimates are made, with corresponding adjustments made to debtors, and profit 
and loss on disposal, until the ultimate outcome is known.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued) 

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided in full on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the Group financial statements.  However, if the deferred tax arises from initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates and laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when:

The Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; and l

It is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and l

The amount has been reliably estimated.  l

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
an interest expense.

Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset when the 
reimbursement is certain.

Leases
Finance leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased 
asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and 
finance charges. The rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other payables. The interest element of the 
lease payments is charged in the Group income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each year. 

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases.

Payments made under operating leases are charged in the Group income statement on a straight line basis over the period of 
the lease. Incentives from lessors are recognised as a systematic reduction of the charge over the period of the lease.

Employee benefits
Defined benefit pension arrangements – funded schemes
The retirement benefit assets recognised in the Group balance sheet comprise the fair value of plan assets of funded 
schemes less the present value of the related defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date, together with adjustments 
for past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent qualified actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using market 
yields available at the assessment date on high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
will be paid, and that have terms to maturity consistent with the estimated average term of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised 
immediately in the Group statement of recognised income and expense. 
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued) 

Past service costs are recognised immediately in the Group income statement, unless the changes to the pension plan are 
conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past 
service costs are amortised on a straight line basis over the vesting period. 

The pension cost recognised in the Group income statement comprises the cost of benefits accrued plus interest on the 
defined benefit obligation less the expected return on the plan assets over the year.

Defined benefit pension arrangements – unfunded schemes 
Unfunded pension obligations are determined in accordance with the principles used In respect of the funded arrangements 
but are disclosed in the Group balance sheet within retirement benefit obligations. 

Defined contribution pension arrangements
The assets of defined contribution schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds. The 
pension cost recognised in the Group income statement represents the contributions paid by the Group to these funds in respect 
of the year.

Post-retirement healthcare obligations
The Group operates schemes which provide post-retirement healthcare benefits to certain retired employees and their dependent 
relatives. The principal scheme relates to former employees in the UK and, under this scheme, the Group has undertaken to 
meet the cost of post-retirement healthcare insurance for all eligible former employees who retired prior to 1 April 1994 and their 
dependants. Such obligations are disclosed in the Group balance sheet within retirement benefit obligations.

The expected cost of these benefits is calculated using an actuarial methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension 
arrangements. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments, and changes in actuarial assumptions, are recognised 
in the Group statement of recognised income and expense. The obligations are valued annually by independent qualified actuaries.

Minority interests in equity 
The minority interests in equity in the Group balance sheet represent the share of net assets of subsidiary undertakings held 
outside the Group. The movement in the year comprises the profit attributable to such interests together with any dividends 
paid, movements in respect of corporate transactions and related exchange differences. 

Where put/call option agreements are in place in respect of shares held by the minority shareholders, the put element of the 
liability is measured in accordance with the requirements of IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ and 
is stated at the net present value of the expected future payments. In accordance with the requirements of IAS 32 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ this liability is shown as a non-current financial liability in the Group balance sheet. The 
change in the net present value of such options in the year is recognised in the Group income statement within finance expense.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing the Group financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The resulting 
accounting estimates, which are based on management’s best judgment at the date of the Group financial statements, will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Taxes
The Group is subject to taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide provision 
for income taxes as there are transactions in the ordinary course of business and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain.  The Group recognises liabilities based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the 
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact on the 
results for the year and the respective income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such determination is made.

Pension benefits
The present value of the defined benefit obligations depends on factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a 
number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the defined benefit obligations and net pension costs include 
the expected long-term rate of return on the plan assets and the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions may 
impact on the amounts disclosed in the Group balance sheet and the Group income statement.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

The expected return on plan assets is calculated by reference to the plan investments at the balance sheet date and is a 
weighted average of the expected returns on each main asset type based on market yields available on these asset types at 
the balance sheet date.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate used to calculate 
the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the defined benefit obligations. In 
determining the discount rate, the Group has considered the prevailing market yields of high-quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity consistent with the estimated 
average term of the related pension liability.

Other key assumptions for defined benefit obligations and pension costs are based in part on market conditions at the 
relevant balance sheet dates and additional information is disclosed in note 27.

Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and makes assumptions 
that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. 

The assumptions in respect of the valuation of the put option associated with the remaining 30% stake of Serasa are set out 
in note 29(d).

Goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to CGUs and monitored for internal management purposes by geographical segment. The allocation is made 
to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. 

The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
goodwill may be impaired. The recoverable amount of each CGU is generally determined based on value-in-use calculations, 
which require the use of cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management, looking forward up to 
five years. Cash flows are extrapolated using estimated growth rates beyond a five year period. The growth rates used do not 
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the businesses in which the segment operates.

In view of the significance of the Serasa acquisition on the Latin American segment goodwill, the impairment review was 
based on the fair value evidenced by that transaction. Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for all other 
CGUs are:

Budgeted gross margin; l

Weighted average real growth rate of 2.25% used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period; and l

Pre-tax discount rate of 11.4% applied to the pre-tax cash flow projections. l

Management determines budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectations for the market 
development. The weighted average growth rates used are consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports.  The 
discount rates used reflect the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital of 8%.

Share-based payments
The Group has a number of equity settled share-based payment arrangements in existence. The assumptions used in 
determining the amounts charged in the Group income statement include judgements in respect of performance conditions 
and length of service together with future share prices, dividend and interest yields and exercise patterns. 

Critical judgements
Management has made certain judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies set out above that 
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Group financial statements. These include the classification of 
transactions between the Group income statement and the Group balance sheet. These accounting policy descriptions 
indicate where judgement needs exercising.
                                                                                                                              
The most significant of these judgements is in respect of intangible assets where certain costs incurred in the developmental 
phase of an internal project are capitalised if a number of criteria are met. Management has made certain judgements and 
assumptions when assessing whether a project meets these criteria, and on measuring the costs and the economic life 
attributed to such projects. On acquisition, specific intangible assets are identified and recognised separately from goodwill 
and then amortised over their estimated useful lives. These include such items as brand names and customer lists, to which 
value is first attributed at the time of acquisition. The capitalisation of these assets and the related amortisation charges are 
based on uncertain judgements about the value and economic life of such items. The economic lives for intangible assets 
are estimated at between three and seven years for internal projects, which include databases, internal use software and 
internally generated software, and between two and 20 years for acquisition intangibles.
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2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued) 

Recent accounting developments
The following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee are effective for the Group’s accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1 April 2008:

IFRS 3 (Revised) ‘Business Combinations’ (*);  l

IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’;  l

IAS 23 ‘Amendment to IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’’ (*); l

IAS 27 (Revised) ‘Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate’ (*); l

IFRIC 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements’ (*); l

IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ (*); l

IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction’ (*). l

(*) These standards are still subject to adoption by the EU.

IFRS 3 (Revised) ‘Business Combinations’ proposes amendments to accounting for business combinations and the 
treatment of associated transaction costs and accordingly will impact on the treatment of future acquisitions in the financial 
statements. With that exception, these accounting standards, amendments and interpretations are not expected to have a 
material effect on the results and net assets of the Group. A number of the developments will lead to additional disclosures.

Use of non-GAAP measures
The Group has identified certain measures that it believes will assist understanding of the performance of the business. The 
measures are not defined under IFRS and they may not be directly comparable with other companies’ adjusted measures. 
The non-GAAP measures are not intended to be a substitute for, or superior to, any IFRS measures of performance but 
management has included them as they consider them to be important comparables and key measures used within the 
business for assessing performance. 

The following are the key non-GAAP measures identified by the Group:

Benchmark profit before tax (‘Benchmark PBT’) 
Benchmark PBT is defined as profit before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, goodwill impairments, charges in respect 
of the demerger-related equity incentive plans, exceptional items, financing fair value remeasurements and taxation.  It 
includes the Group’s share of associates’ pre-tax profit.

Earnings before interest and tax (‘EBIT’)
EBIT is defined as profit before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, goodwill impairments, charges in respect of the 
demerger-related equity incentive plans, exceptional items, net financing costs and taxation.  It includes the Group’s share of 
associates’ pre-tax profit.

Benchmark earnings per share (‘Benchmark EPS’)
Benchmark EPS represents Benchmark PBT less attributable taxation and minority interests divided by the weighted 
average number of shares in issue, and is disclosed to indicate the underlying profitability of the Group.

Exceptional items
The separate reporting of non-recurring exceptional items gives an indication of the Group’s underlying performance. 
Exceptional items are those arising from the profit or loss on disposal of businesses, closure costs of major business units 
or costs of significant restructuring programmes.  All other restructuring costs are charged against EBIT in the segments in 
which they are incurred.

Net debt
Net debt is calculated as total debt less cash and cash equivalents. Total debt includes loans and borrowings (and the fair 
value of derivatives hedging loans and borrowings), overdrafts and obligations under finance leases. Interest payable on 
borrowings is excluded from net debt.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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3. Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate 
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s financial risk management focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group seeks to 
reduce its exposure to financial risks and uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.The Group 
also ensures surplus funds are managed and controlled in a prudent manner which will protect capital sums invested and 
ensure adequate short-term liquidity, whist maximising returns. 

Prior to the demerger in October 2006, the Group transacted primarily in Sterling. The hedging and risk management 
strategies pursued for the years then ended reflected this. Policies adopted since demerger reflect the increased significance 
of the Group’s US Dollar operations. 

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk from future commercial transactions, recognised 
assets and liabilities and investments in, and loans between, entities with different functional currencies. The Group 
manages such risk, primarily within entities whose functional currencies are Sterling, by borrowing in the relevant foreign 
currencies and using forward foreign exchange contracts. The principal transaction exposures are to the US Dollar and  
the Euro.

The Group has investments in entities with other functional currencies, whose net assets are exposed to foreign exchange 
translation risk.  In order to reduce the impact of currency fluctuations on the value of such entities, the Group has a policy 
of borrowing in US Dollars and Euros, as well as in Sterling and of entering into forward foreign exchange contracts in the 
relevant currencies.

At 31 March 2008, if the US Dollar had strengthened/weakened by 6% (2007: 8%) against Sterling, with all other variables held 
constant, profit for the financial year would have been US$1m (2007: n/a) higher/lower, and other components of equity would 
have been unchanged.

At 31 March 2008, if the Euro had strengthened/weakened by 3% (2007: 2%) against Sterling, with all other variables held 
constant, profit for the financial year would have been unchanged (2007: US$1m higher/lower), and other components of 
equity would have been unchanged.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises principally from its net debt and the portions thereof at variable rates which expose the 
Group to such risk. 

The Group has a policy of normally maintaining between 30% and 70% of net debt at rates that are fixed for more than one 
year. The Group’s interest rate exposure is managed by the use of fixed and floating rate borrowings and by the use of interest 
rate swaps to adjust the balance of fixed and floating rate liabilities. The Group also mixes the duration of its borrowings to 
smooth the impact of interest rate fluctuations. 

At 31 March 2008, if interest rates on US Dollar denominated net debt had been 1.4% (2007: 1.4%) higher/lower with all other 
variables held constant, profit for the financial year would have been US$8m (2007: US$12m) lower/higher, mainly as a result 
of higher/lower interest on deposits and floating rate borrowings. 

At 31 March 2008, if interest rates on Sterling denominated net debt had been 0.4% (2007: 0.4%) higher/lower with all other 
variables held constant, profit for the financial year would have been US$8m (2007: US$8m) lower/higher, mainly as a result of 
higher/lower interest on deposits and floating rate borrowings. 

At 31 March 2008, if interest rates on Brazilian Real denominated net debt had been 2.4% (2007: 1.2%) higher/lower, with all 
other variables held constant, profit for the financial year would have been US$1m (2007: n/a) lower/higher, mainly as a result 
of higher/lower interest on deposits and floating rate borrowings.

At 31 March 2008, if interest rates on Euro denominated net debt had been 0.7% (2007: 0.4%) higher/lower with all other 
variables held constant, profit for the financial year would have been US$3m (2007: US$1m) lower/higher, mainly as a result of 
higher/lower interest on deposits and floating rate borrowings.
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk in connection with investments classified on the balance sheet as available for sale financial 
assets. Such investments are primarily held to provide security in connection with unfunded pension obligations and are 
managed by independent fund managers who seek to mitigate such risk by diversification of the portfolio.

At 31 March 2008, if the relevant stock market and other indices had been 10% higher/lower with all other variables held 
constant, no further gains/losses would have been recognised in the Group statement of recognised income and expense.

Credit risk
In the case of derivative financial instruments, deposits and trade receivables, the Group is exposed to credit risk, which 
results from the non-performance of contractual agreements on the part of the contract party. 

This credit risk is minimised by a policy under which the Group only enters into such contracts with banks and financial 
institutions with strong credit ratings, within limits set for each organisation. Dealing activity is closely controlled and 
counterparty positions are monitored regularly. The general credit risk on derivative financial instruments utilised by the 
Group is therefore not considered to be significant. No credit limits were exceeded during the year and the Group does not 
anticipate that any losses will arise from non-performance by these counterparties.

At the balance sheet date trade receivables with financial institutions accounted for some 41% (2007: 40%) of total trade 
receivables in the UK and some 38% (2007: 39%) of total trade receivables in the US. The remaining balances are distributed 
across multiple industries and geographies. The Group has implemented policies that require appropriate credit checks on 
potential customers before granting credit. The maximum credit risk of such financial assets is represented by the carrying 
value of the asset net of any applicable provision for impairment.

Liquidity risk
The Group maintains long-term committed facilities that are managed to ensure it has sufficient available funds for 
operations and planned expansions. The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s net debt including projected cash 
flows and the level of committed facilities necessary to meet these.

Details of the facilities available to the Group and their utilisation at the balance sheet date are given in note 24. Maturity 
analyses for financial liabilities are given in note 30. 

 4. Capital risk management 

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure and cost of capital. 
    
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce net debt. As part of its internal reporting processes 
the Group monitors capital employed by geographical segment. For this purpose, capital employed excludes net debt and 
taxation balances. The Group manages its working capital in order to meet its target for the conversion of EBIT into operating 
cash flow. 
 
5. Segmental information

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks 
and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing 
products or services within a particular economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from 
those of segments operating in other economic environments.

Inter-segment transactions are entered into under the normal commercial terms and conditions that would also be available 
to unrelated third parties. There is no material impact from inter-segment transactions on the Group’s results.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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5. Segmental information (continued) 

Total segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets including goodwill, inventories, 
derivatives designated as hedges of future commercial transactions, and receivables. They exclude tax assets, cash, 
investments and derivatives designated as hedges of borrowings which are reported at a Group level only.

Total segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities, including derivatives designated as hedges of future commercial 
transactions. They exclude tax liabilities, borrowings and related hedging derivatives and the net present value of the put option in 
respect of the Serasa minority which are reported at a Group level only.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, excluding additions 
resulting from acquisitions through business combinations.

The primary and secondary segmental reporting formats for Experian are outlined below. In addition the segmental 
information in respect of the year ended 31 March 2007 included Home Retail Group as a discontinued operation. 
Additional information in respect of discontinued operations is shown in note 12.

Primary reporting format for Experian – geographical segments
At 31 March 2008, Experian is organised on a worldwide basis into four core geographies:

North America;  l

Latin America; l

UK & Ireland; and l

Europe, Middle East and Africa (‘EMEA’)/Asia Pacific. l

In addition unallocated corporate head office costs, which include costs arising from finance, treasury and other global 
functions, are reported as Central activities.

Secondary reporting format for Experian – business segments
Experian operates across four key business segments:

Credit Services;  l

Decision Analytics; l

Marketing Services; and  l

Interactive. l

Credit Services acquires, processes and manages large and complex databases containing the credit histories of consumers 
and businesses and also operates business processing outsourcing services, mainly in France, helping banks and other 
clients with back office functions.

Decision Analytics builds on the Credit Services database information and helps clients by applying analytical tools and 
software to convert data held internally and other data into usable business information.

Marketing Services helps clients to acquire new customers and to manage their relationships with existing customers. By 
appending hundreds of characteristics to the credit and marketing data held in databases, Marketing Services provides clients 
with information designed to assist them in matching the right offer or product to the relevant customer using the most appropriate 
communication channels.

Interactive helps customers to understand and manage their own financial information and assets as well as to make 
more informed purchasing decisions in areas such as financial services, shopping and education and to connect them with 
companies over the Internet.
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5. Segmental information (continued)

Geographical segments – 2008

(a) Income statement – Year ended 31 March 2008   
  North Latin UK & EMEA/ Central Total
  America1 America1  Ireland Asia Pacific activities Group2

  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Revenue from external customers3 2,061  324 1,024 721  –  4,130

Profit       
Operating profit/(loss) 473  44  155  58  (76)  654 
Net financing costs –  –  –  –  (155)  (155) 
Share of post-tax profits of associates 49 –  –  1  –  50

Profit/(loss) before tax 522  44  155  59  (231)  549 

Group tax expense       (97) 

Profit for the financial year      452

Reconciliation from EBIT to profit/(loss)  before tax
EBIT 608  75 232  87 (57)  945 
Net interest  –  – –  –  (126) (126) 

Benchmark PBT 608  75 232  87  (183)  819 
Exceptional items (note 9) (12)  – (28)  (17)  (6)  (63) 
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (48)  (31) (35)  (7)  –  (121) 
Goodwill adjustment (2)  – –  –  –  (2) 
Charges in respect of the demerger-related  
 equity incentive plans (18)  – (14)  (4)  (13)  (49) 
Financing fair value remeasurements –  – –  –  (29)  (29) 
Tax expense on share of profit of associates (6)  – –  –  –  (6) 

Profit/(loss) before tax 522  44 155  59 (231)  549 

1.   As indicated in note 2, an additional segment has been included for the year ended 31 March 2008 to report activity in Latin America. 

2.  The segmental information for the year ended 31 March 2008 is in respect of continuing operations. There were no discontinued operations, as defined by IFRS, 
during the year.

3. Revenue from external customers arose principally from the provision of services.

(b) Balance sheet at 31 March 2008   
  North Latin UK & EMEA/ Central Total
  America1 America1  Ireland Asia Pacific activities2 Group
  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Total segment assets 2,848  1,776  1,368  890  387  7,269 
Total segment liabilities (496)  (138)  (382)  (328)  (288)  (1,632) 

Segment net assets 2,352  1,638  986  562  99  5,637 

Net present value of put option in respect of Serasa minority interest      (583) 
Net debt      (2,699)
Tax       (238) 

Group net assets      2,117

1.   As indicated in note 2, an additional segment has been included for 31 March 2008 to report activity in Latin America.  

2.  Segment net assets for Central activities represents corporate head office balances including retirement benefit assets and derivative assets and liabilities.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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5. Segmental information (continued) 

(c) Other financial information     
  North Latin UK & EMEA/ Central Total
  America1 America1  Ireland Asia Pacific activities Group
  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Benchmark PBT is stated after charging:       
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  42  12  30  14 3  101 
Amortisation of intangible assets  
 (other than acquisition intangibles) 104  26  33  24 –  187 

Benchmark PBT includes:
Share of profit of associates 49  –  –  1 –  50 

Segment net assets includes:       
Goodwill 1,474  1,033 711  387 –  3,605 
Investments in associates 294  –  –  1 –  295 

Capital expenditure  164  50  72  54 4  344 

1.   As indicated in note 2, an additional segment has been included for the year ended 31 March 2008 to report activity in Latin America.
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5. Segmental information (continued) 

Geographical segments – 2007         
          
(a) Income statement – Year ended 31 March 2007
  Continuing operations

  North Latin UK & EMEA/ Central Total Discontinued  Total
  America1 America1  Ireland Asia Pacific activities continuing   operations2 Group
  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Revenue3         
Total revenue 1,989  5  907  591  –  3,492  5,468  8,960 
Inter-segment revenue4 –  –  (11) –  –  (11) – (11)

Revenue from external customers 1,989  5  896  591  – 3,481  5,468  8,949 

Profit         
Operating profit/(loss) 436  (4) 176  68  (203) 473  212  685 
Net financing income/(costs) –  – –  – (146) (146) 16  (130)
Share of post-tax profits of associates 67  –  –  –  –  67  –  67 

Profit/(loss) before tax 503  (4) 176  68  (349) 394  228  622 

Group tax expense       (68) (91) (159)

Profit for the financial year      326  137  463

Reconciliation from EBIT to profit/(loss) before tax – continuing operations

    North Latin UK & EMEA/ Central Total 
    America1 America1  Ireland Asia Pacific activities Group
    US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

EBIT   566  (4) 236  74  (47) 825 
Net interest    –   –  –  –  (111) (111)

Benchmark PBT   566  (4) 236  74  (158) 714 
Exceptional items (note 9)   15  –  (26) –   (151) (162)
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles   (45) –  (27) (4) –   (76)
Goodwill adjustment   (14) –   –   –  –  (14)
Charges in respect of the demerger-related equity incentive plans (10) –   (7) (2) (5) (24)
Financing fair value remeasurements   –   –  –   –  (35) (35)
Tax expense on share of profit of associates   (9) –   –   – –   (9)

Profit/(loss) before tax   503  (4) 176  68  (349) 394

1.  As indicated in note 2, the segmental information presented in respect of the Americas for the year ended 31 March 2007 is now further analysed to show  
North and Latin America as separate segments.

2.  Additional information on discontinued operations, which comprise Home Retail Group, together with a tax charge in respect of disposals, is shown in note 
12. The results of discontinued operations are in respect of businesses operating within the UK & Ireland geographical segment.

3.  Revenue from continuing operations arose principally from the provision of services. Revenue from discontinued operations arose principally from the sale of 
goods. Revenue within the UK & Ireland geographical segment includes US$11m of inter-segment revenue with discontinued operations.

4. Inter-segment revenue represents the provision of services between Experian and discontinued operations.

(b) Balance sheet at 31 March 2007
    North Latin UK & EMEA/ Central Total 
    America1 America1  Ireland Asia Pacific activities2 Group
    US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Total segment assets   2,771  5  1,092  614  420  4,902 
Total segment liabilities   (534) (1) (318) (195) (225) (1,273)

Segment net assets   2,237  4  774  419  195  3,629 

Net debt        (1,408)
Tax         (114)

Group net assets        2,107 

1.  As indicated in note 2, the segmental information presented in respect of the Americas for 31 March 2007 is now further analysed to show North and  
Latin America as separate segments.

2. Segment net assets for Central activities represents corporate head office balances including retirement benefit assets and derivative assets and liabilities.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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5. Segmental information (continued) 

(c) Other financial information
  Continuing operations

  North Latin UK & EMEA/ Central Total Discontinued  Total
  America1 America1  Ireland Asia Pacific activities continuing operations2 Group
  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Benchmark PBT is stated after charging:         
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 36  –  29  12  2  79  134  213 
Amortisation of intangible assets  
 (other than acquisition intangibles) 102  – 32  16  – 150 11  161 

Benchmark PBT includes:
Share of profit of associates 61  – – – –  61  –  61 

Segment net assets includes:         
Goodwill 1,376  –  524  319  –  2,219  –  2,219 
Investments in associates 277  –  –  9  –  286  –  286 

Capital expenditure  167  1  67  40  –  275  173  448 

1.  As indicated in note 2, the segmental information presented in respect of the Americas for the year ended 31 March 2007 is now further analysed to show 
North and Latin America as separate segments. 

2. Additional information on discontinued operations, which comprise Home Retail Group, together with a tax charge in respect of disposals, is shown in note 12.

Business segments        

(a) Income statement
Year ended 31 March 2008   
  Credit  Decision Marketing  Central Total
  Services Analytics Services Interactive activities Group1

  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Revenue from external customers2 1,972  469 830 859  –  4,130

Profit
Operating profit/(loss) 459  137 17 153  (112)  654 
Net financing costs –  – – –  (155)  (155) 
Share of post-tax profits of associates 50  – – –  –  50 

Profit/(loss) before tax 509  137 17 153  (267)  549 

Group tax expense       (97) 

Profit for the financial year      452 

Reconciliation from EBIT to profit/(loss)  
before tax

EBIT 581  154 78 189  (57)  945 
Net interest  –  – – –  (126)  (126) 

Benchmark PBT 581 154 78 189  (183)  819 
Exceptional items (note 9) (21)  (10) (22) (4)  (6)  (63) 
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (45) (7) (37) (32)  –  (121) 
Goodwill adjustment –  – (2) –  –  (2) 
Charges in respect of the demerger-related  
 equity incentive plans3 –  – – –  (49)  (49) 
Financing fair value remeasurements –  – – –  (29)  (29) 
Tax expense on share of profit of associates (6)  – – –  –  (6) 

Profit/(loss) before tax 509  137 17 153  (267)  549 

1.  The segmental information for the year ended 31 March 2008 is in respect of continuing operations. There were no discontinued operations, as defined by IFRS, 
during the year.

2. Revenue from external customers arose principally from the provision of services. 

3.  No allocation by business segment is made for charges in respect of the demerger-related equity incentive plans as the underlying data is  maintained only to 
provide an allocation by geographical segment.
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5. Segmental information (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2007          
  Continuing operations

  Credit  Decision Marketing  Central Total Discontinued  Total
  Services Analytics Services Interactive activities continuing operations1 Group
  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Revenue2         
Total revenue 1,584 392 728 788 –   3,492  5,468  8,960 
Inter-segment revenue3 (11) –   –  –   –   (11) –   (11)

Revenue from external customers 1,573  392  728  788  –   3,481  5,468  8,949 

Profit
Operating profit/(loss) 402  130  28  135  (222) 473  212  685 
Net financing income/(costs) –  –   –   –  (146) (146) 16  (130)
Share of post-tax profits of associates 67  –  –  –   –  67  –  67 

Profit/(loss) before tax 469  130  28  135  (368) 394  228  622 

Group tax expense       (68) (91) (159)

Profit for the financial year      326  137  463

Reconciliation from EBIT to profit/(loss)  
before tax – continuing operations

EBIT 505  136  64  167  (47) 825 
Net interest  –   –   –   –   (111) (111)

Benchmark PBT 505  136  64  167  (158) 714 
Exceptional items (note 9) (11) –   –   –   (151) (162)
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (16) (1) (27) (32) –   (76)
Goodwill adjustment –   (5) (9)   – –   (14)
Charges in respect of the demerger-related  
 equity incentive plans4 –  –   –   –   (24) (24)
Financing fair value remeasurements –   –   –   –   (35) (35)
Tax expense on share of profit of associates (9) –   –   –  –   (9)

Profit/(loss) before tax 469  130  28  135  (368) 394 

1.  Additional information on discontinued operations, which comprise Home Retail Group, together with a tax charge in respect of disposals, is shown in  
note 12.

2.  Revenue from continuing operations arose principally from the provision of services. Revenue from discontinued operations arose principally from the sale of 
goods. Revenue from Credit Services included US$11m of inter-segment revenue with discontinued operations.

3. Inter-segment revenue represents the provision of services between Experian and discontinued operations.

4.  No allocation by business segment is made for charges in respect of the demerger-related equity incentive plans as the underlying data is maintained only to 
provide an allocation by geographical segment.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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5. Segmental information (continued) 

(b) Total segment assets
   2008 2007
   US$m US$m

Credit Services  3,759  1,871 
Decision Analytics  494   293
Marketing Services  1,323   993 
Interactive   1,082   1,131  
Central activities   611   614 

Total   7,269   4,902 

Total segment assets are in respect of continuing operations.         
    
Total segment assets for Central activities represent corporate head office balances including retirement benefit and 
derivative assets. In addition to those assets reflected in the geographical analysis, all Group properties are included within 
Central activities as they are not allocated by business segment.

(c) Capital expenditure
   2008 2007
   US$m US$m

Continuing operations     
Credit Services   238   182 
Decision Analytics   23   9 
Marketing Services   58   64
Interactive   21   20  
Central activities    4   – 

Total continuing operations   344   275 
Discontinued operations    –   173 

Total     344   448 

Total capital expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2008 is in respect of continuing operations only as there were no 
discontinued operations as defined by IFRS during the year then ended. 
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6. Foreign currency

The principal exchange rates used were as follows:
  Average Closing
     

  2008 2007 2008 2007 2006

Sterling to US Dollar 2.01 1.89 1.99 1.96 1.74
Brazilian Real to US Dollar 0.53 0.47 0.57 0.48 0.46
Euro to US Dollar 1.42 1.29 1.58 1.33 1.22

Assets and liabilities of undertakings whose functional currency is not the US Dollar are translated into US Dollars at 
the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the income statement is translated into US Dollars at average 
rates of exchange (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on 
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions). An 
indication of the sensitivity of the Group’s results to foreign exchange risk is given in note 3.

7. Expenses
   2008 2007
   US$m US$m

(a) Expenses by nature

Profit before tax is stated after charging:
Net operating lease rental expense  105   102 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  102   79 
Amortisation of intangible assets  320   226 
Write down on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangibles  3   10 
Employee benefit costs (note 8)  1,582   1,327 
Research expenditure  6   5 

Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to administrative expenses, except for the  
amortisation of databases which is charged to cost of sales.

(b) Fees payable to the Company’s auditor

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the parent company and  
 Group financial statements  1   1 
Audit of the financial statements of the Group’s UK and overseas subsidiaries,  
 pursuant to legislation   3   2 
Other assurance services, pursuant to legislation, including fees for the review  
 of the Group’s half-yearly financial report  2   2 
Taxation services  6  4 
Services in respect of the demerger  2  19 
All other services, including regulatory and compliance services   4   2 

Total fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services  17  29 
             
The guidelines covering the use of the Company’s auditor for non-audit services are set out in the corporate governance 
statement on page 48.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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8. Employee benefit costs and employee numbers

Aggregate employee costs for the continuing operations of the Group
   2008 2007
  Notes US$m US$m

Wages and salaries  1,249   1,025 
Social security costs  208   161 
Share-based payments 35  76   91 
Pension costs – defined benefit plans 27  12   17 
Pension costs – defined contribution plans  27  37   33 

Total continuing operations   1,582   1,327 

Average number of employees (including executive directors) in the continuing operations of the Group

  2008 2007
     

    Full time   Full time 
  Full time Part time equivalent Full time Part time equivalent

North America 5,674  286  5,817   5,190   201   5,290 
Latin America 1,846  258  1,975   40  –   40 
UK & Ireland  4,004  205  4,106   3,745   189   3,840 
EMEA/Asia Pacific 3,667  220  3,777   3,248   226   3,361 
Central activities 80  3  82   95   4   97 

Total continuing operations  15,271  972  15,757   12,318   620   12,628 

As indicated in note 2, an additional segment has been included for the year ended 31 March 2008 to report activity in  
Latin America and comparative figures have been restated. The average number of employees (full time equivalent)  
of Serasa in the nine months since acquisition is 2,505; the employee numbers in respect of Serasa reported within  
Latin America have been adjusted to reflect the period of ownership.

Remuneration of key management personnel
   2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 12   16 
Retirement benefits 5   4  
Share-based payments 18   28 

Total continuing operations 35   48 

Key management personnel comprises the board of directors, shown on pages 38 and 39, and certain senior management. 
The amount included in respect of share-based payments includes operating and exceptional costs for previous GUS awards 
and the one-off demerger awards.           
  
Further details of the remuneration of directors are given in the audited part of the report on directors’ remuneration on 
pages 58 to 63.              
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9. Exceptional and other non-GAAP measures
   2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Exceptional items 
Restructuring costs 60  – 
Charge on early vesting and modification of share awards at demerger of Experian and  
 Home Retail Group –  23 
Other costs incurred relating to the demerger of Experian and Home Retail Group 6  126 
Closure of UK Account Processing (2) 26 
Loss on disposal of businesses 2  2 
Gain arising in associate on the partial disposal of its subsidiary (3)  (15)

Total exceptional items 63  162 

Other non-GAAP measures 
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 121  76
Goodwill adjustment 2  14 
Charges in respect of the demerger-related equity incentive plans 49  24 
Financing fair value remeasurements (note 10) 29  35 

Total other non-GAAP measures  201  149 

Exceptional items and other non-GAAP measures are in respect of continuing operations.     

Exceptional items
In January 2008, the Group announced that it was launching a programme of significant cost-efficiency measures. Identified 
efficiencies include offshoring of development activity, restructuring of core credit and marketing activities and infrastructure 
consolidation. Following the identification of additional opportunities this programme is expected to deliver annualised cost 
savings of approximately US$110m, of which an estimated US$50m is expected to be realised in the year ending 31 March 2009. 
One-off restructuring costs associated with achieving these cost savings will be in the region of US$140m, the majority of 
which will be cash costs. Costs of US$60m have been recognised in the year in connection with this programme with a related 
cash outflow of US$18m. Of this charge, US$36m related to redundancy costs, US$12m related to asset write offs and US$12m 
related to other restructuring and infrastructure consolidation costs.
 
Other costs relating to the  demerger of Experian and Home Retail Group comprise legal and professional fees in respect of 
the transaction, together with costs in connection with the cessation of the corporate functions of GUS plc. 
 
In April 2006, Experian announced the phased withdrawal from large scale credit card and loan account processing in the UK. 
The anticipated cost of withdrawal of US$26m was charged in the year ended 31 March 2007, and was made up of a cost in cash of 
US$28m less the benefit of a US$2m pension curtailment credit. During the year ended 31 March 2008, an exceptional credit has 
arisen in this connection following the successful transfer of certain employees and obligations of this business to a third party.

The loss on disposal of businesses in the year ended 31 March 2008 primarily related to the sale of Loyalty Solutions in 
Germany and that in the year ended 31 March 2007 primarily related to the sale of a minority stake in Experian’s South African 
business.

In the year ended 31 March 2007, First American Real Estate Solutions LLC (‘FARES’) recognised a gain of US$77m on the 
partial disposal of its Real Estate Solutions division as part of the consideration for the acquisition of 82% of CoreLogic 
Solutions, Inc. The Group recognised US$15m, its 20% share of the gain.  A deferred tax charge of US$6m was included in 
the FARES result for that year in respect of this gain. A further gain of US$3m has arisen in the year ended 31 March 2008 in 
respect of a number of less significant disposals by FARES.

Cash outflows in respect of exceptional items of US$45m (2007: US$98m) comprise total exceptional items of US$63m (2007: 
US$162m) adjusted for working capital movements of US$9m (2007: US$46m), asset write offs of US$12m (2007: US$3m), 
share based payment add backs of US$nil (2007: US$30m) and gains in associates of US$3m (2007: US$15m).

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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9. Exceptional and other non-GAAP measures (continued)

Other non-GAAP measures          
IFRS requires that, on acquisition, specific intangible assets are identified and recognised separately from goodwill and then 
amortised over their useful economic lives. These include items such as brand names and customer lists, to which value 
is first attributed at the time of acquisition. The Group has excluded amortisation of these acquisition intangibles from its 
definition of Benchmark PBT because such a charge is based on uncertain judgements about their value and economic life.

A goodwill adjustment of US$2m (2007: US$14m) arose under IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ on the recognition of 
previously unrecognised tax losses on prior years’ acquisitions. The corresponding tax benefit reduced the tax charge for the 
year by US$2m (2007: US$14m).

Charges in respect of demerger-related equity incentive plans relate to one-off grants made to senior management and at 
all staff levels at the time of the demerger, under a number of equity incentive plans. The cost of these one-off grants is being 
charged to the Group income statement over the five years from flotation in October 2006 but excluded from the definition of 
Benchmark PBT. The cost of all other grants is being charged to the Group income statement and included in the definition of 
Benchmark PBT.

An element of the Group’s derivatives is ineligible for hedge accounting under IFRS. Gains or losses on these derivatives 
arising from market movements are credited or charged to financing fair value remeasurements within finance income and 
finance expense in the Group income statement.

10. Net financing costs    
  2008 2007
   (Restated) 
   (Note 2)
  US$m US$m

(a) Net financing costs
Interest income:
Bank deposits and money market funds 19  10 
Loan notes –  1 
Interest differentials on derivatives 1  17 
Expected return on pension scheme assets   76  68 

Interest income   96  96 

Financing fair value gains: 
Fair value gains on borrowings attributable to interest rate risk 34  55
Fair value gains on non-hedging derivatives –  7
Ineffective portion of net investment hedges 7  – 
Movement in fair value of Serasa put option (note 29(d)) 69  –

Financing fair value gains 110  62 

Finance income 206  158 

Interest expense:
Bank loans and overdrafts 76  41
Eurobonds and notes  90  112
Commitment and facility utilisation fees 1  2
Finance lease interest expense 2  –
Interest expense on pension scheme liabilities   53  52

Interest expense   222  207

Financing fair value losses: 
Losses on interest rate swaps – fair value hedges 35 60 
Fair value losses on non-hedging derivatives 98  26 
Foreign exchange transaction losses   6  11 

Financing fair value losses   139  97 

Finance expense 361  304 

Net financing costs 155  146 
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10. Net financing costs (continued)   
  2008 2007
   (Restated) 
   (Note 2)
  US$m US$m

(b) Net interest expense included in Benchmark PBT 
Net financing costs 155  146 
Less: Financing fair value remeasurements    (29)  (35)

Net interest expense included in Benchmark PBT 126  111 

(c) Financing fair value remeasurements included in net financing costs
Financing fair value gains 110  62 
Financing fair value losses (139)  (97)

Charge in respect of financing fair value remeasurements (29) (35)

11. Tax expense
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

(a) Analysis of expense recognised in the Group income statement 
Current taxation:
UK Corporation tax on income for the year (15)  (13)
Adjustments in respect of prior years (43) (1)

   (58) (14)
Non-UK taxation: 
Overseas tax on income for the year 116 39 
Adjustments in respect of prior years 1  (6)

Total current tax charge for the year 59  19 

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 28  53 
Adjustments in respect of prior years   10  (4)

Total deferred tax charge for the year   38  49 

Total tax expense in the Group income statement   97  68 

The total tax expense comprises:
UK taxation (67)  (45)
Overseas taxation 164 113

Total tax expense in the Group income statement 97  68 

(b) Tax reconciliation

Profit before tax 549  394 
Add: tax expense on share of profits of associates   6  9 

Adjusted profit before tax   555  403 

Adjusted profit before tax multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30% (2007: 30%) 167  121 
Effects of:
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior years (32)  (11)
Income not taxable (24) (10)
Expenses not deductible  45 39 
Adjustment in respect of previously unrecognised tax losses 10  (16)
Tax expense on share of profits of associates (6)  (9)
Effect of different tax rates in non-UK businesses (63) (34) 
Disposal of businesses –  (3)
Other adjustments   –  (9) 

Total tax expense in the Group income statement 97  68 

The effective tax rate for the year of 17.7% (2007: 17.3%), after adjusting for the net income from associates, is lower than the 
standard rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom of 30% (2007: 30%). The differences are explained above. 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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11. Tax expense (continued)

(c) Effective rate of tax on Benchmark PBT
The effective rate of tax based on Benchmark PBT of US$819m (2007: US$714m) is 23.2% (2007: 22.4%).

(d) Tax on items charged to equity
In addition to the amount charged to the Group income statement tax amounting to US$16m (2007: US$7m) has been charged 
directly to equity, relating mainly to share schemes, actuarial gains and losses on retirement benefit assets and foreign 
exchange. This includes US$nil (2007: a credit of US$11m) in respect of current taxation and a charge of US$16m (2007: US$18m) 
in respect of deferred taxation.

(e)  Factors that may affect future tax charges 
In the foreseeable future, the Group’s tax charge will continue to be influenced by the profile of profits earned in the different 
countries in which the Group’s businesses operate and could be affected by changes in tax law.

12. Discontinued operations – Home Retail Group

Results for discontinued operations
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Revenue  –  5,468
Cost of sales   –  (3,589) 

Gross profit  –  1,879 

Distribution costs  –  (1,361)
Administrative expenses  –  (306)
Operating expenses   –  (1,667) 

Operating profit  –  212
Net financing income   –  16 

Profit before tax of discontinued operations  –  228
Tax charge in respect of pre-tax profit   –  (74) 

Profit after tax of discontinued operations   –  154

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations:  
Tax charge in respect of disposals   –  (17)

Loss after tax on disposals   –  (17)

Profit for the financial year from discontinued operations   –  137

In October 2006, the net assets of Home Retail Group were distributed by way of a dividend in specie. As a consequence, 
these operations were classified as discontinued in the Group financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2007.

The tax charge in respect of disposals related to taxation assets no longer recoverable following earlier disposals. 

Cash flows attributable to discontinued operations
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

From operating activities –  705 
From investing activities –  (168)
From financing activities –  (3)
Exchange and other movements –  16
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents –  550 
Less: cash held by Home Retail Group at demerger  –  (518)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents in discontinued operations –  32
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13. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by a 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year (excluding own shares held in Treasury in the period  
prior to the demerger and own shares held in ESOP trusts, which are treated as cancelled).  

The calculation of diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilutive effect of employee share incentive schemes. The 
earnings figures used in the calculations are unchanged for diluted earnings per share.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2007 includes ordinary shares of GUS 
plc in issue to the date of the demerger and the ordinary shares of the Company in issue thereafter (excluding own shares held 
in Treasury in the period prior to the demerger and own shares held in ESOP trusts, which are treated as cancelled). 

  2008 2007
Basic earnings per share: US cents US cents

Continuing and discontinued operations 43.3  49.9 
Exclude: discontinued operations –  (14.8)

Continuing operations 43.3  35.1 
Add back of exceptional and other non-GAAP measures, net of tax 17.0  24.6 

Benchmark earnings per share from continuing operations (non-GAAP measure) 60.3  59.7 

Diluted earnings per share:

Continuing and discontinued operations 42.7  49.3 
Exclude: discontinued operations –  (14.6)

Continuing operations 42.7  34.7 
Add back of exceptional and other non-GAAP measures, net of tax 16.8  24.4 

Benchmark diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (non-GAAP measure) 59.5  59.1

  2008 2007
Earnings: US$m US$m

Continuing and discontinued operations 437  462 
Exclude: discontinued operations –  (137)

Continuing operations 437  325 
Add back of exceptional and other non-GAAP measures, net of tax 171  229 

Benchmark earnings (non-GAAP measure) 608  554

  2008 2007
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue: m m

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 1,008.9  927.3 
Dilutive effect of share incentive awards 13.4  9.9 

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 1,022.3  937.2 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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14. Dividends
  2008 2007

   

  US cents  US cents
  per share US$m per share US$m

Amounts recognised and paid as distributions to equity holders  
 during the year:
First interim – paid in February 2008 (2007: February 2007) 6.5  66  5.5  55
Second interim – paid in August 2007 11.5 116  –  – 
Final – paid in August 2006 –   –  40.3  346

Ordinary dividends paid on equity shares 18.0  182  45.8  401

Dividend in specie relating to the demerger of Home Retail Group    –    5,627

Full year dividend for the year ended 31 March  18.5   17.0  170

A dividend of 12 US cents per ordinary share will be paid on 25 July 2008 to shareholders on the register at the close of 
business on 27 June 2008 and is not included as a liability in these financial statements. This dividend, together with the first 
interim dividend of 6.5 US cents per ordinary share paid in February 2008, comprises the full year dividend for the year ended 
31 March 2008 of 18.5 US cents.

Unless shareholders elect by 27 June 2008 to receive US Dollars, their dividends will be paid in Sterling at a rate per share 
calculated on the basis of the exchange rate from US Dollars to Sterling on 4 July 2008. 

Pursuant to the Income Access Share arrangements put in place as part of the demerger, shareholders in the Company 
are able to elect to receive their dividends from a UK source (the ‘IAS election’). Shareholders who held 50,000 or fewer 
Experian shares (i) on the date of admission of the Company’s shares to the London Stock Exchange and (ii) in the case of 
shareholders who did not own shares at that time, on the first dividend record date after they become shareholders in the 
Company, unless they elect otherwise, will be deemed to have elected to receive their dividends under the IAS arrangements. 
Shareholders who hold more than 50,000 shares and who wish to receive their dividends from a UK source must make an IAS 
election. All elections remain in force indefinitely unless revoked. Unless shareholders have made an IAS election, or are 
deemed to have made an IAS election, dividends will be received from an Irish source and will be taxed accordingly.

The Experian Group Limited Employee Share Trust and the GUS ESOP Trust have waived their entitlements to dividends in 
the amount of US$2m (2007: US$4m). In the year ended 31 March 2007, the GUS ESOP Trust did not waive its entitlement to 
the dividend in specie relating to the demerger of Home Retail Group.

The final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2006, which was paid in August 2006, was received by shareholders of 
GUS plc. The dividend in specie, which represented the net assets of Home Retail Group as at the date of the demerger, was 
also received by shareholders of GUS plc. 
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15. Goodwill
  US$m

At 1 April 2007 2,219 
Differences on exchange 118 
Additions through business combinations (note 34) 1,272
Reduction in goodwill relating to tax losses (note 9) (2) 
Disposals (2) 

At 31 March 2008    3,605 

Additions through business combinations are stated after a reduction in goodwill of US$9m in respect of adjustments to 
deferred consideration on prior year acquisitions.

Following the demerger of Home Retail Group in the year ended 31 March 2007, there is no goodwill carried in the Group 
balance sheet in respect of that business.
   Home Retail 
  Experian Group Total
  US$m US$m US$m

At 1 April 2006 2,070  3,272  5,342 
Differences on exchange 93  286  379 
Additions through business combinations 71  –  71 
Reduction in goodwill relating to tax losses (note 9) (14) –  (14)
Demerger of Home Retail Group  –  (3,558) (3,558)
Disposals  (1) –  (1)

At 31 March 2007  2,219  –  2,219 

Goodwill at the balance sheet date has been allocated to CGUs as follows: North America US$1,474m (2007: US$1,376m),  
Latin America US$1,033m (2007: US$nil), UK & Ireland US$711m (2007: US$524m) and EMEA/Asia Pacific US$387m  
(2007: US$319m). Further details of the principles used in determining the basis of allocation and annual impairment testing 
are given in note 2.

16. Other intangible assets
    Internally     
   Internal use generated Acquisition   
  Databases software software intangibles1 Total
  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Cost
At 1 April 2007 666  137  218  571  1,592 
Differences on exchange 21  9  9  51  90 
Additions through business combinations (note 34) 102  5  1  578  686
Other additions 148  36  55  –  239
Disposals (50)  (18)  (32)  –  (100)

At 31 March 2008 887  169  251  1,200  2,507 

Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 April 2007 418  82  122  166  788 
Differences on exchange 7  6  4  1  18
Charge for the year 129 29  41  121  320
Disposals (50)  (18)  (24)  –  (92)

At 31 March 2008 504  99 143  288  1,034 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2007 248  55  96  405  804 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2008 383  70  108  912  1,473 

1.  Acquisition intangibles represents trademarks and licences, trade names, customer relationships and completed technology. 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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16. Other intangible assets (continued)
    Internally     
   Internal use generated Acquisition   
  Databases software software intangibles1 Total
  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Cost
At 1 April 2006 585  355  165  529  1,634 
Differences on exchange 24  26  16  24  90 
Additions through business combinations 2  – –  18  20 
Other additions 102  75  42  – 219 
Demerger of Home Retail Group  – (308) – –  (308)
Disposals (47) (11) (5) –  (63)

At 31 March 2007 666  137  218  571  1,592 

Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 April 2006 353  180  90  85  708 
Differences on exchange 20  16  9  5  50 
Charge for the year 92  45  24  76  237 
Demerger of Home Retail Group  –  (150) – –  (150)
Disposals (47) (9) (1) –  (57)

At 31 March 2007 418  82  122  166  788 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2006 232  175  75  444  926 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2007 248  55  96  405  804 

1.  Acquisition intangibles represents trademarks and licences, trade names, customer relationships and completed technology.

17. Property, plant and equipment
  
    
     Short 
    Freehold leasehold Plant and
    properties properties equipment Total
    US$m US$m US$m US$m

Cost
At 1 April 2007   287 115  563  965 
Differences on exchange   11  1  30  42  
Additions through business combinations (note 34)   33  –  36  69
Other additions   4  6  95  105
Disposals   –  –  (44)  (44)

At 31 March 2008   335  122  680  1,137 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2007   55  19  372  446 
Differences on exchange   5  1  20  26
Charge for the year   8  6  88  102
Disposals   –  –  (41)  (41)

At 31 March 2008   68  26  439  533 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2007   232  96  191 519 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2008   267  96  241  604
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17. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
  Leasehold properties

                    Assets 
  Freehold Long Short Plant and in course of 
  properties leasehold leasehold equipment construction Total
  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Cost
At 1 April 2006 397  13  684  2,159  54  3,307 
Differences on exchange 34  1  51  175  4  265 
Additions through business combinations 3  –   –   1  –   4 
Other additions 13  3  32  181  –   229 
Transfers between assets –   –    22  –    (22) – 
Demerger of Home Retail Group (160) (17) (666) (1,907) (36) (2,786)
Disposals –   –   (8) (46) –   (54)

At 31 March 2007 287  –   115  563  –   965 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2006 60  4  318  1,255  –   1,637 
Differences on exchange 3  –   29  100  –   132 
Charge for the year 8  1  26  178  –   213 
Demerger of Home Retail Group (16) (5) (347) (1,119) –  (1,487)
Disposals –   –   (7) (42) –   (49)

At 31 March 2007 55  –  19  372  –   446 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2006 337  9  366  904  54  1,670 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2007 232  –  96  191  –   519 

The Group leases plant and equipment under a number of finance lease agreements.  At the end of each of the leases the 
Group has the option to purchase the equipment at a beneficial price. The net book value of assets held under finance leases 
and capitalised in plant and equipment is US$18m (2007: US$nil).

18. Investments in associates
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Cost 
At 1 April  286  225 
Additions 5  33 
Share of profit after tax including a pre-tax exceptional gain of US$3m (2007: US$15m) (note 9) 50  67
Dividends received (36)  (39)
Acquisitions of controlling stake in associate  (10) – 

At 31 March  295  286 

Investments in associates at 31 March 2008 include goodwill of US$228m (2007: US$219m). The Group’s share of cumulative 
retained profits of associated undertakings at 31 March 2008 is US$141m (2007: US$127m).

The Group’s principal interest in associated undertakings is a 20% holding of FARES. There are no other material interests 
in associated undertakings.  At 31 March 2008, the Group’s share of the assets of FARES amounted to US$497m (2007: 
US$477m), and its share of liabilities is US$202m (2007: US$200m). The Group’s share of revenue for the year ended 31 March 
2008 is US$249m (2007: US$249m), and its share of profit after tax US$50m (2007: US$67m). 

First American Corporation, which holds the balance of the capital of FARES, has the right to acquire from Experian its 
interest in FARES at a purchase price pursuant to a specified formula based on the after tax earnings of FARES. First 
American Corporation may only exercise this right after November 2008. Experian can elect to delay completion of the 
transaction for a maximum period of 24 months following First American Corporation giving notice.    
       

Notes to the Group financial statements continued



101Experian Annual Report 2008

In
tro

d
u

ctio
n

2 – 5
B

u
sin

ess review
6 – 37

G
o

vern
an

ce
38 – 64

F
in

an
cial statem

en
ts

G
roup financial statem

ents

19. Inventories
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Work in progress 2  2 
Finished goods 2  2 

  4  4 

20. Financial instruments by class

The accounting policies for financial instruments set out in note 2 have been applied to the line items below: 

(a) Assets        
    Assets at fair 
   Derivatives value through 
  Loan and used the profit and Available 
  receivables for hedging loss account for sale Total 
At 31 March 2008 US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Trade and other receivables1 856  –  –   –   856 
Cash and cash equivalents (note 22) 151   –  –   –   151 
Available for sale financial assets (note 28)  –   –    –  42   42  
Other financial assets (note 29) –  24  6    –   30 

   1,007   24   6   42   1,079

 

    Assets at fair 
   Derivatives value through 
  Loan and used the profit and Available 
  receivables for hedging loss account for sale Total 
At 31 March 2007 US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Trade and other receivables1 660  –  – – 660  
Cash and cash equivalents (note 22) 907  –  – –  907  
Available for sale financial assets (note 28) – –  –  38  38  
Other financial assets (note 29) – 49  40  –  89 

  1,567 49  40   38   1,694

1.  VAT recoverable of US$1m (2007: US$1m) and prepayments of US$183m (2007: US$144m) are included in trade and other receivables in note 21 but are 
     excluded from this analysis. 
      

(b) Liabilities   Liabilities at 
    fair value 
    through the Derivatives Other 
    profit and loss used for financial 
    account hedging liabilities Total 
As at 31 March 2008   US$m US$m US$m US$m

Trade and other payables1  –   –   993  993 
Loans and borrowings (note 24)  –   –   2,850   2,850 
Other financial liabilities (note 29)  121   20   583   724 

   121   20   4,426   4,567 

   Liabilities at 
   fair value 
   through the Derivatives Other 
   profit and loss used for financial 
   account hedging liabilities Total 
At 31 March 2007  US$m US$m US$m US$m

Trade and other payables1  –     –   766   766 
Loans and borrowings (note 24)  –    –    2,373   2,373 
Other financial liabilities (note 29)  –    40  –     40 

   –     40  3,139  3,179

1.  VAT and other tax payable of US$52m (2007: US$42m), social security costs of US$95m (2007: US$75m) and accruals of US$196m (2007: US$200m) are included    
     in trade and other payables in note 23 but are excluded from this analysis.
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21. Trade and other receivables

(a) The analysis of trade and other receivables disclosed in the Group balance sheet is as follows:

  Current Non-current Current Non-current
  2008 2008 2007 2007
  US$m US$m US$m US$m

Trade receivables 768  –  604  – 
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (24)  –  (14)  – 
Less: other provisions in respect of trade receivables (19)  –  (16)  –  

Trade receivables – net 725  –  574  – 
Amounts owed by associates 3  –  3  – 
VAT recoverable 1  –  1  – 
Other prepayments and accrued income 302  9  216  11 

  1,031  9  794  11 

There is no material difference between the fair value of trade and other receivables and the book value stated above. 
All non-current trade and other receivables are due within five years from the balance sheet date.

(b) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

  Current Non-current Current Non-current
  2008 2008 2007 2007
  US$m US$m US$m US$m

US Dollar 327  4  335 7
Sterling 306  –  249  –
Brazilian Real 87  –  1  –
Euro 250  4  180  3
Other 61  1  29  1

  1,031  9  794  11

(c) Trade receivables of US$530m (2007: US$415m) were neither past due nor impaired and these are further analysed as follows:

    Current Current
    2008 2007
    US$m US$m

New customers (of less than six months’ standing)   41  42
Existing customers (of more than six months’ standing)  
 with no defaults in the past   478  356
Existing customers (of more than six months’ standing)  
 with defaults in the past which were fully recovered    11  17

    530  415

None of these trade receivables has been renegotiated in the year.

       

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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21. Trade and other receivables (continued)

(d) Trade receivables of US$180m (2007: US$144m) were past due but not considered impaired and these are  
further analysed as follows:
    Current Current
    2008 2007
    US$m US$m

Up to three months    148  128 
Three to six months    20  10
Over six months    12  6

    180  144

(e) Trade receivables of US$39m (2007: US$29m) were considered partially impaired and provided for and these are  
further analysed as follows:
    Current Current
    2008 2007
    US$m US$m

Up to three months    7  16 
Three to six months    10  4
Over six months    22  9

    39  29 
Impairment provision    (24)  (14)

     15  15

The other classes within trade and other receivables at the balance sheet dates do not include any impaired assets.

(f) Movements on the impairment provision are as follows:
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

At 1 April 14  10 
Differences on exchange 1  1
Additions through business combinations 9  –
Provision for receivables impairment 17  17
Provision utilised in respect of debts written off (14) (12)
Unused amounts reversed   (3) (2)

At 31 March   24  14

The impairment provision has been determined by reference to the age of the receivable and an assessment of the portion 
of the receivable expected to be recovered. Amounts charged and credited to the Group income statement in respect of this 
provision are included in administrative expenses. The movements on the impairment provision for the year ended 31 March 
2007 reported above exclude any movements in respect of the provisions that related to Home Retail Group trade receivables 
in the period from 1 April 2006 to the date of demerger. Other provisions in respect of trade receivables mainly comprise  
credit note provisions.

22. Cash and cash equivalents

(a) The analysis of cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the Group balance sheet is as follows:
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Cash at bank and in hand 148  364 
Short-term investments 3  543 

  151  907 

The effective interest rate for cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2008 is 4.1% (2007: 4.4%). There is no material difference 
between the fair value of cash and cash equivalents and the book value stated above.
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22. Cash and cash equivalents (continued) 

(b) Cash at bank and short-term investments of US$151m (2007: US$907m) are further analysed by external credit rating 
where a balance with the counterparty is greater than US$2m:      
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

A rated 44  852 
B rated 58  6
Counterparty holding of less than US$2m   49 49 

  151  907 

23. Trade and other payables
  Current Non-current  Current Non-current
  2008 2008 2007 2007
  US$m US$m US$m US$m

Trade creditors 214  –  193 – 
VAT and other taxes payable 52  –  42  – 
Social security costs 95  –  75  – 
Accruals and deferred income 818  24  653  17 
Other creditors 100  33  68  35 

  1,279 57  1,031  52 

There is no material difference between the fair value of trade and other payables and the book value stated above. Non-
current trade and other payables of US$nil (2007: US$1m) are due after more than five years from the balance sheet date.

24. Loans and borrowings 

(a) The analysis of loans and borrowings disclosed in the Group balance sheet is as follows:

  Current Non-current Current Non-current
  2008 2008 2007 2007
  US$m US$m US$m US$m

€548m 4.125% Euronotes 2007 –  –  751  – 
£350m 6.375% Eurobonds 2009 –  732  – 721 
£334m 5.625% Euronotes 2013 –  660  – 627 
Bank loans 29  1,409  – –
Overdrafts 4  –  273  –  
Present value of obligations under finance leases (note (d)) 6  10  1  –

  39  2,811  1,025  1,348 

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the whole of the outstanding balance of the 4.125% Euronotes 2007 was repaid on its 
maturity at the par value of €548m. This repayment was financed from bank facilities that were in place at 31 March 2007. 

During the year ended 31 March 2007, 4.125% Euronotes 2007 with a par value of €20m and 5.625% Euronotes 2013 with a par 
value of £16m were redeemed.

The effective interest rate of Euronotes and Eurobonds approximates to the nominal rate indicated above. The effective 
interest rate for overdrafts at 31 March 2008 is 4.6% (2007: 4.3%).

Other than finance lease obligations, all the borrowings of the Group shown above are unsecured. Finance lease obligations 
are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default. 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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24. Loans and borrowings (continued) 

(b) The carrying amounts of the Group’s loans and borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

  Current Non-current Current Non-current
  2008 2008 2007 2007
  US$m US$m US$m US$m

US Dollar 29  1,409   1 –
Sterling –  1,392  4 1,348
Brazilian Real 6  10 – –
Euro 4 –  1,020 –

  39  2,811  1,025 1,348

(c) A comparison of carrying values and fair values of the Group’s loans and borrowings is as follows:

  Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
   value value value value
   2008 2008 2007 2007
  US$m US$m US$m US$m

€548m 4.125% Euronotes 2007 –   –   751    751
£350m 6.375% Eurobonds 2009  732   732    721    722 
£334m 5.625% Euronotes 2013  660   659     627    630
Bank loans  1,438   1,438    –   –
Overdrafts 4   4    273    273
Present value of obligations under finance leases 16  16   1   1

   2,850  2,849     2,373    2,377

(d) The minimum lease payments payable under finance leases comprise:
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Not later than one year 7  1 
Later than one year and not later than five years   15 – 

Total minimum lease payments 22  1 
Future finance charges on finance leases   (6)  – 

Present value of finance leases 16  1 

The present value of finance leases falls due:
Not later than one year 6  1
Later than one year and not later than five years   10  –

Present value of finance leases   16 1

(e) Borrowing facilities

At 31 March 2008, the Group had undrawn committed borrowing facilities of US$1,121m (2007: US$2,450m) which expire 
more than two years after the balance sheet date. These facilities are in place for general corporate purposes, including the 
financing of acquisitions.

25. Analysis of net debt (non-GAAP measure)
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Cash and cash equivalents (net of overdrafts) 147  634 
Derivatives hedging loans and borrowings (43)  (6)
Debt due within one year (29)  (729)
Finance leases (16)  (1)
Debt due after more than one year   (2,758)  (1,306)

Net debt at the end of the financial year   (2,699)  (1,408)
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26. Provisions
    
    Contingent
   Restructuring and other
   costs liabilities Total
   US$m US$m US$m

At 1 April 2007 39  –  39 
Differences on exchange 1  5  6 
Amount charged in the year 45  1  46 
Additions through business combinations (note 34) –  54 54 
Utilised (35)  –  (35)
Impact of discount rate movement 1  –  1  

At 31 March 2008 51  60  111 

Disclosed within non-current liabilities 8  19  27 
Disclosed within current liabilities 43 41  84

At 31 March 2008 51  60  111 

   Restructuring Home Retail Group
   costs provisions Total
   US$m US$m US$m

At 1 April 2006 – 155  155 
Differences on exchange 2  12  14 
Amount charged in the year 37  12  49 
Utilised –  (7) (7)
Impact of discount rate movement –  2  2 
Demerger of Home Retail Group  –  (174) (174)

At 31 March 2007 39  –   39 

Disclosed within non-current liabilities 30  –  30 
Disclosed within current liabilities 9  –  9 

At 31 March 2007 39  – 39

The restructuring provision at 31 March 2007 of US$9m disclosed within current liabilities included the full cost of the 
restructuring of UK Marketing Services, which was utilised in full in the year ended 31 March 2008.

The restructuring provision at 31 March 2007 of US$30m disclosed within non-current liabilities comprised the anticipated 
future costs of the withdrawal by Experian from large scale credit card and loan account processing in the UK, in respect of 
which there was a charge of US$28m in the year then ended. This provision comprised the estimated costs of redundancy and 
certain contractual obligations in respect of this business and was determined by reference to projections of the timing of 
withdrawal. It was anticipated that this portion of the provision would be utilised in the period from 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2010. 
As indicated in note 9, during the year ended 31 March 2008 the Group entered into an agreement to transfer certain of these 
activities to a third party and this gave rise to an exceptional credit of US$2m. At 31 March 2008,  the remaining provision in 
respect of obligations for the Group relating to the withdrawal from this business was US$20m of which US$8m is disclosed 
within non-current liabilities and US$12m is disclosed within current liabilities.

As indicated in note 9, there has been an exceptional charge in the year ended 31 March 2008 of US$60m in connection with a 
programme of cost-efficiency measures. At the balance sheet date there is a related provision of US$31m which is disclosed 
within current liabilities.           
            
Contingent and other liabilities at 31 March 2008 comprise liabilities of Serasa, in connection with local legal and taxation 
issues, which were primarily recognised on the acquisition of that company under the fair value accounting policy on 
acquisition. Subsequent adjustments to the fair value are made as the exposures are concluded.
            
Fair values of provisions do not materially differ from the recognised book values.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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27. Retirement benefit assets/obligations

The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution plans in a number of countries around the world and 
provides post-retirement healthcare insurance benefits to certain former employees. A defined benefit plan is a pension 
plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or 
more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan that defines the 
amount of contributions that are paid by the Group into an independently administered fund.
   
Pension arrangements for the Group’s UK employees are operated principally through the Experian Pension Scheme which 
is a defined benefit scheme and the Experian Money Purchase Pension Plan which is a defined contribution scheme. In 
North and Latin America, benefits are determined in accordance with local practice and regulations and funding is provided 
accordingly. There are no other material pension arrangements.
  
Following the demerger of Home Retail Group, the Argos Pension Scheme, a defined  benefit scheme for Home Retail 
Group employees, continued to be operated by that business. On demerger the pension rights of certain Home Retail Group 
employees, who had been members of the then GUS Pension Scheme, were transferred to the Argos Pension Scheme. 
Certain Home Retail Group employees who had been members of the then GUS Money Purchase Pension Plan were 
transferred to the Home Retail Group Stakeholder Pension Plan during the year.
 
(a) Defined benefit schemes           
The  Experian Pension Scheme has rules which specify the benefits to be paid and is financed accordingly with assets being 
held in independently administered funds. A full actuarial funding valuation of this scheme is carried out every three years 
with interim reviews in the intervening years. The latest full valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2007 by independent, 
qualified actuaries, Watson Wyatt Limited, using the projected unit credit method. Under this method of valuation the current 
service cost will increase as members approach retirement due to the ageing active membership of the scheme.

Whilst IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 – The Limit of a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction’ is not 
effective for the current financial year, the Group has reviewed its provisions and is satisfied that these would have no effect 
on the retirement benefit asset recognised in the Group balance sheet.

As reported last year, following changes introduced by the Finance Act 2004 which took effect from 6 April 2006 (A-Day), the Experian 
Pension Scheme implemented revised terms for members exchanging pension at retirement date for a tax-free lump sum. The impact 
of the consequent update in assumptions reduced the charge to the Group income statement for the year ended 31 March 2007 by 
US$2m and increased the actuarial gain recognised in the Group statement of recognised income and expense in that year by US$6m.

The disclosures required by IAS 19, which relate to the Group’s UK defined benefit pension arrangements only, are as follows:

Amounts recognised in the Group balance sheet
  2008 2007
   (Restated)
   (Note 2)

Retirement benefit assets US$m US$m

Market value of funded schemes’ assets 1,045  1,069 
Present value of funded schemes’ liabilities   (863) (928)

Retirement benefit assets – surplus in the funded schemes   182 141

Retirement benefit obligations 

Present value of unfunded pension arrangements 35 37
Liability for post-retirement healthcare   15 19

Retirement benefit obligations   50  56 

As indicated in note 2, retirement benefit obligations are now separately reported in the Group balance sheet as this is a 
more appropriate presentation of the nature of those obligations. The Group balance sheet at 31 March 2008 accordingly 
includes a net retirement benefit asset of US$132m (2007: US$85m) made up of total plan assets of US$1,045m (2007: US$1,069m) 
and total defined benefit obligations of US$913m (2007: US$984m).

As reported last year the Group has in place arrangements which secure unfunded pension benefit arrangements for 
certain directors and senior managers by granting charges to an independent trustee over independently managed 
portfolios of marketable securities owned by the Group. The amount of assets charged in this way is adjusted annually to 
keep the ratio of assets charged to the discounted value of the accrued benefits secured in this way as close as possible to 
the corresponding ratio in the Experian Pension Scheme. The total value of the assets charged in this way at 31 March 2008 
was US$34m (2007: US$29m). Further details of the unfunded pension arrangements for directors appear in the report on 
directors’ remuneration on page 62.
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27. Retirement benefit assets/obligations (continued)

Amounts recognised in the Group profit and loss account reserve
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Current service cost 20  53 
Curtailment gain (8)  (6)
Interest on schemes’ liabilities 53 78 
Expected return on schemes’ assets  (76)  (107)

Total (credit)/charge to Group income statement (11)  18 
Actuarial gain recognised in Group statement of recognised income and expense (15)  (65)
Charge to profit and loss account reserve in respect of the Argos Pension Scheme –  41 

Total (credit) to Group profit and loss account reserve (26)  (6)

The (credit)/charge to the Group income statement includes US$nil (2007: US$17m) in respect of discontinued operations.  

The curtailment gain in the year ended 31 March 2008 of US$8m arises principally from the restructuring of continuing 
businesses in the UK. The curtailment gain in the year ended 31 March 2007 arose from the restructuring of the UK Account 
Processing and the UK Marketing Services businesses, as well as the cessation of certain corporate functions in GUS plc.

The charge to the  Group profit and loss account reserve in the year ended 31 March 2007 in respect of the Argos Pension 
Scheme formed part of the dividend in specie on the demerger of Home Retail Group.

Movements during the year in the net retirement benefit asset recognised in the Group balance sheet

  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

At 1 April  85  31 
Differences on exchange –  10 
Total amounts recognised in Group income statement – as disclosed below 11  (18)
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in Group statement of recognised income and expense 15  65
Charge to profit and loss account reserve in respect of the Argos Pension Scheme –  (41)
Contributions paid by the Group 21  38 

At 31 March    132  85 

Expense recognised in the following lines in the Group income statement
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Administrative costs (after exceptional income of US$5m (2007: US$4m)) 12  17 
Net financing income    (23)  (16)

Continuing operations (11)  1 
Discontinued operations   –  17 

Total charge to Group income statement   (11)  18 

Actuarial gains and losses recognised in the Group statement of recognised income and expense

  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Gain on liabilities 116  75 
Loss on assets   (101)  (3)

Continuing operations 15  72 
Discontinued operations   –  (7)

Total gain included in Group statement of recognised income and expense in year   15  65

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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27. Retirement benefit assets/obligations (continued) 

The cumulative actuarial gain/(loss) included in the Group statement of recognised income and expense comprises:

  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Continuing operations 142  127 
Discontinued operations   (81) (81)

Total cumulative actuarial gain included in Group statement of recognised income and expense  61 46 

Changes in the present value of the total defined benefit obligation
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

At 1 April 984  1,989
Differences on exchange 11  198 
Additions through business combinations  6  – 
Demerger of Home Retail Group –  (1,100)
Current service cost 20  53 
Interest on schemes’ liabilities 53  78 
Settlement or curtailment (8)  (9)
Actuarial gain on liabilities (116)  (118)
Contributions paid by employees 6  14 
Contributions paid from outside the Group 3  2 
Benefits paid   (46)  (123)

At 31 March   913  984 

The total defined benefit obligation of US$913m (2007: US$984m) includes US$863m (2007: US$928m) in respect of the 
Group’s funded arrangements and US$50m (2007: US$56m) in respect of the Group’s unfunded arrangements.

Changes in the market value of the plan assets
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

At 1 April 1,069  2,020 
Differences on exchange 11  208
Demerger of Home Retail Group –  (1,141)
Additions through business combinations 6  –
Expected return on schemes’ assets 76  107 
Settlement or curtailment –  (3)
Actuarial loss on assets (101)  (53)
Contributions paid by the Group 21  38 
Contributions paid by employees 6  14 
Contributions paid from outside the Group 3  2 
Benefits paid (46)  (123)

At 31 March   1,045  1,069 

The actual return on plan assets was a loss of US$25m (2007: gain of US$54m). 

The estimated amount of contributions expected to be paid to the Experian defined benefit pension schemes during the next 
financial year is US$16m by the Group and US$5m by employees.    
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27. Retirement benefit assets/obligations (continued)

Actuarial assumptions
The valuations used for 31 March 2008 have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations, updated by  
Watson Wyatt Limited to take account of the requirements of IAS 19. The principal actuarial assumptions used  
to calculate the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follows:
  2008 2007
  % %

Rate of inflation 3.6  3.1 
Rate of increase for salaries 5.4  4.9 
Rate of increase for pensions in payment and deferred pensions 3.6  3.1 
Rate of increase for medical costs 6.5  6.5 
Discount rate   6.9  5.4 

The main financial assumption is the real discount rate, i.e. the excess of the discount rate over the rate of inflation. If this 
assumption increased/decreased by 0.1%, the defined benefit obligation would decrease/increase by approximately US$15m 
and the annual current service cost would decrease/increase by approximately US$1m. The discount rate is based on the 
market yields on high quality corporate bonds of appropriate currency and term to the defined benefit obligations.

The IAS 19 valuation assumes that mortality will be in line with the PA92 series year of use tables with medium cohort 
mortality improvement projections and an age rating of +1 year.  This includes an explicit allowance for anticipated future 
improvements in life expectancy (medium cohort projections).
   
The average expectation of life on retirement in normal health is assumed to be:
    2008 2007
    years years

At age 65 for a male currently aged 65   21.2 19.1 
At age 65 for a female currently aged 65   24.1 22.2 
At age 65 for a male currently aged 50   22.2 19.8 
At age 65 for a female currently aged 50   25.0 23.1 

An increase in assumed life expectancy of 0.1 years would increase the defined benefit obligation at 31 March 2008 by 
approximately US$3m.
     
The assumptions in respect of discount rate, salary increases and mortality all have a significant effect on the IAS 19 
accounting valuation. Changes to these assumptions in the light of prevailing conditions may have a significant impact on 
future valuations.
    
The IAS 19 valuation, in respect of post-retirement healthcare insurance benefits provided to certain former Group 
employees, additionally assumes a rate of increase for medical costs. If this assumption increased/decreased by 1.0% per 
annum then the obligation would increase/decrease by US$1m and the current service cost would remain unchanged.  
      
Assets of the Group’s defined benefit schemes and their expected rates of return
   Expected   Expected 
   long-term  long-term
   rate of   rate of 
  Fair value return Fair value return
  2008 2008 2007 2007
  US$m %p.a. US$m %p.a.

Equities 693 9.1  733  8.1 
Fixed interest securities 343 5.7  336  5.4 
Other 9 5.1  – n/a

  1,045 8.0  1,069  7.3 

The expected return on plan assets has been determined by considering the mix of returns anticipated on the assets held 
in accordance with the current investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments and securities are based on 
gross redemption yields as at the balance sheet date. Expected returns on equity and other investments reflect the long-term 
real rates of return experienced in the respective markets.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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27. Retirement benefit assets/obligations (continued)

History of experience gains and losses
  2008 2007 2006 2005
  US$m US$m US$m US$m

Present value of defined benefit obligation (913) (984) (1,989) (2,025)
Fair value of schemes’ assets 1,045 1,069  2,020  1,814 

Net pension asset/(obligation) 132  85  31  (211)

  2008 2007 2006 2005

Experience adjustment arising on defined benefit obligation:
Amount – Loss/(gain) (US$m) 8  (5) 2  (110)
Percentage of the present value of defined benefit obligation 0.9% 0.5% – 5.4%

Experience adjustment arising on schemes’ assets:
Amount – Loss/(gain) (US$m) 101  53 (241) – 
Percentage of schemes’ assets 9.7% 5.1% 11.6% – 

(b) Defined contribution schemes
The pension cost represents contributions payable by the Group to such schemes and amounted to US$37m (2007: US$33m). 

28. Available for sale financial assets 

(a) The analysis of available for sale financial assets disclosed in the Group balance sheet is as follows:
   2008 2007
   US$m US$m

At 1 April  38  37 
Differences on exchange  1  (2) 
Additions  4  3
Fair value losses on available for sale financial assets   (1)  – 

At 31 March   42   38 

 
(b) Available for sale financial assets comprise:
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Listed equity securities – UK 34  29  
Listed equity securities – North America    8  9 

    42  38 

(c) Available for sale financial assets are denominated in the following currencies:
  2008 2007
  US$m US$m

Sterling 34 29 
US Dollar   8 9 

    42 38 

There is no material difference between the fair value of available for sale financial assets and the book value stated above. 
None of the available for sale financial assets is either past due or impaired.
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29. Other financial assets and liabilities

(a) The analysis of other financial assets and liabilities disclosed in the Group balance sheet is as follows:

  Current Non-current Current Non-current
  2008 2008 2007 2007
Other financial assets US$m US$m US$m US$m

Derivative financial instruments:
Fair value hedge of borrowings – interest rate swaps – 24  –  20 
Fair value hedge of borrowings – cross currency swap – –   29  –  
Non-hedging derivatives – interest rate swaps 2 –  3  16 
Non-hedging derivatives – foreign exchange contracts 4 –  21  – 

Total other financial assets 6 24  53  36 

  Current Non-current Current Non-current
  2008 2008 2007 2007
Other financial liabilities US$m US$m US$m US$m

Derivative financial instruments: 
Fair value hedge of borrowings – interest rate swaps – 20  –  40
Non-hedging derivatives – equity swaps 16 5 –  –
Non-hedging derivatives – foreign exchange contracts 32 – –  – 
Non-hedging derivatives – interest rate swaps 2 66 – –

  50 91 –  40 
Put option in respect of acquisition of 
 Serasa minority interest –  583 –  – 

Total other financial liabilities 50 674 –  40 

There is no material difference between the fair values of these assets and liabilities and the book values stated above. 

(b) Notional principal amounts at the balance sheet dates in respect of the Group’s derivative financial instruments are as follows:
   2008 2007
   US$m US$m

Interest rate swaps  3,443  2,814
Cross currency swap  –  758
Equity swaps  72  –
Foreign exchange contracts   1,223  1,780

(c) Maturity of derivative financial instruments:
  Less than   1 - 2  2 - 3  3 - 4  4 - 5 Over 5 
  1 year years years years years years Total
At 31 March 2008 US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Settled on a net basis:
Interest rate swaps 15  (5) 15  13  12  12  62 
Equity swaps 19  5  2  –  –  –  26 

  34  – 17  13  12  12  88      
Settled on a gross basis – foreign exchange contracts 1,223  –  –  –  –  –  1,223

  1,257  – 17  13  12 12  1,311  

  Less than   1 - 2  2 - 3  3 - 4  4 - 5 Over 5 
  1 year years years years years years Total
At 31 March 2007 US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Settled on a net basis – interest rate swaps (5) 14  15 12 12 24  72 
Settled on a gross basis – foreign exchange contracts 1,780 –  –  –  –  –  1,780

  1,775 14 15 12 12 24  1,852 

The table above analyses the Group’s derivative instruments, which will be settled on a gross and net basis, into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts 
disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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29. Other financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

(d) Fair values of other financial assets and liabilities

Fair values of derivative instruments are set out in note (a) opposite.

The fair value of foreign currency contracts is based on a comparison of the contractual and year end exchange rates. The fair 
values of other derivative financial instruments are estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present values using 
appropriate market rates prevailing at the year end.

The put option associated with the remaining 30% stake of Serasa is recognised as a liability of US$583m at 31 March 2008 
under IAS 39. The put element is valued at the higher of 95% of the equity value of Serasa or the value of Serasa based on the 
P/E ratio of Experian and the latest earnings of Serasa. A Monte Carlo simulation has been used to calculate the liability. The 
key assumptions in arriving at the value of the put are the equity value of Serasa, the future P/E ratio of Experian at the date of 
exercise, the respective volatilities of Experian and Serasa and the risk free rate in Brazil. 

The method of valuation has been updated since the initial recognition of the liability as it is now assumed that the put may be 
exercised in June 2012 and thereafter recorded as a current liability. Previously an average assumed exercise date of June 2015 
had been applied. This change in method resulted in an increase of US$117m to the initial liability recognised at the date of the 
written put on acquisition of Serasa and has no impact on the results previously reported at 30 September 2007. The gain since 
acquisition of US$69m, which is recorded as a financing fair value remeasurement, primarily relates to a fall of 7 in the expected 
future Experian P/E ratio during the period since acquisition and an increase in the risk free rate in Brazil from 10.4% to 13.2%.

(e) Amounts recognised in the Group income statement in connection with the Group’s hedging instruments are disclosed in note 10.

30. Additional information on financial liabilities

(a) The contractual repricing dates of liabilities exposed to interest rate risk are as follows:

  Less than   1 - 2  2 - 3  3 - 4  4 - 5 Over 5 
  1 year years years years years years Total
At 31 March 2008 US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Loans and borrowings
 £350m 6.375% Eurobonds 2009 –  732  –  – –  –  732
 £334m 5.625% Euronotes 2013 –  –  –  –  – 660  660
 Bank loans 1,438  –  –  – –  – 1,438
 Overdrafts 4  –  –  – –  –  4
 Present value of obligations under finance leases 6  5  4  1 –  –  16
Effect of interest rate swaps1 (185) (210) 475  379  209  (668) –
Other derivative financial liabilities 50  15  21  26  9  20  141 
Put option in respect of acquisition of 
 Serasa minority interest 583  –  –  – –  –  583
Trade and other payables2 944  25  23  1  –  –  993

   2,840  567  523 407  218  12  4,567 

  Less than   1 - 2  2 - 3  3 - 4  4 - 5 Over 5 
  1 year years years years years years Total
At 31 March 2007 US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Loans and borrowings
 €548m 4.125% Euronotes 2007 751  – – – – –  751 
 £350m 6.375% Eurobonds 2009 –  –  721  –  –  –  721 
 £334m 5.625% Euronotes 2013 –  –  –  – –  627  627 
 Overdrafts 273  –  –  –  –  –  273
 Present value of obligations under finance leases 1  –  –  – –  –  1 
Effect of interest rate swaps1 130  408  (272) 390  – (656) – 
Other derivative financial liabilities 40  – –  –  –  –  40 
Trade and other payables2 714 46  3  1  1  1  766 

  1,909 454  452  391  1  (28) 3,179 

1. These represent the gross notional values of interest rate swaps. 

2. VAT and other tax payable of US$52m (2007: US$42m), social security costs of US$95m (2007: US$75m) and accruals of US$196m (2007: US$200m) are included   
    in trade and other payables in note 23 but are excluded from this analysis.
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30. Additional information on financial liabilities (continued)

(b) Analysis of financial liabilities by currency:

     Brazilian 
   Sterling US Dollar Real Euro Other Total
At 31 March 2008  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Loans and borrowings
 £350m 6.375% Eurobonds 2009  732  –  –  –  – 732 
 £334m 5.625% Euronotes 2013  660  –  –  –  –  660
 Bank loans  –  1,438  –  –  –  1,438
 Overdrafts  –  –  –  4  –  4
 Present value of obligations under finance leases  –  –  16  –  –  16
Effect of forward foreign exchange contracts1  (900) 611  –  222  67  –
Other derivative financial liabilities  84  55  –  2  – 141
Put option in respect of acquisition of 
 Serasa minority interest  –  –  583  – –  583
Trade and other payables2  343  376  76  145  53  993

   919  2,480  675  373  120 4,567

    Sterling US Dollar Euro Other Total
At 31 March 2007   US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Loans and borrowings        
 €548m 4.125% Euronotes 2007   –  –  751  –  751 
 £350m 6.375% Eurobonds 2009   721  –   –  –   721 
 £334m 5.625% Euronotes 2013   627  –   –  –   627 
 Overdrafts   4  –   269  –   273
 Present value of obligations under finance leases   1  –   –   –  1
Effect of forward foreign exchange contracts   
 and cross currency swap1   (1,065) 1,513  (516) 68  – 
Other derivative financial liabilities   40  –   –   –   40 
Trade and other payables2   207  409  120 30  766 

    535  1,922  624  98  3,179 

1. These represent the gross notional values of foreign exchange contracts and, at 31 March 2007, a cross currency swap.  

2. VAT and other tax payable of US$52m (2007: US$42m), social security costs of US$95m (2007: US$75m) and accruals of US$196m (2007: US$200m) are included 
    in trade and other payables in note 23 but are excluded from this analysis.        

(c) Analysis of financial liabilities by interest rate profile:
    Non- 
    interest
  Floating Fixed bearing Total
At 31 March 2008 US$m US$m US$m US$m

Loans and borrowings 1,443  1,407  –  2,850
Effect of interest rate swaps1  (note 30(a)) (185) 185  – –
Other derivative financial liabilities 141  –  – 141 
Put option in respect of acquisition of 
 Serasa minority interest  –  – 583  583 
Trade and other payables2  33  70  890  993

  1,432  1,662  1,473  4,567

    Non- 
    interest
  Floating Fixed bearing Total
At 31 March 2007 US$m US$m US$m US$m

Loans and borrowings 1,024  1,349  –  2,373 
Effect of interest rate swaps1 (note 30(a)) 130  (130) –  – 
Other derivative financial liabilities 40  – –  40 
Trade and other payables2  –  –  766  766 

  1,194  1,219  766 3,179 

1.  These represent the effect of interest rate swaps on the interest rate profile.

2. VAT and other tax payable of US$52m (2007: US$42m), social security costs of US$95m (2007: US$75m) and accruals of US$196m (2007: US$200m) are included 
    in trade and other payables in note 23 but are excluded from this analysis. 

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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30. Additional information on financial liabilities (continued)

(d) Analysis by maturity profile (contractual, undiscounted cash flows):

  Less than   1 - 2  2 - 3  3 - 4  4 - 5 Over 5 
  1 year years years years years years Total
At 31 March 2008 US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Loans and borrowings 127 783 43 41 1,473 701  3,168
Net settled derivative financial instruments (note 29 (c)) 34  – 17  13  12  12  88
Gross settled derivative financial instruments (note 29 (c)) 1,223  – – –  – –  1,223 
Put option in respect of acquisition of 
 Serasa minority interest –  – – –  1,003 –  1,003
Trade and other payables1 947  26  25  1  1  – 1,000

  2,331 809  85  55  2,489  713  6,482

  Less than   1 - 2  2 - 3  3 - 4  4 - 5 Over 5 
  1 year years years years years years Total
At 31 March 2007 US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Loans and borrowings 1,115  81  768  37  37  730  2,768 
Net settled derivative financial instruments (note 29 (c)) (5) 14  15 12  12  24  72
Gross settled derivative financial instruments (note 29 (c)) 1,780 – – – – – 1,780 
Trade and other payables1 656  63  3  1  1  1  725 

  3,546  158  786  50  50  755 5,345 

1. Cash flows in respect of VAT, other tax payable, social security costs and accruals are excluded from this analysis.    
 
31. Deferred tax
   2008 2007
(a) Net deferred tax (liabilities)/assets  US$m US$m

At 1 April   35  197 
Differences on exchange  (11)  – 
Income statement charge (note 11) (including US$nil (2007: US$5m) relating to discontinued operations) (38)  (54)
Business combinations (note 34)  (90)  (2)
Demerger of Home Retail Group  –  (89) 
Tax charged to equity   (16)  (18)
Transfers   (24)  1 

At 31 March   (144)  35 

Net deferred tax (liabilities)/assets have been presented in the Group balance sheet as follows:
Deferred tax assets  26   103
Deferred tax liabilities   (170)  (68)

    (144)  35 

The movement in gross deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of 
balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is shown below.

(b) Deferred tax assets
     Share option   Other 
   Accelerated   and award Asset   temporary 
   depreciation Intangibles schemes provisions Tax losses differences Total
   US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

At 1 April 2007  3  128  20  26  8 119 304 
Differences on exchange  – – – 2 (1) 1 2 
Income statement credit/(charge)  6 (16) – (9) 35 (29) (13) 
Business combinations  – 3 – 17 – 9 29 
Tax charged to equity   – – (11) – – – (11)
Transfers  – – – – – (48) (48) 

At 31 March 2008  9  115 9  36 42  52  263 
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31. Deferred tax (continued)

(c) Deferred tax liabilities
       Share option  Other 
    Property  Accelerated   and award  temporary 
    valuations depreciation Intangibles schemes Tax losses differences Total
    US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

At 1 April 2007   5  34  70  1  5  154  269 
Differences on exchange   – – 12 – – 1  13 
Income statement charge/(credit)   – 1 (18) – (1) 43  25 
Business combinations   – – 120 – – (1) 119 
Tax charged to equity     – – – – – 5  5  
Transfers   – 2 – – – (26)  (24)

At 31 March 2008   5  37  184  1  4  176  407 

Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses carried forward and other temporary differences to the extent that 
the realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.

The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of US$32m (2007: US$19m) in respect of losses that can be carried forward 
against future taxable income. In addition the Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of US$25m (2007: US$22m) in 
respect of capital losses that can be carried forward against future taxable gains. These losses are available indefinitely.

Deferred tax liabilities of US$2,004m (2007: US$2,187m) have not been recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes that 
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries. As the earnings are continually reinvested by the Group, 
no tax is expected to be payable on them in the foreseeable future.

At the balance sheet date there were deferred tax assets recoverable within the next twelve months of US$47m (2007: 
US$120m) and deferred tax liabilities payable within the next twelve months of US$1m (2007: US$10m). 

32. Reconciliation of movements in total equity
        Attributable Equity 
   Number of  Share Share Retained Other to equity minority Total
   shares capital premium earnings reserves holders interests equity
Year ended 31 March 2008   m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

At 1 April 2007  1,022.3 102  1,435  16,341  (15,773) 2,105  2  2,107 
Profit for the financial year  – – – 437  –  437  15  452  
Net income recognised directly in  
 equity for the financial year  – – – (2)  89  87  –  87  
Employee share option schemes:          
 – value of employee services  – – – 65  –  65  –  65  
 – proceeds from shares issued  1.1  –  7  –  – 7  –  7  
Exercise of share options  – – – (3) 37  34  – 34  
Liability on put option over minority interests – – – (591)  –  (591)  –  (591)  
Minority interest arising on business combinations – – – – –  – 155  155 
Purchase of own shares by employee trusts – – – – (6) (6) –  (6) 
Equity dividends paid during the year (note 14) – – – (182) –  (182) –  (182)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders – – – – – – (11) (11) 

At 31 March 2008  1,023.4 102  1,442  16,065  (15,653) 1,956  161  2,117  

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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32. Reconciliation of movements in total equity (continued)

        Attributable Equity 
   Number of  Share Share Retained Other to equity minority Total
   shares capital premium earnings reserves holders interests equity
Year ended 31 March 2007   m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

At 1 April 2006  879.2 88  16,256  5,683  (16,575) 5,452  2  5,454 
Profit for the financial year  –  –  –  462  –  462  1  463 
Net income recognised directly  
 in equity for the financial year  –   –  –  132  469  601  –  601 
Share issues pre demerger of  
 Home Retail Group  7.1 1  75  –  –  76  –  76 
Cancellation of treasury shares  
 pre demerger of Home Retail Group  (8.9) (1) (178) –  179  –  –  – 
Capital reduction  –  –  (16,153) 16,153  –  – –  – 
Share issues by way of Global Offer  142.9 14  1,427  –  –  1,441  –  1,441 
Employee share option schemes:           
 – value of employee services  –   –  –  109  –  109  –  109 
 – proceeds from shares issued   2.0 –  8  –  –  8  – 8 
Exercise of share options  –  –  –  (70) 129  59  – 59 
Purchase of own shares by employee trusts –   – –  –  (75) (75) –  (75)
Relinquishment of Home Retail Group  
 shares to employees and Home Retail Group –   –  – (100) 100  –  –  – 
Equity dividends paid during the year (note 14) –   – –  (401) –  (401) –  (401)
Dividend in specie relating to the demerger  
 of Home Retail Group (note 14)  –   –  –  (5,627) –  (5,627) –  (5,627)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders –   –  –  –  –  –  (1) (1)

At 31 March 2007  1,022.3 102  1,435  16,341  (15,773) 2,105  2  2,107 

The balance classified as share capital is the nominal value of the Company’s issued share capital. Further details relating 
to the authorised and issued share capital of Experian Group Limited at the balance sheet dates, together with details of 
ordinary shares issued since the balance sheet date, are contained in note K to the parent company financial statements.

On 10 October 2006, the separation of Experian and Home Retail Group was completed by way of demerger. As part of the 
demerger, Experian Group Limited became the ultimate holding company of GUS plc and related subsidiaries and shares  
in GUS plc ceased to be listed on the London Stock Exchange on 6 October 2006. Trading of shares in Experian on the  
London Stock Exchange commenced on 11 October 2006. This transaction was accounted for using the principles of  
merger accounting and the distribution to GUS plc shareholders of shares in Home Retail Group plc was accounted for  
as a dividend in specie. In accordance with the requirements of merger accounting, the nominal values of the issued share 
capital at 1 April 2005 and subsequent movements to the date of demerger were amended to reflect the capital structure of  
Experian Group Limited. These movements included the recognition of a share premium balance in Experian Group Limited 
on a reorganisation prior to the demerger and the subsequent reduction of share capital and the transfer of the associated 
share premium account to retained earnings.

On 11 October 2006, the Group raised US$1,441m, net of US$43m expenses, by way of a share offer. The amount received 
in excess of the nominal value of shares issued is reported as part of the share premium account and the balance on this 
account is not available for distribution.

Retained earnings comprise net profits retained in the Group after the payment of dividends. The composition of and 
movements on other reserves are explained below. There are no significant statutory, contractual or exchange control 
restrictions on distributions by Group undertakings.       
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32. Reconciliation of movements in total equity (continued)

The analysis of other reserves is as follows:
      Total
  Own Merger Hedging Translation other
  shares reserve reserve reserve reserves
Year ended 31 March 2008 US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

At 1 April 2007 (163) (15,682) 18  54  (15,773)
Exercise of share options 37 – – – 37 
Purchase of own shares by employee trusts (6) – – – (6) 
Net income recognised directly in equity for the financial year – – (7) 96 89 

At 31 March 2008 (132) (15,682) 11  150  (15,653)

Year ended 31 March 2007     

At 1 April 2006 (496) (15,682) 14  (411) (16,575)
Cancellation of treasury shares pre demerger  
 of Home Retail Group 179  –  –  –  179 
Exercise of share options  129  –  –  –  129 
Purchase of own shares by employee trusts (75) –  –  – (75)
Relinquishment of Home Retail Group shares to  
 employees and Home Retail Group 100  –  –  –  100 
Net income recognised directly in equity for the financial year –  –  4  465  469 

At 31 March 2007 (163) (15,682) 18  54  (15,773)

At 31 March 2008, the balance on the own shares reserve represents the cost of shares in the Company held by the Experian 
Group Limited Employee Share Trust and the Experian UK Approved All-Employee Plan Trust, including shares purchased by 
the GUS ESOP Trust to satisfy certain of the Group’s obligations under its share incentive plans. During the year these trusts 
purchased 509,518 (2007: 7,775,076) shares at a cost of US$6m (2007: US$75m). 

The merger reserve arose on the demerger in October 2006 and represents the difference between the share capital and 
share premium of GUS plc and the nominal value of the share capital of the Company before the global offer and subsequent 
share issues.

Movements on the hedging reserve and the position at the balance sheet date reflect hedging transactions which are not 
charged or credited to the Group income statement, net of related taxation.

Movements on the translation reserve and the position at the balance sheet date reflect foreign currency translations since  
1 April 2004 which are not charged or credited to the Group income statement, net of related taxation.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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33. Notes to the Group cash flow statement
   2008 2007
    US$m US$m

(a) Cash generated from operations
Profit after tax  452  326 
Adjustments for:     
Tax expense  97  68 
Share of post-tax profits of associates  (50)  (67)
Net financing costs   155  146 

Operating profit  654  473 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  3  10 
Depreciation and amortisation  422  303 
Goodwill adjustment  2  14 
Charge in respect of equity incentive plans  66  91 
Exceptional items included in working capital   9  46 
Increase in inventories  –  (1)
Increase in receivables  (73)  (72)
Increase in payables  87  82 
Difference between pension contributions paid and amounts recognised in Group income statement (5)  (4)

Cash generated from operations   1,165  942 

(b) Interest paid
Interest paid on bonds, bank loans and overdrafts  167  133 
Interest element of finance lease rental payments   2  – 

Total interest paid   169  133 

(c) Acquisition of subsidiaries
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings (including acquisition expenses) (note 34)  (1,726)  (82)
Net cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings (note 34)  60  8 
Deferred consideration settled on acquisitions made in previous years   (54)  (44)

Net cash outflow for acquisition of subsidiaries   (1,720)  (118)

(d) Disposal of subsidiaries
Receipt of deferred consideration in respect of home shopping and Reality  –  258
Sale of other businesses   6  – 

Cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries   6  258 

(e) Financing
Debt due within one year:
Repayment of borrowings  (746)  (42) 
New borrowings  29  –
Debt due after more than one year: 
Repayment of borrowings  –  (1,381)
New borrowings   1,409  – 

Net cash flow from debt financing   692  (1,423)

(f) Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand   148  364 
Short-term investments   3  543 

Cash and cash equivalents per Group balance sheet   151  907 
Overdrafts   (4)  (273)

Cash and cash equivalents per Group cash flow statement   147  634 

(g) Major non-cash transactions
Other than those obligations acquired in connection with the purchase of Serasa, the Group did not enter into any new finance lease 
arrangements during the year (2007: US$nil). Finance lease obligations of Serasa at the date of acquisition in June 2007 were US$19m.
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34. Acquisitions

On 28 June 2007, the Group acquired an initial 65% stake in Serasa, the market-leading credit bureau in Brazil, from a consortium of 
Brazilian banks for US$1.2bn inclusive of transaction costs and net of cash and cash equivalents held by that business. Under the 
terms of the purchase agreement a further 5% of Serasa has been acquired since the date of the acquisition and, at 31 March 2008,  
the Group’s interest in Serasa was 70%. There are put and call options associated with the shares held by the remaining principal 
shareholders of Serasa and these are exercisable for a period of five years from June 2012. As indicated in note 2, the net present 
value of the put option has been recognised as a non-current financial liability. At 31 March 2008 this liability was US$583m.

In addition the Group acquired the whole of the issued share capital of Hitwise, a leading internet market intelligence company, 
for US$260m on 8 June 2007 and made a number of other acquisitions, none of which is considered individually material. The 
other acquisitions comprise the purchase of an additional interest in an entity previously classified as an associate together with 
purchases of 100% interests in a number of other entities.

In aggregate, the acquired businesses contributed revenues of US$411m to the Group, consisting of revenues from Serasa 
US$305m, Hitwise US$45m and other acquisitions US$61m, from the date of their acquisition to 31 March 2008. The acquisitions 
contributed aggregate profit after tax of US$54m to the Group, consisting of the profit after tax of Serasa US$44m, Hitwise US$4m 
and other acquisitions US$6m, for the periods from their respective acquisition dates to 31 March 2008. If these acquisitions had 
been completed on 1 April 2007, further revenues of US$132m would have been reported. It has been impracticable to estimate 
the impact on Group profit after tax had the acquired entities been owned from 1 April 2007, due to the acquired entities having 
different accounting policies prior to acquisition, previously reporting to different period ends and, in the case of certain of the 
individually immaterial acquisitions, preparing financial information on a cash basis prior to acquisition.

Details of the net assets acquired at provisional fair values are as follows:
  Serasa Hitwise Other acquisitions Total
     
   Book value Fair value Book value Fair value Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
   US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Intangible assets  96  531  4 76  -  79  100  686  
Property, plant and equipment  61  64  2 2  3  3  66  69  
Deferred tax assets  8  25  – 3  1 1  9  29 
Trade and other receivables  57  53  12 9  38 38  107  100 
Cash and cash equivalents  22  22  21 21  17 17  60  60 
Trade and other payables  (66) (65) (34) (34) (25) (26) (125) (125)
Provisions  (5) (54) – – –  –  (5) (54)
Current tax liabilities  (3) (3) – – –  –  (3) (3)
Deferred tax liabilities  (32) (79) –  (16) –  (24) (32) (119)

   138  494  5  61  34  88  177  643

Goodwill   911   201   169   1,281

    1,405   262   257   1,924 

Satisfied by:
Cash   1,231   260   181   1,672 
Acquisition expenses   46   2   6   54 
Deferred consideration   (19)  –   52   33  
Acquisition of controlling stake in associate  –   –   10   10 
Recognition of minority interest   147   –   8   155 

    1,405   262   257   1,924 

The book values above are the carrying amounts of each class of asset and liability, determined in accordance with IFRS, 
immediately before the acquisition.

The fair values set out above contain certain provisional amounts which will be finalised no later than one year after the date 
of acquisition. Provisional amounts have been included at 31 March 2008 as a consequence of the timing and complexity of the 
acquisitions. Fair value adjustments in respect of acquisitions made during the year resulted in an increase in book value of 
US$466m and arose principally in respect of acquisition intangibles. Goodwill represents the synergies, assembled workforce 
and future growth potential of the businesses acquired.

Deferred consideration is primarily payable in cash up to three years after the date of acquisition and in some cases is 
contingent on the businesses acquired achieving revenue and profit targets. The deferred consideration settled during the 
year on acquisitions made in previous years was US$53m.

There have been no material gains, losses, error corrections or other adjustments recognised in the year ended 31 March 
2008, that relate to acquisitions that were effected in the current or previous years.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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35. Share-based payment arrangements 

The Group has a number of equity settled, share-based incentive plans. These include options and awards in respect of shares 
in Experian Group Limited made at or after demerger together with options and awards previously made in respect of shares in 
GUS plc which were rolled over into options and awards in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited at demerger.

Prior to the demerger, Experian employees participated in share-based incentive plans in respect of ordinary shares in  
GUS plc. On demerger, certain GUS options and awards vested early with the majority of Experian participants’ outstanding 
GUS options and awards rolled over into the Experian equivalent share-based incentive plans. Accordingly the following 
information relates to options and awards held by the Group’s employees including details in respect of Experian share-based 
incentive plans and, where appropriate, GUS share-based incentive plans. Option, award and share prices are disclosed in 
Sterling as this is the currency in which ordinary shares in Experian Group Limited are quoted and ordinary shares in GUS plc 
were quoted prior to the demerger.

(a) Share options

(i) Summary of arrangements

Experian Share Option Plan
The Experian Share Option Plan was introduced at demerger and includes options granted at and after demerger together 
with certain options rolled over from former GUS plans. Arrangements are as follows:

Nature  Grant of options
Vesting conditions:
 – Service period  3 and 4 years
 – Performance/Other n/a
Expected outcome of meeting performance criteria (at grant date) n/a    
Maximum term 10 years    
Method of settlement  Share distribution
Expected departures (at grant date) 5%    
Option exercise price calculation1  Market price over the 3 dealing days preceding the grant 

1.  Three day averages are calculated by taking middle market quotations of an Experian Group Limited share from the London Stock Exchange daily official list. 

Experian Sharesave Plans

A number of Experian Sharesave Plans were introduced during the year ended 31 March 2008 and arrangements are primarily as 
follows:

Nature  ‘Save as you earn’ schemes

Vesting conditions:

 – Service period 1 year for US scheme 
  3 or 5 years for other schemes 

 – Performance/Other  Saving obligation over the vesting period

Expected outcome of meeting performance criteria (at grant date) n/a

Maximum term 1,  3.5 or 5.5 years

Method of settlement  Share distribution

Expected departures (at grant date) 1 year2 – 5% 

  3 years2 – 30%

  5 years2 – 50%
Option exercise price calculation1  15% discount to market price over the 3 dealing days 

preceding the grant for US scheme 
20% discount to market price over the 3 dealing days 
preceding the grant for other schemes    

1.  Three day averages are calculated by taking middle market quotations of an Experian Group Limited share from the London Stock Exchange daily official list.

2.  The stated values for expected departures include participants who did not meet the saving requirement of the schemes.    
  .
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35. Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

Experian Roll-over plans (formerly GUS plans)
The arrangements in respect of former GUS share option plans, which were primarily rolled over into Experian equivalent 
plans at demerger, are as follows:

Arrangements
The 1998 Approved and Non-Approved
Executive Share Option Schemes The North America Stock Option Plan

Savings related share  
option schemes

Nature Grant of options Grant of options ‘Save as you earn’ 
schemes

Vesting conditions:
– Service period 3 years 1, 2 and 3 years 3 or 5 years
– Performance/Other EPS growth performance 

condition1

n/a Saving obligation over 
the vesting period

Expected outcome of meeting 
performance criteria (at grant date) Condition is satisfied n/a n/a

Maximum term 10 years 6 years 3.5 or 5.5 years

Method of settlement Share distribution Share distribution Share distribution

Expected departures  
(at grant date)

5% 1 year    – 0%
2 years  – 15%
3 years  – 20%

3 years2 – 30%
5 years2 – 50%

Option exercise price calculation3 Market price over the 3 dealing 
days preceding the grant

Market price over the 3 dealing 
days preceding the grant

20% discount to market 
price over the 3 dealing 
days preceding the 
grant

1.   The performance condition for  The 1998 Approved and Non-Approved Executive Share Option Schemes required average Benchmark EPS growth to exceed 
the average growth in the general index of UK retail prices by at least 4% p.a. over a 2 year period. The period of assessment commenced at the date of 
demerger. This is not a market based performance condition as defined by IFRS 2.

2.   The stated values for expected departures include participants who did not meet the saving requirement of the scheme.

3.   Three day averages were calculated by taking middle market quotations of a GUS plc share from the London Stock Exchange daily official list. At roll-over, the 
quantity and exercise price of grants were modified to adjust for the difference between the GUS and Experian share prices.

4.   At demerger, a limited number of options and awards remained as GUS options and awards and participants had entitlement to one Home Retail Group share 
and one Experian share in lieu of each GUS share allocated. To the extent that these share options did not vest in accordance with their conditions, they lapsed 
during the year ended 31 March 2007 or the year ended 31 March 2008.

(ii) Weighted average share price
   2008 2007
   £ £

Weighted average share price of Experian Group Limited 1  5.02 5.90
GUS plc share price at demerger  n/a 9.90
Weighted average share price of GUS plc2   n/a 9.82

1. Experian’s weighted average share price for 2007 is for the period from the listing date, 11 October 2006, to 31 March 2007.

2. GUS plc’s weighted average share price for 2007 is in respect of the period up to 11 October 2006.

Options in respect of the ordinary shares of Experian Group Limited and GUS plc were exercised on a regular basis 
throughout the periods that the respective shares were in issue.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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35. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

(iii) Information relating to option valuation techniques 

For the above plans the Black-Scholes model is used to determine an appropriate value of the option grants and inputs into 
the model are calculated as follows: 

Expected volatility: Experian Share Option Plan – As shares in Experian Group Limited were newly listed during the 
year ended 31 March 2007, there was insufficient share price history in order to calculate historical volatility in that year. 
Accordingly to arrive at a reasonable volatility assumption an analysis of the share price volatility of comparable companies 
was performed in that year. Subsequently volatility has been calculated as an average over the expected life with an 
assumption made for volatility in each year of the expected life. Volatility in the first year is now assumed to be the same as 
implied volatility on grant date. Volatility for year 4 and beyond is assumed to remain at the long run historic volatility. Linear 
interpolation is assumed for years 2 and 3.

Expected volatility: Experian Sharesave Plans – Calculated as an average over the expected life with an assumption made for 
volatility in each year of the expected life. Volatility in the first year is assumed to be the same as implied volatility on grant 
date. Volatility for year 4 and beyond is assumed to remain at the long run historic volatility. Linear interpolation is assumed 
for years 2 and 3.

Expected volatility: former GUS plans – Calculated as an average over the expected life with an assumption made for 
volatility in each year of the expected life. Volatility in the first year was assumed to be the same as implied volatility on grant 
date. Volatility for year 4 and beyond was assumed to remain at the long run (10 year observed) historic volatility. Linear 
interpolation was assumed for years 2 and 3.

Expected dividend yield – Yields are based on the current consensus analyst forecast figures at the time of grant.  
The inputs utilised are an average of the forecast over the next three financial years.

Risk-free rate – Rates are obtained from the UK Government Debt Management Office website which details historical 
prices and yields for gilt strips.

Expected option life to exercise: Experian Share Option Plan – Options under the Experian Share Option Plan vest 50% after 
3 years and 50% after 4 years. The expected life is 4 years for the 50% that vest after 3 years and 4.85 years for the 50% that 
vest after 4 years.

Expected option life to exercise: Experian Sharesave Plans – Options under these plans have expected lives of either 3 or 5 
years.

Expected option life to exercise: former GUS plans – Options under The 1998 Approved and Non-Approved Executive Share 
Option Schemes had expected lives of 4 years, The North America Stock Option Plan had an expected life of 3.75 years and 
the savings related share option schemes had expected lives of either 3 or 5 years.

Share price on grant date: Experian Share Option Plan – The majority of the grants made in the year ended 31 March 2007 
were made on 11 October 2006. As this was Experian’s first trading day, the weighted average price of trades was used. For 
subsequent grants, the closing price on the day of grant was used.

Share price on grant date: Experian Sharesave Plans – The closing price on the day the options were granted.  
       
Share price on grant date: former GUS plans – The closing price on the day the options were granted.

Option exercise price – Exercise price as stated in the terms of each award.



124 Experian Annual Report 2008

35. Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

(iv) Weighted average estimated fair values and the inputs into the Black-Scholes models – Experian plans
   Experian
Arrangements  Experian Share Option Plan Sharesave Plans

  2008 2007 2008

Share price on grant date (£) 5.30 5.63 5.83
Exercise price (£) 5.22 5.61 4.72
Expected volatility 29.5% 28.0% 26.7%
Expected dividend yield 3.6% 3.3% 3.8%
Risk-free rate 5.2% 4.9% 5.7%
Expected option life to exercise 3.6 years 4.4 years 3.3 years

Fair value (£) 1.08 1.26 1.58

(v) Weighted average estimated fair values and the inputs into the Black-Scholes models – former GUS plans

  The 1998  
  Approved and  
  Non-Approved  
  Executive  The North 
  Share Option  America Stock
Arrangements Schemes  Option Plan

Share price on grant date (£)  9.35 9.35
Exercise price (£) 9.26 9.26
Expected volatility 29.4% 29.1%
Expected dividend yield 3.5% 3.5%
Risk-free rate 4.7% 4.7%
Expected option life to exercise 4 years 3.75 years

Fair value (£)  2.06 2.00

The weighted average estimated fair values and the inputs into the Black-Scholes model for these plans are in respect of the 
period from 1 April 2006 to the date of demerger. Options over GUS plc shares granted in that period had a weighted average 
fair value of £2.03. There were no options granted in respect of savings related share option schemes in that period.

(vi) Reconciliation of movement in the number of share options

   Number Weighted average 
   of options exercise price
   2008 2008 
   m £

Options in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited outstanding at 1 April 2007  31.4 4.73
New grants  6.3 4.96
Forfeitures1  (1.8) 5.20
Cancellations  (0.3) 4.52
Exercised options  (4.9) 4.09
Expired options  (0.6) 4.88

Options in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited outstanding at 31 March 2008 30.1 4.85

Options in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited exercisable at 31 March 2008 8.3 4.20

1. For arrangements which are ‘save as you earn’ in nature, this includes non-leavers who have failed the savings requirement.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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35. Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

(vi) Reconciliation of movement in the number of share options (continued)
 
   Number Weighted average 
   of options exercise price
   2007 2007
   m £

Options in respect of shares in GUS plc outstanding at 1 April 2006  28.2 6.90
New grants  7.7 9.26
Forfeitures1  (0.8) 7.62
Exercised options  (7.1) 5.71

Options in respect of shares in GUS plc at demerger  28.0 7.83
Less: options rolled over into Home Retail Group share plans  (10.3) 7.50
Less: GUS options forfeited post demerger  (0.3) 7.21
Less: GUS options  exercised post demerger  (0.6) 7.29

GUS options rolled into Experian equivalent options  16.8 8.06
Conversion to Experian Group Limited options at the average roll-over ratio of 1.76 12.8 

Experian equivalent roll-over options  29.6 4.56

Options in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited granted on or after demerger 4.2 5.61
Forfeitures1  (0.8) 5.09
Exercised options  (1.6) 3.72

Options in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited outstanding at 31 March 2007 31.4 4.73

Options in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited exercisable at 31 March 2007 8.0 3.89

1. For arrangements which are ‘save as you earn’ in nature, this includes non-leavers who have failed the savings requirement.

(vii) Options in respect of Experian Group Limited shares outstanding at the end of the year 

At 31 March 2008

 Range of  Number Weighted     
 exercise  of   average Weighted average remaining lives 
 prices options exercise   
   price 1  
 £ m £ Expected years Contractual years

 2-3 0.2 2.85 0.4 1.1
 3-4 4.2 3.75 0.6 2.8     
 4-5 11.9 4.62 1.5 5.1 
 5-6 12.7 5.34 2.6 6.9     
 6-7 1.1 6.12 3.4 9.2  

   30.1 4.85  

 
At 31 March 2007

 Range of  Number Weighted     
 exercise  of   average Weighted average remaining lives  
 prices options exercise   
   price 1  
 £ m £ Expected years Contractual years

 2-3  0.2  2.74 1.1 2.3
 3-4  7.1  3.71 0.2 3.6     
 4-5  10.4  4.67 1.7 6.0     
 5-6  13.8  5.33 3.3 7.7  

   31.5  4.73  

1.  To the extent that GUS options have been rolled over into the Experian plans, the inputs for share price at grant date and exercise price have been rebased to 
be comparable with the Experian Group Limited share price at demerger and to reflect the consequent changes to option terms.
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35. Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

(b) Share awards

(i) Summary of arrangements

Experian share award plans

The following arrangements include awards made at and after demerger together with awards rolled over from former 
GUS plans:

      Experian Free Shares  
       Plan and the Experian 
   Experian Co-Investment Experian Reinvestment Experian Performance Share UK Approved 
Arrangements Plan Plan Plan All-Employee Plan

Nature of arrangement Grant of shares1 Grant of shares 1 Grant of shares Grant of shares

Vesting conditions:    

– Service period 4 years 3 to 5 years 5 years 3 years 

– Performance 100% – Benchmark profit 50% – Benchmark profit 50% – Benchmark profit n/a 
 performance of Group performance of Group performance of Group 
 assessed against assessed against assessed against 
 specified targets 2 specified targets 3 specified targets 3   

  50% – n/a 50% – Distribution 
   percentage determined 
   by ranking 
   ‘Total Shareholder Return’ 
   relative to a comparator 
   group 4  

Expected outcome of 
meeting performance 
criteria (at grant date) Benchmark profit – 100% Benchmark profit – 80% Benchmark profit – 79% n/a 
  Unconditional – 100% TSR – 52.3% – Oct 2006 Grant 
   TSR – 57.4% – Jun 2007 Grant 
   TSR – 29.6% – Nov 2007 Grant 

Maximum term 4 years 5 years 5 years 3.5 years 

Method of settlement Share distribution Share distribution Share distribution Share distribution

Expected departures 
(at grant date) 5% 5% 5% 15%

1.  The grant date is the start of the financial year in which performance is assessed. This is before the quantity of the shares award is determined but the 
underlying value of the award is known at the grant date, subject to the outcome of the performance condition. The value of awarded shares reflects the 
performance outcome at the date of their issue to participants. These shares are a nil consideration option but have been classified as an award of shares 
because of their nature. 

2.  The Benchmark profit performance condition for the Experian Co-investment Plan requires Benchmark profit before tax growth to exceed 6% over a 3 year 
period. The period of assessment commences at the beginning of the financial year of grant. This is not a ‘market-based’ performance condition as defined 
by IFRS 2. 

3.  The Benchmark profit performance condition for the Experian Reinvestment Plan and Experian Performance Share Plan requires Benchmark profit before 
tax growth at least to exceed 7% over a 3 year period with the condition fully satisfied if Benchmark profit before tax growth is 14%. The period of assessment 
commences at the beginning of the financial year of grant. This is not a ‘market-based’ performance condition as defined by IFRS 2. The condition is applied to 
half of the awarded shares.

4.  The Experian Performance Share Plan ‘Total Shareholder Return’ is considered a ‘market-based’ performance condition as defined by IFRS 2. It has been 
valued using a Monte Carlo simulation with historic volatilities and correlations for comparator companies measured over the 3 year period preceding 
valuation and an implied volatility for Experian Group Limited. The condition is applied to half of the awarded shares.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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35. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

Former GUS share award plans

The arrangements in respect of former GUS plans which were in place in the period to the date of demerger were as follows:

Arrangements Co-Investment Plan – Matching shares Performance Share Plan

Nature Grant of shares1 Grant of shares

Vesting conditions:

– Service period 4 years 3 years

– Performance Benchmark profit performance of  
Group/Division assessed against  
specified targets

Distribution percentage determined 
by ranking ‘Total Shareholder Return’  
relative to a comparator group2

Expected outcome of meeting 
performance criteria (at grant date)

n/a 60.0% for the June 2005 grant
50.6% for the June 2006 grant

Maximum term 4 years 3 years

Method of settlement Share distribution Share distribution

Expected departures (at grant date) 7% 5%

1.  The matching shares are a nil consideration option but have been classified as an award of shares because of their nature. The grant date is the start of the 
financial year in which performance is assessed. This is before the quantity of the shares award is determined but the underlying value of the award is known 
at the grant date, subject to the outcome of the performance condition. The value of awarded shares reflects the performance outcome at the date of their 
issue to participants. 

2.  This condition is considered a ‘market-based’ performance condition as defined by IFRS 2. The awards were valued using a Monte Carlo simulation with 
historic volatilities and correlations measured over the three year period preceding valuation.  

(ii) Information relating to share grant valuation techniques

The majority of the grants under the Experian share award plans were made on the first day of trading for Experian Group 
Limited shares and trading was particularly volatile on that day. The weighted average share price for that day’s trading  
was used to determine the value of demerger share awards. For the former GUS plans the value of awards is determined  
as the market closing price on the date awarded grants are issued to participants. For the Experian Reinvestment Plan  
and the former GUS Co-Investment Plan, this occurs after the first year of performance is assessed. Where appropriate 
market-based performance conditions are included in the fair value measurement on grant date and are not revised for  
actual performance.

Participants in the share award plans have an entitlement to dividend distributions on awarded shares from the issue date 
until the date of vesting. The market price on the day of valuation is considered inclusive of such future dividend distributions 
and no modifications are made for dividend distributions or other factors.
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35. Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

(iii) Reconciliation of share awards outstanding
    Number of awards
    2008
    m

Awards in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited outstanding at 1 April 2007   24.6
New grants   2.1
Forfeitures   (2.5)
Vesting    (0.5)

Awards in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited outstanding at 31 March 2008   23.7

   Number of awards
    2007
    m

Awards in respect of shares in GUS plc outstanding at 1 April 2006    5.0
New grants   2.8
Vesting    (4.2)

Awards in respect of shares in GUS plc outstanding at demerger   3.6
Less: awards rolled over into Home Retail Group share plans    (0.7)

GUS share awards to Experian participants at demerger   2.9
Conversion to Experian awards at the average roll-over ratio of 1.78    2.3

Experian equivalent roll-over awards   5.2
Awards in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited on or after demerger   19.8
Forfeitures    (0.4)

Awards in respect of shares in Experian Group Limited outstanding at 31 March 2007   24.6

For Experian share award plans there were 2,089,674 (2007: 19,780,729, including an award of 757,747 to a director) shares 
granted in the year, with a weighted average award fair value of £5.67 (2007: £5.20). For former GUS plans there were  
2,814,465 shares granted in the year ended 31 March 2007, with a weighted average award fair value of £6.74.

(c) Modification of GUS awards to Experian participants

(i) Details of modification

Prior to demerger, Experian participants held share incentive grants with entitlement to GUS share distributions. On demerger, 
the majority of outstanding options and awards were rolled over into plans with entitlement to Experian Group Limited 
share distributions. As detailed below, the quantity and exercise price of options and awards were modified to maintain a 
compensation equivalent to that of the original GUS grants. The incremental fair value of the modification, recognised in 
the year ended 31 March 2007, was US$8m which was reported as an exceptional charge. The incremental fair value results 
primarily from an assumption in respect of the higher volatility of the Experian share price.

(ii) Information relating to modified share options and awards

In the year ended 31 March 2007, a total of 16.9m GUS options were rolled over into 30.0m Experian Group Limited options.  
A Black-Scholes model was used to determine the fair value of GUS and Experian Group Limited options for modified grants 
and the weighted average estimated fair values and the inputs into these models were as follows:
   GUS Experian 
   awards awards

Share price on modification date (£)  9.90 5.62
Exercise price (£)  8.08 4.57
Expected volatility  25.6% 27.6%
Expected dividend yield  3.7% 3.7%
Risk-free rate  4.9% 4.9%
Expected option life to exercise  3.5 years 3.5 years

Fair value (£)   2.71 1.64

In the year ended 31 March 2007, awards in respect of 4.9m GUS shares with a weighted average fair value of £8.14 per share 
were rolled over into 8.7m Experian shares with a weighted average fair value of £4.67 per share.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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35. Share-based payment arrangements (continued)
 
(d) Other share awards

During the year ended 31 March 2007, Experian Group Limited issued put options to a small number of employees who 
owned an equity interest in a subsidiary. Under the terms of the associated agreement, these options vested on 31 March 
2008 assuming the employees remained with the Group and they are exercisable from that date onwards. These options are 
accounted for under IFRS 2 as performance conditions are linked to employment with the subsidiary. The options will be 
exercisable at a value based on 20% of the prevailing market value of the subsidiary for which these employees work and this 
value is capped at US$50m. The options will be settled in Experian Group Limited shares and at the time of the agreement the 
expected number of shares was 122,000. The options were purchased for US$0.7m by the employees at fair value as calculated 
by third party valuation specialists based on the revenue forecast model of the subsidiary. No cost will arise over the vesting 
period as the purchase price of the option was its market value.        
      
During the year ended 31 March 2008 107,000 shares with a fair value of US$1m were released in connection with this 
arrangement. At 31 March 2008 the expected number of shares still to be released was 98,000.

(e) Summary of the total cost of share-based compensation
   2008 2007 
   US$m US$m

Share options  15  30
Share awards   51  72

Total expense recognised (all equity settled)  66  102
Cost of associated social security obligations1   10  4

Total expense recognised in Group income statement   76  106

The expense is reported as follows:
Employee cost included in Benchmark PBT  22  34
Charge in respect of demerger-related equity incentive plans (excluded from Benchmark PBT)  43  23
Exceptional item – charge on early vesting and modification of share awards at demerger of  
 Experian and Home Retail Group 2  –  23
Exceptional item – other costs incurred relating to the demerger of Experian and Home Retail Group 1  7
Discontinued operations   –  15

Total expense recognised (all equity settled)  66  102
Costs of associated social security obligations:
Included in Benchmark PBT  4  3
Excluded from Benchmark PBT   6  1

Total expense recognised in Group income statement 3   76  106

1.  The costs of associated social security obligations include the costs of derivatives entered into in connection with such obligations.

2.  The charge for the year ended 31 March 2007 comprised US$15m on the early vesting of certain GUS awards at demerger and, as indicated in note (c) above, a 
charge of US$8m for the incremental fair value of modifications.

3.  The charge for the year ended 31 March 2008 is in respect of continuing operations. The charge for the year ended 31 March 2007 comprised US$91m in respect 
of continuing operations and US$15m in respect of discontinued operations.



130 Experian Annual Report 2008

36. Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments
   2008 2007 
   US$m US$m

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring in:
Less than one year  74  65
Between one and five years  149  150
More than five years   59  64

    282  279

The Group leases offices and technology under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. These leases have varying 
terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

37. Capital commitments
   2008 2007 
   US$m US$m

Capital expenditure for which contracts have been placed:
Property, plant and equipment  4  11
Intangible assets   11  – 

    15  11

38. Contingencies

In North America and Latin America, there are a number of pending and threatened litigation claims involving Experian which are 
being vigorously defended. The directors do not believe that the outcome of any such pending or threatened litigation will have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position. However, as is inherent in legal proceedings, there is a risk of outcomes 
unfavourable to the Group. In the case of unfavourable outcomes the Group would benefit from applicable insurance recoveries.

39. Related parties

The ultimate parent company of the Group is Experian Group Limited which is incorporated in Jersey. The principal 
subsidiary and associate undertakings at 31 March 2008 are shown in note Q to the financial statements of that company.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties of Experian:

Associates
During the year the Group made net sales and recharges, under normal commercial terms and conditions that would be 
available to third parties, to FARES and its associate First Advantage Corporation of US$28m (2007: US$29m). Amounts 
receivable from FARES are shown within note 21. These amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash.  
No guarantees have been given or received in the year in connection with the Group’s trading with these entities.  
No provisions have been made for doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by associates.

Subsidiaries             
Transactions between the ultimate parent company and its subsidiaries, and between subsidiaries, have been eliminated  
on consolidation.

Home Retail Group            
Home Retail Group is no longer a related party of the Group and there has been no charge in the year (2007: US$0.3m) in 
respect of services provided under the terms of the demerger agreement. At 31 March 2007, there was an amount owed by the 
Group to Home Retail Group of US$20m in respect of corporation tax liabilities at demerger and this balance was settled 
during the year ended 31 March 2008. Other transactions with Home Retail Group are made on normal commercial terms and 
conditions available to third parties.     

Key management personnel
Remuneration of key management personnel is disclosed in note 8. Other than remuneration, there were no material 
transactions or balances between the Group and its key management personnel or members of their close families in either 
the current or previous year.

Other related parties            
There were no other material related party transactions. Services are usually negotiated with related parties on a cost-plus 
basis and goods are bought on the basis of the price lists in force with non-related parties.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Experian Group Limited

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Experian Group Limited for the year ended 31 March 2008 which 
comprise the parent company balance sheet, the parent company profit and loss account and the related notes and those 
parts of the report on directors’ remuneration described as being audited.  These parent company financial statements have 
been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.  

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Experian Group Limited for the year ended 31 March 2008.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report, the report on directors’ remuneration and the parent company 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice) are set out in the statement of directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).  This report, including the opinion, has been 
prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Article 110 of the Companies (Jersey) Law 
1991 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to 
any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.  We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the 
directors’ report is consistent with the parent company financial statements. The information given in the directors’ report 
includes that specific information presented in the business review that is cross referred from the directors’ report.  

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records or if we have not received 
all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We read the other information contained in the annual report, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
parent company financial statements. This other information comprises only the Group financial highlights, the directors’ 
report, the chairman’s statement, the business review, the board of directors, the unaudited part of the report on directors’ 
remuneration, the corporate governance statement and the other items as referred to on the contents listing. We consider 
the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the parent 
company financial statements.  Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

We also review whether the report on directors’ remuneration complies with the requirements of the Listing Rules of the 
United Kingdom Financial Services Authority and report to you any non compliance.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the 
parent company financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by 
the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the 
Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary 
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent company financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent company financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion:

the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted  l
Accounting Practice, of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2008 and of the loss for the year then ended;

the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991; and l

the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the parent company financial statements. l

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London, United Kingdom

20 May 2008

Report of the auditors: parent company 
 financial statements
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Parent company profit and loss account
 for the year ended 31 March 2008

    2008 2007
  Notes £m £m

Administrative expenses   (15.7)  (13.0)

Operating loss C (15.7)  (13.0)
Net interest (expense)/income D (0.5)  8.7 
Net foreign exchange gain   1.0  0.1 

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation  (15.2)  (4.2)
Tax on loss on ordinary activities  E – – 

Loss for the financial year  L (15.2)  (4.2)

The comparative figures cover the period from 30 June 2006 to 31 March 2007.   

The Company has no recognised gains and losses other than those included in the profit and loss account, and therefore no 
separate statement of total recognised gains and losses has been presented.   
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Parent company balance sheet
 at 31 March 2008

    2008 2007
  Notes £m £m

Fixed assets
Tangible assets G 1.4  0.2 
Investments in group undertakings  H 3,848.9  1,137.3 

    3,850.3  1,137.5 

Current assets
Debtors – due within one year I 2,058.1 4,834.9 
Cash at bank and in hand   0.2  7.4 

   2,058.3   4,842.3 
Current liabilities
Creditors – amounts due within one year  J (14.0)  (90.1)

Net current liabilities   2,044.3  4,752.2

Net assets   5,894.6  5,889.7 

Capital and reserves    
Called up share capital K 54.7  54.7 
Share premium account K 777.5  773.8 
Profit and loss account  L 5,062.4  5,061.2 

Total equity shareholders’ funds  M 5,894.6  5,889.7 

The financial statements on pages 132 to 141 were approved by the board on 20 May 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

John Peace
Director
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Notes to the parent company financial statements
 for the year ended 31 March 2008

A. Corporate information

Experian Group Limited (the ‘Company’) is incorporated and registered in Jersey as a public company limited by shares. The 
principal legislation under which the Company operates is Jersey Companies Law and regulations made thereunder.

The principal activity of the Company is to act as the ultimate holding company of the Experian Group (the ‘Group’), whose 
principal activity is business services.
 
The shares of the Company are listed on the London Stock Exchange. 

B. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The separate financial statements of the Company are presented in compliance with the requirements for companies whose 
shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange. The comparative figures cover the period from incorporation on 30 June 
2006 to 31 March 2007. The financial statements are presented in Sterling as that is the functional currency of the Company. In 
determining its functional currency the directors have determined the primary economic environment in which the Company 
operates.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention, modified 
by the revaluation of certain financial instruments, and in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (‘UK GAAP’). 

These separately presented Company financial statements comprise the profit and loss account, balance sheet and related 
notes. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption from preparing a cash flow statement under the terms of FRS 1 
‘Cash Flow Statements’. The Company is also exempt under the terms of FRS 8 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ from disclosing 
transactions with other members of the Group. 

The Experian Group Limited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008 contain financial instrument 
disclosures required by IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ and these would also comply with the 
disclosures required by FRS 29  ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’. Accordingly, the Company has taken 
advantage of the exemption in FRS 29 and has not presented separate financial instrument disclosures.

Significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies of the Company are noted below.

Tangible fixed assets
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated life of the asset and the remaining life of the lease.

Leases
Gross rental income receivable and payable in respect of operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the 
periods of the leases.

Investments in group undertakings
Investments in group undertakings are stated at cost less provision considered necessary for any impairment.

Impairment of fixed assets
Where there is an indication of impairment, fixed assets are subject to review for impairment in accordance with FRS 11 
‘Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill’.  Any impairment is recognised in the year in which it occurs.

Debtors and creditors
Debtors are initially recognised at fair value and carried at the lower of cost and recoverable amount.  Where the time value 
of money is material, debtors are carried at amortised cost.  Creditors are initially recognised at fair value and carried at 
amortised cost if the time value of money is material.

Cash
Cash includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments. 

Accounting for derivative financial instruments 
The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts to manage its exposures to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. 
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B. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

The interest differential reflected in forward foreign exchange contracts is taken to interest expense. Forward foreign 
exchange contracts are recognised at fair value, based on forward foreign exchange market rates at the balance sheet date. 
Gains or losses on forward foreign exchange contracts are taken directly to net foreign exchange gains or losses in the profit 
and loss account.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided in respect of timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date and 
is determined using the tax rates that are expected to apply when the timing differences reverse. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised only to the extent that they are expected to be recoverable. 

Own shares
The Experian Group Limited Employee Share Trust, the Experian UK Approved All-Employee Share Plan and the GUS plc 
ESOP Trust are separately administered trusts. Liabilities of these trusts are guaranteed by the Company and the assets 
of the trusts mainly comprise shares in the Company. The assets, liabilities and expenses of the trusts are included in the 
Company’s financial statements as if they were the Company’s own. Such shares held by the trusts are shown as a deduction 
from total equity shareholders’ funds at cost.

Share-based payments
The Group has a number of equity settled, share-based compensation plans. These include options and awards in respect of 
shares in the Company made at or after demerger together with options and awards previously granted in respect of shares 
in GUS plc which were rolled over into options and awards in respect of shares in the Company at demerger. 

The fair value of such options and awards granted to employees of the Company is recognised after taking into account the 
Company’s best estimate of the number of options and awards expected to vest. The Company revises the vesting estimate 
at each balance sheet date and non-market performance conditions are included in the vesting estimates.  Amounts are 
recognised over the vesting period. Fair value is measured at the date of grant using whichever of the Black-Scholes model, 
Monte Carlo model and closing market price is most appropriate to the award. Market based performance conditions are 
included in the fair value measurement on grant date and are not revised for actual performance.

The issuance by the Company of share incentives to employees of its subsidiaries represents additional capital contributions 
and the fair value of such options and awards is therefore recognised as an increase in the Company’s investment in group 
undertakings with a corresponding increase in total equity shareholders’ funds.

C. Operating loss

The operating loss is stated after charging:
   2008 2007
(i) Staff costs  £m £m

Directors’ fees  1.1 0.4 
Wages and salaries   0.4 0.2 

     1.5 0.6

The Company employed an average of two (2007: one) employees during the year. Executive directors of the Company are 
employed by other companies within the Group.

Details of the remuneration of directors are given in the audited part of the report on directors’ remuneration on pages 58 to 63.

   2008 2007
(ii) Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates  £m £m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Group financial statements  0.3  0.3 
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:
Services in respect of the demerger (included in exceptional items)   –  0.6 

     0.3  0.9 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the parent company financial statements were £40,000 (2007: £30,000).

   2008 2007
(iii) Exceptional items  £m £m

Costs incurred relating to the demerger of Home Retail Group and Experian   –  4.6 
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C. Operating loss (continued)

   2008 2007

(iv) Net operating lease rental expense  £m £m

Costs incurred relating to a property lease   0.3  – 

D. Net interest (expense)/income
   2008 2007
   £m £m

Interest income:
External interest income  0.2  0.3 
Interest on amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings  – 8.0 
Unwinding of discount on amount owed by subsidiary undertaking   –  0.7 

    0.2  9.0 

Interest expense:
Interest on amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings  –  (0.3)
Discount on amount owed by subsidiary undertaking   (0.7) –

    (0.7) (0.3)

Net interest (expense)/income   (0.5) 8.7

E. Tax on loss on ordinary activities

(i) Tax charge for the year      
  
There was no tax charge for the year (2007: £nil). The applicable rate of corporation tax in Ireland is 25% for investment  
income (12.5% for trading income). The reconciliation of the tax charge for the year is as follows:
   2008 2007
   £m £m

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation   (15.2)  (4.2)

Loss on ordinary activities before tax multiplied by the applicable rate of  
corporation tax in Ireland of 25% (12.5% for trading income)  (3.8)  (1.1)
Effects of:
Income not taxable  –  (0.1)
Expenses not deductible    0.4  1.2 
Tax losses not utilised    3.4 –

Current tax charge for the year   – – 

(ii) Factors that may affect future tax charges

In the foreseeable future, the Company’s tax charge will continue to be influenced by the nature of its income and expenditure 
in subsequent accounting periods and could be affected by changes in tax law.

(iii) Tax effect of exceptional items

The exceptional items included within the Company’s administrative expenses in the year ended 31 March 2007 were not 
deductible for tax purposes.

F. Dividend

During the year the Company paid interim equity dividends of £30.9m (2007: £20.4m) to ordinary shareholders. The directors 
propose a further dividend of 12 US cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2008. This dividend is not included as 
a liability in the current year financial statements as it was not announced before 31 March 2008. For further details of payment 
arrangements see note 14 in the Experian Group financial statements. Additionally, in the period ended 31 March 2007, there was 
a dividend in specie of £3,497.5m relating to the demerger of Home Retail Group.

Notes to the parent company financial statements continued
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G. Tangible fixed assets – short leasehold properties

Year ended 31 March 2008   £m

Cost    
At 1 April 2007    0.2 
Additions    1.3  

At 31 March 2008    1.5 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2007   –  
Charge for the year   0.1

At 31 March 2008    0.1

 
Net Book Value at 31 March 2007    0.2 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2008    1.4

Period ended 31 March 2007   £m

Cost    
Additions    0.2 

At 31 March 2007    0.2 

Depreciation      
Charge for the period   – 

At 31 March 2007    – 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2007    0.2 

H. Investments in group undertakings
   Long-term
  Shares in loan to
  group subsidiary 
  undertakings undertaking Total
Year ended 31 March 2008 £m £m £m

Cost     
At 1 April 2007 1,137.3  –  1,137.3 
Additions 2,711.6  –  2,711.6 

At 31 March 2008 3,848.9  –  3,848.9 

      
Period ended 31 March 2007    

Cost    
Additions 812.2  2,864.3  3,676.5 
Transfer from subsidiary undertakings  8,675.6  –  8,675.6 
Disposals (6,381.6) –  (6,381.6)
Reclassification of long-term loan to subsidiary undertaking (see below) (1,968.9) (2,864.3) (4,833.2)

At 31 March 2007 1,137.3  –  1,137.3 

     
At 31 March 2007, the total investment in group undertakings included £4,833.2m in respect of an advance to Experian 
Investment Holdings Limited. During the year ended 31 March 2008, the amount of this advance has been reduced by £2,791.2m 
in connection with a Group restructuring and the remaining amount due from this group undertaking has been reclassified 
within debtors due within one year on the grounds that this better represents the substance of the arrangement.  In 
accordance with the requirements of FRS 28 ‘Corresponding Amounts’ the corresponding amount has been adjusted in the 
above table and in note I. The associated unwind of discount which was recognised in the year ended 31 March 2007 has been 
reversed in the profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 2008.
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H. Investments in group undertakings (continued)
      
Additions in the year ended 31 March 2008 comprised the fair value of the share incentives issued to employees of subsidiary 
undertakings during the year of £33.0m and subscriptions of £150.0m for share capital of Experian Ireland Investments Limited 
and £2,528.6m for share capital in Experian Finance Holdings Limited, a company which was newly incorporated during the year.  
            
At 31 March 2008, the investment in group undertakings directly held by the Company comprised the holdings of the whole of 
the issued share capital of the following companies:        
     
  Country of  incorporation Principal activity  

Experian Investment Holdings Ltd England and Wales  Holding company
Experian Group Services Ltd Ireland Administrative services
Experian Ireland Investments Ltd Ireland Finance company
Experian Finance Holdings Limited Ireland Finance company

    
A list of the Company’s other principal subsidiary undertakings, none of which is held directly by the Company, is given at note Q.   
   
I. Debtors – due within one year
   2008 2007
   £m £m

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings  2,055.6  4,833.3 
Taxation recoverable  2.2  1.6 
Other prepayments and accrued income   0.3  – 

    2,058.1  4,834.9 

J. Creditors – amounts due within one year
   2008 2007
   £m £m

Bank overdraft  0.2  0.7 
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings  13.0  88.7 
Accruals and deferred income  0.4  0.3 
Other creditors   0.4  0.4 

    14.0  90.1 

At 31 March 2008, the Company had undrawn committed borrowing facilities of £565m (2007: £1,250m), all of which expire  
more than two years after the balance sheet date.

K. Share capital and share premium
  Number of Share  Share
  shares capital premium 
Year ended 31 March 2008 m £m £m

At 1 April 2007 1,022.3  54.7  773.8 
Allotted under share option schemes 1.1 –  3.7 

At 31 March 2008 1,023.4  54.7  777.5 

Period ended 31 March 2007  

At 30 June 2006 on incorporation – –  – 
Issued on demerger of Home Retail Group 877.4  46.9  8,628.7 
Capital reduction on 6 October 2006 – –  (8,628.7)
Issued by way of Global Offer 142.9  7.7  792.3 
Global Offer issuance costs – –  (22.8)
Allotted under share option schemes 2.0  0.1  4.3 

At 31 March 2007 1,022.3  54.7  773.8 

Authorised and issued share capital
At  31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007 the authorised share capital of the Company was US$200m, divided into 1,999,999,980 
ordinary shares of 10 US cents each and 20 deferred shares of 10 US cents each. The ordinary shares carry the right to dividend, 
the right to attend or vote at general meetings of the Company and the right to participate in the assets of the Company beyond 
repayment of the amounts paid up or credited as paid up on them. The deferred shares carry no such rights.

Notes to the parent company financial statements continued
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K. Share capital and share premium (continued)

At 31 March 2008, 1,023,419,769 (2007: 1,022,281,806) ordinary shares and 20 (2007: 20) deferred shares each had been allotted, called 
up and fully paid. During the year ended 31 March 2008, 1,137,963 ordinary shares were allotted on the exercise of share options. 
Since 31 March 2008, 31,636 ordinary shares in the Company have been issued in connection with the exercise of share options.

On 10 October 2006, the Company issued 877,444,999 ordinary shares in connection with the transfer of GUS plc and its 
subsidiaries to the Company as part of the demerger process at a fair value of £8,675.6m. On 11 October 2006 the Company 
issued a further 142,857,143 ordinary shares of 10 US cents each by way of a Global Offer. A further 1,979,664 ordinary shares 
were allotted between 11 October 2006 and 31 March 2007 on the exercise of share options.

Share premium
Share premium of £3.7m was created in the year ended 31 March 2008 when ordinary shares were allotted under share  
option schemes.

Share premium of £8,628.7m arose in the period ended 31 March 2007, in connection with the issue of 877,444,999 ordinary shares 
as part of the demerger process, and comprised the excess of the fair value of the net assets of £8,675.6m acquired over the 
nominal value of the shares issued of £46.9m.

On 10 October 2006, following the approval of the Jersey Court under Article 63 of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, the 
Company reduced its share capital. This gave rise to a reduction of £8,628.7m in the share premium account and a corresponding 
increase in the profit and loss account reserve.

As a result of the Company issuing 142,857,143 ordinary shares, by way of Global Offer, at a price of £5.60 per share, additional 
share premium of £792.3m was created being the excess of the proceeds of the shares issued over their nominal value. Related 
issue costs of £22.8m were charged against the share premium account. Additional share premium of £4.3m was created in the 
balance of that period when ordinary shares were allotted under share option schemes. 

The share premium account is not available for distribution.    

L. Reserves
    Total profit
   Profit and loss
  Own and loss account
  shares account reserve
Year ended 31 March 2008 £m £m £m

At 1 April 2007 (86.0) 5,147.2 5,061.2
Loss for the financial year – (15.2) (15.2) 
Equity dividends paid during the year – (30.9) (30.9)
Purchase of own shares by employee trusts (3.2) –  (3.2)
Exercise of share options 22.7  (5.2) 17.5
Credit in respect of share incentive schemes – 33.0  33.0

At 31 March 2008 (66.5) 5,128.9  5,062.4 

      
Period ended 31 March 2007

Loss for the financial period –  (4.2) (4.2)
Transfer to profit and loss account on reduction in share capital –  8,628.7  8,628.7 
Equity dividends paid during the year –  (20.4) (20.4)
Dividend in specie relating to the demerger of Home Retail Group – (3,497.5) (3,497.5)
Transfer of own shares at fair value (80.1) 17.0  (63.1)
Purchase of own shares by employee trusts (33.6) –  (33.6)
Exercise of share options 27.7  –  27.7 
Credit in respect of share incentive schemes –  23.6  23.6 

At 31 March 2007 (86.0) 5,147.2  5,061.2 

Own shares represent the cost of shares in the Company held by the following trusts to satisfy the Group’s obligations under 
its share incentive plans:
   2008 2007
   Number of   Number of   
   shares shares

Experian Group Limited Employee Share Trust  11,970,952  13,419,683 
Experian UK Approved All Employee Share Plan  834,965  926,565 
GUS plc ESOP Trust   –  2,340,100 

    12,805,917 16,686,348 
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L. Reserves (continued) 

During the year ended 31 March 2008, a total of 509,518 (2007: 6,670,514) ordinary shares were purchased by the trusts at  
a cost of £3.2m (2007: £33.6m). During the period ended 31 March 2007, a total of 15,090,260 shares were transferred from  
GUS plc to Experian Group Limited on the novation of GUS plc’s interest in the GUS plc ESOP Trust for a fair value of £63.1m. 
Subsequently a number of these shares were transferred into the Experian Group Limited Employee Share Trust. During the 
year ended 31 March 2008, 4,289,949 (2007: 5,564,520) ordinary shares were transferred from the trusts to beneficiaries of the 
Group’s share incentive plans. The GUS plc ESOP Trust ceased to operate during the year with the balance of the shares  
held therein at 31 March 2007 either transferred to beneficiaries of the Group’s share incentive plans or transferred to the 
Experian Group Limited Employee Share Trust during the year ended 31 March 2008.

As indicated in note F, during the year ended 31 March 2008 equity dividends of £30.9m (2007: £20.4m) were paid by the Company 
to those Experian Group Limited shareholders who did not elect to receive dividends under the Income Access Share (‘IAS’) 
arrangements. In total, dividends of £91.4m (2007: £28.5m in the post demerger period) were paid in the year of which £60.5m 
(2007: £8.1m in the post demerger period) were paid by Experian Finance plc under the IAS arrangements. Further details of 
the IAS arrangements are given in note 14 to the Group financial statements.

M. Reconciliation of movements in total equity shareholders’ funds
   2008 2007
   £m £m

Loss for the financial year  (15.2)  (4.2)
Equity dividends paid during the financial year  (30.9)  (20.4)
Dividend in specie relating to the demerger of Home Retail Group  –  (3,497.5)
Transfer of own shares at fair value  –  (63.1)
Purchase of own shares by employee trusts  (3.2)  (33.6)
Share issues on demerger of Home Retail Group  –  8,675.6 
Share issues by way of Global Offer  –  777.2 
Exercise of share options  21.2  32.1 
Credit in respect of share incentive schemes   33.0  23.6 

Net increase in total equity shareholders’ funds  4.9  5,889.7 
Opening total equity shareholders’ funds   5,889.7  – 

Closing total equity shareholders’ funds   5,894.6  5,889.7 

N. Commitments

(i) Capital commitments

There are no significant capital commitments relating to the Company. 

(ii) Operating lease commitments

The Company has an annual commitment of £0.3m (2007: £0.3m) in respect of a property lease and this commitment expires  
in more than five years.

O. Contingencies

At 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007, the Company was the guarantor for the retirement benefit obligations of the Group 
companies that participate in the Experian Pension Scheme. 

Notes to the parent company financial statements continued
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P. Share options and awards

Details of options and awards in respect of the ordinary shares of the Company which are outstanding at the balance 
sheet date are given in note 35 to the Group financial statements together with a summary of the total cost of share-based 
compensation in respect of such schemes. These include options and awards outstanding and the cost of share-based 
compensation in respect of employees of the Company but these are not separately disclosed within the Company’s financial 
statements as the amounts involved are not material. Details of options and awards granted to directors of the Company are 
contained in the report on directors’ remuneration on pages 59 to 61. 

Q. Principal subsidiary and associate undertakings

The principal subsidiary and associate undertakings at 31 March 2008, all of which are included in the Group financial 
statements, are listed below. 
     
   Percentage 
  Country of  of ordinary 
   incorporation shares held

Experian Finance plc (formerly GUS plc)  England and Wales 100%
Experian Holdings Limited England and Wales 100%
Experian Limited England and Wales 100%
Experian Integrated Marketing Limited (formerly ClarityBlue Limited) England and Wales 100%
QAS Limited England and Wales 100%
Hitwise Pty Ltd Australia 100%
Serasa SA Brazil 70%
Experian A/S  Denmark 100%
Experian Holdings France S.A. France 100%
CreditInform AS  Norway 100%
Experian North America, Inc. USA 100%
ConsumerInfo.com Inc. USA 100%
PriceGrabber.com, Inc. USA 100%
LowerMyBills, Inc. USA 100%
Experian Information Solutions Inc. USA 100%
Experian Services Corporation USA 100%
Experian Marketing Solutions Inc. USA 100%

Associate
First American Real Estate Solutions LLC USA 20%

None of the above undertakings is directly held by Experian Group Limited.
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Shareholder information

Ordinary shareholders
There were 43,178 holders of ordinary shares at 31 March 2008 and their holdings can be analysed as follows:
    Percentage  
   Number of of total number Number of Percentage of
   shareholders of shareholders ordinary shares ordinary shares

Over 1,000,000  134  0.3 827,645,745 80.8
100,001 –  1,000,000  332  0.8 112,911,608 11.0
10,001 –  100,000  1,016  2.4 29,345,514 2.9
5,001 –  10,000  1,457  3.4 9,934,106 1.0
2,001 –  5,000  6,009  13.9 18,321,420 1.8
1  –  2,000  34,230  79.2 25,261,376 2.5

     43,178  100.0 1,023,419,769 100.0

      
Shareholders are further analysed as follows:
    Percentage  
   Number of of total number Number of Percentage of
   shareholders of shareholders ordinary shares ordinary shares

Corporates   9,617 22.3 971,049,904 94.9
Individuals  33,561 77.7 52,369,865 5.1

   43,178 100.0 1,023,419,769 100.0

      
Corporate website
A full range of investor information is available at www.experiangroup.com. The 2008 annual general meeting (‘AGM’) will be 
held at the Four Seasons Hotel, Simmonscourt Road, Dublin 4, Ireland at 9.30am on Wednesday, 16 July 2008; further details 
are contained in the notice of meeting and on the website.

Electronic shareholder communication
Shareholders may register for Shareview, an electronic communication service provided by Equiniti Limited on behalf of the 
Company’s Registrars, Equiniti (Jersey) Limited. Registration is via the Company’s website, www.experiangroup.com, or 
direct via www.experianshareview.com.

The service enables shareholders to access a comprehensive range of shareholder services online, including dividend payment 
information, the ability to check shareholdings, amend address or bank details and submit AGM proxy voting instructions.

When registering for Shareview, shareholders can select their preferred communication method – post or email.  
All shareholders will receive a written notification of the availability on the Company’s website of shareholder documents, 
such as the annual report unless they have elected to either (i) receive such notification via email or (ii) receive paper 
copies of shareholder documents where such documents are available in that format.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan (‘DRIP’) 
The DRIP enables shareholders to use their cash dividends to purchase Experian shares. Shareholders who wish to 
participate in the DRIP for the first time, in respect of the second interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 to be 
paid on 25 July 2008, should return a completed and signed DRIP mandate form to be received by the Registrars, by no later 
than 27 June 2008. For further details please contact the Company’s Registrars.
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Capital Gains Tax (‘CGT’) base cost for UK shareholders 
On 10 October 2006, GUS plc separated its Experian business from its Home Retail Group business by way of demerger. 
Following the demerger, GUS shareholders at 4.30pm on Friday, 6 October 2006 were entitled to receive one share in Experian 
Group Limited and one share in Home Retail Group plc for every share they held in GUS plc at that time.

The previous base cost of any GUS plc shares held at 4.30pm on 6 October 2006 is apportioned for UK CGT purposes in 
the following ratio: 58.235% to Experian Group Limited shares and 41.765% to Home Retail Group plc shares (based on the 
closing prices of the respective shares on their first day of trading after their admission to the Official List of the London 
Stock Exchange on 11 October 2006).

For GUS plc shares acquired prior to the demerger of Burberry on 13 December 2005 which are affected by both the Burberry 
demerger and the subsequent separation of Experian and Home Retail Group, the original CGT base cost is apportioned 
50.604% to Experian Group Limited shares, 36.293% to Home Retail Group plc shares and 13.103% to Burberry Group plc shares. 

Shareholder security
Shareholders are advised to be wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares at a discount, or offers of free reports 
about the Company. More detailed information can be found by visiting www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk. Details of any share 
dealing facilities that the Company endorses will be included in Company mailings or on the Corporate website. 

The Unclaimed Assets Register
Experian owns and participates in The Unclaimed Assets Register, which provides a search facility for shareholdings and 
other financial assets that may have been forgotten. For further information, please contact The Unclaimed Assets Register, 
6th Floor, Cardinal Place, 80 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 5JL (T: + 44 (0) 870 241 1713), or visit www.uar.co.uk.

American Depositary Receipts (‘ADR’)
Experian has a sponsored Level 1 ADR programme, for which The Bank of New York Mellon acts as Depositary. The Level 1 
ADR programme is not listed on a stock exchange in the USA and trades in the over-the-counter market under the symbol 
EXPGY. Each ADR represents one Experian Group Limited ordinary share. For further information please contact:

Shareholder Relations
The Bank of New York Mellon
PO Box 11248
Church Street Station
New York
NY 10286 – 1258
United States

T: + 1 610 382 7836 (from the USA: 1-888-BNY-ADRS)
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Financial calendar 

Second interim dividend record date 27 June 2008 

Interim management statement – First quarter  10 July 2008 

Annual general meeting* 16 July 2008 

Second interim dividend to be paid 25 July 2008 

First half trading update 15 October 2008 

Half-yearly financial report 19 November 2008 

Interim management statement – Third quarter January 2009 

Preliminary announcement of results May 2009 

* to be held at the Four Seasons Hotel, Simmonscourt Road, Dublin 4, Ireland at 9.30am on Wednesday, 16 July 2008.  

Contacts
Corporate headquarters: 
  
Newenham House
Northern Cross
Malahide Road
Dublin 17
Ireland

T: + 353 (0) 1 846 9100
F: + 353 (0) 1 846 9150  
  
Registered office:

22 Grenville Street
St Helier
Jersey JE4 8PX

Registered no. 93905

Registrars:

Experian Shareholder Services
Equiniti (Jersey) Limited
PO Box 63
11-12 Esplanade
St Helier
Jersey JE4 8PH 

T: + 44 (0) 121 415 7586 (or 0845 601 0810 from the UK)  

Text phone facility: + 44 (0) 121 415 7028  (or 0871 384 2255 from the UK)

Shareholder information continued



Through its data resources and analytical 
capabilities, Experian provides one of the  
building blocks for growth in consumer  
economies around the world.  

Credit management and targeted marketing  
are at the heart of what Experian does.

Its Credit Services and Decision Analytics 
businesses help organisations and  
consumers to fulfil their ambitions through  
access to affordable credit.

Its Marketing Services and Interactive 
businesses help organisations to grow 
successfully by reaching new markets and 
finding and keeping profitable customers. 

Experian’s vision is that its people, data  
and technology become a necessary part  
of every major consumer economy. 

This annual report has been produced using ISO 14001 and FSC certified environmental print 
technology, together with vegetable-based inks and a single-site production facility that required no 
transport between processes. The report is printed on an environmentally responsible paper that uses 
50% certified de-inked post consumer waste and 50% certified virgin fibre from sustainable sources.

Experian is also working with the CarbonNeutral Company to assess, reduce and offset the greenhouse 
gas emissions created by this report’s production and distribution. A total of 25.5 tonnes of CO2 will 
be balanced through the purchase of Carbon Credits in the Sebenoba-Karakurt wind power project in 
Turkey. The project aims to reduce Turkey’s reliance on fossil fuels and is verified and certified to the 
Voluntary Carbon Standard. 
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